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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: We're going to

          3  start, sorry for the delay.

          4                 So, good afternoon.  I'm Kathryn

          5  Freed.  I'm the Chairperson of the Committee on

          6  Contracts, and I would like to begin by recognizing

          7  my colleagues who are present here today.  To my

          8  left is Council Member Eva Moskowitz from Manhattan,

          9  and the prime sponsor of the bill, Gifford Miller.

         10  Who else is here? Okay, and my Counsel, Andrew

         11  Neuman, and Regina Ferida.

         12                 Okay, today the Council is holding a

         13  hearing on Intro. 784, which is a local law to amend

         14  the Administrative Code of the City of New York in

         15  relation to City contracts involving the purchase of

         16  wood products and materials.  Regrettably, the

         17  practice of deforestation continues worldwide and

         18  poorly managed logging operations degrade and

         19  destroy forests.  Some of which are such ecological

         20  significance that they should never be subject to

         21  commercial logging.

         22                 The City utilizes a large amount of

         23  wood products from boardwalks, park benches, bike

         24  ways and other large scale construction projects.

         25  The Department of Transportation, according to a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  recent report, uses $200,000 worth of lumber each

          3  year for dock building and pier repairs alone.  In

          4  total it is estimated that the City spends tens of

          5  millions of dollars for wood products. According to

          6  the Sierra Club, in several cases the wood comes

          7  from Rainforests located in Brazil, Guyana, Ceram

          8  and the Great Bear RainForest in British Columbia.

          9                 Purchase of wood products that come

         10  from the world's most environmentally sensitive

         11  forests is irresponsible and such procurements by

         12  the City should be stopped.  Accordingly, the City

         13  of New York using its powers, a market participant,

         14  should engage in a policy to support ecological

         15  forestry practices by dealing with vendors who

         16  obtain certification that the wood purchased by the

         17  City originates from forests which are responsibly

         18  managed.

         19                 In an effort to ensure that wood

         20  products are coming from responsibly managed

         21  forests, industry leaders, such as Home Depot,

         22  Loew's, Johnson and Johnson, and the 3M Corporation

         23  are now requiring that the wood products that they

         24  purchase and sell to the public be certified.  This

         25  method of certification requires that the wood
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          2  products bear a seal of approval by an independent

          3  Forest Certifier to ensure that its point of origin

          4  comes from a responsibly managed forest.

          5                 Recognizing the role that forests

          6  play in the global environment, the New York State

          7  Finance Law requires purchasing restrictions by both

          8  the State and local governments in relation to the

          9  procurement of tropical hardwoods and tropical

         10  hardwood products.

         11                 Intro. 784 now seeks to improve

         12  forest management and conservation by using an

         13  independent third party for a certification

         14  procedure with a separate chain- of- custody

         15  certification linking forest products to their

         16  forest of origin. This procedure will enable the

         17  City to know whether its procurement of wood

         18  products is originating from responsibly managed

         19  forests.

         20                 Before we hear testimony, let me

         21  remind you that it is the practice of the Committee

         22  to swear in all witnesses.  And before I call our

         23  first panel of witnesses, I want turn the mic over

         24  to Council Member Gifford Miller to make a

         25  statement.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Thank you,

          3  thank you, Madam Chair.  I want to thank you for

          4  your leadership, and Council's Speaker Peter Vallone

          5  for his leadership on this subject.

          6                 You know I first started working on

          7  this issue about four years ago when I was shocked

          8  to discover that the park benches that we use in our

          9  parks, at that time all the park benches pretty

         10  much, and many still, the park benches that we sit

         11  on, that our children play on, were built with wood

         12  that had been clear- cut from Rainforests across the

         13  world.  And, you know, to me that was just, it was

         14  shocking.  And as I learn more about this issue, I

         15  guess, I should have been shocked, but not

         16  surprised, because this is a very common practice

         17  that is happening all over the world.

         18                 Sadly, every hour another species

         19  becomes extinct, each day we lose a Rainforest that

         20  is larger than that of the whole five boroughs of

         21  New York City, in fact, every second there is two

         22  and one- half acres of Rainforests, that is an

         23  astonishing thought, just as I have been speaking

         24  here, we lost another like 20 seconds and it may

         25  seem to you as though it was 40.  But I, so I felt
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          2  horrible about it and I started to talk to my other

          3  colleagues, and I think the Council is exactly in

          4  the right place.  And the encouraging thing is that

          5  they did not do it in pursuing this legislation, the

          6  Council is not alone, although we would be leading

          7  the way governmentally, consumers and businesses are

          8  following our practices already, as the Chair noted,

          9  3M, Home Depot, Loew's Corporation, and many others

         10  are already instituting this practice.

         11                 And quite simply what this says, is

         12  that we as consumers don't want to participate in

         13  the destruction of our world, essentially.  As a

         14  private consumer, I recently redid my floors and I

         15  used Forest Stewardship Council certified wood,

         16  because I did not want to help in the process of

         17  destroying our habitat.  And it simply only makes

         18  sense to buy those products which are grown is a

         19  sustainable fashion.  It helps ensure that we're

         20  going to have wood products for many, many years to

         21  come, and the right kind of wood products and

         22  supports the nations which are currently being

         23  exploited by timber companies who just come in,

         24  clear cut and then leave and there is nothing left

         25  for the people of those nations.
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          2                 So this is an excellent piece of

          3  legislation, I'm pleased that the Speaker is the

          4  prime sponsored, pleased that the Chair is such a

          5  strong supporter, and I'm pleased that we're having

          6  this hearing.

          7                 I do want to note that there has been

          8  some concerns that have been raised regarding

          9  whether or not this legislation would create a

         10  preference for using materials other than certified

         11  wood, like plastic, lumber, or recycled materials.

         12  Certainly, to the extent that, you know, I think

         13  those types of materials are worthy materials which

         14  the City should be using where appropriate, but,

         15  however, I'm not sure that this bill actually as it

         16  is currently written does create a preference as a

         17  matter of law over it, but we're certainly willing

         18  to work to redraft the legislation to ensure that

         19  FSC- certified lumber is an environmentally

         20  preferable material, because the point is we should

         21  be using and want to be encouraging the preservation

         22  of these habitats in ways that are sustainable, and

         23  if they're sustainable, that is good.

         24                 At the same time, we also want to be

         25  supporting local recycled markets, et cetera, so I'm
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          2  certainly willing to work with the Speaker's Office

          3  to make sure that FSC Timber is treated and at the

          4  same level as environmentally preferable building

          5  materials, or as an environmentally preferable

          6  building material and ensure that, you know, the

          7  main purpose of this bill is what it is that, you

          8  know, when we go to buy wood we should be buying

          9  wood that is sustainable and we should be helping to

         10  create a market for sustainable wood, sustainably

         11  ground wood.

         12                 So, obviously, this bill will have to

         13  be redrafted, but that is the reason why we're

         14  having this hearing, is to listen to issues that get

         15  raised, and I look forward to working with the Chair

         16  and with the Speaker's Office and with my colleagues

         17  here on the Council to ensure that the ultimate goal

         18  of using the City's powers as a consumer to ensure

         19  the preservation of our habitats and our tropical

         20  and temperate forests is realized.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, thank you

         23  very much, and again, I want to thank you for

         24  bringing this bill to us, and I want to thank the

         25  Speaker for his support.
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          2                 And now, the first witness will be

          3  the Mayor's Office on Contracts.  And as I pointed

          4  out before, I do swear in our witnesses.  So if you

          5  would both raise your right hands?

          6                 Do you swear to tell the truth, the

          7  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

          8                 ALL:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  If you would

         10  state your names, for the record, and then, please,

         11  proceed?

         12                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Jeffrey Weisnstein,

         13  Deputy Director of the Mayor's Office of Contracts.

         14                 Good afternoon, my name is Jeffrey

         15  Weinstein, Deputy Director of the Mayor's Office of

         16  Contracts.  Accompanying me is Sandy Singer, our

         17  Office's General Counsel.  Thank you for the

         18  opportunity to testify on Intro. 784.

         19                 Intro. 784 prohibits with certain

         20  exceptions the purchase of all wood products unless

         21  the wood originates from a forest that is certified

         22  by an independent organization that has conducted an

         23  assessment of that forest management practices and

         24  environmental performance.  In addition, Intro. 784

         25  requires for the purchases of all wood products a
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          2  separate chain- of- custody certification verifying

          3  that the wood product is derived from a certified

          4  forest of origin, and where applicable, a

          5  certification for all reclaimed wood products.

          6                 This bill is intended to promote

          7  laudable goals, such as recognizing the key role

          8  forests play in the global environment, reducing

          9  deforestation and improving forest management and

         10  conservation.  The Administration agrees with these

         11  goals. However, the Administration has a number of

         12  concerns about the means by which this bill proposes

         13  to achieve these goals.

         14                 As you know, there is already a State

         15  Law on this subject, State Finance Law, Section 165,

         16  which prohibits also with certain exceptions the

         17  purchase of tropical hardwoods and tropical hardwood

         18  products.  The City's compliance with the State Law

         19  has been an effective means of meeting the goals of

         20  the Council's proposed legislation.  City agencies

         21  now use tropical hardwoods or tropical hardwood

         22  products only where permitted by State Law, such

         23  where there is no acceptable non- tropical hardwood.

         24    We understand that the current share of the City's

         25  procurement dollars spent directly on tropical wood
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          2  products is relatively low.  We anticipate that even

          3  in the absence of this additional legislation, these

          4  purchases will decline further as City agencies

          5  continue to seek out and utilize acceptable

          6  alternatives to the use of tropical wood products.

          7                 Let me give you some examples.  The

          8  Department of Parks and Recreation has significantly

          9  reduced its use of tropical hardwood over the last

         10  10 years.  Parks has also experimented extensively

         11  with the use of plastic recycled lumber.  While

         12  Parks found that plastic recycled lumber was simply

         13  not strong enough for boardwalks because it could

         14  not support the weight of emergency vehicles, Parks

         15  did find it adequate for bench slats, as well as for

         16  decking on boardwalk ramps and stairs.  Parks has

         17  also implemented other initiatives which fulfill the

         18  bill's goals.

         19                 The Department of Environmental

         20  Protection formerly used Green Hart, a tropical wood

         21  in its tied gates, which are located throughout the

         22  City.  In 1997, DEP stopped using Green Hart Wood,

         23  in it's place DEP now uses stainless steel for its

         24  tied gates.

         25                 I now would like to describe some of
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          2  the concerns that we have with the bill as presently

          3  structured.  While Intro. 784 provides for

          4  exceptions where wood products may be purchased

          5  without the required certifications, these

          6  exceptions make no mention of price.  This is a

          7  significant distinction from State Finance Law,

          8  Section 165, which allows for an exception with a

          9  purchase of the tropical hardwood or tropical

         10  hardwood product results in a substantial cost

         11  increase.  If the proposed bill is passed, the City

         12  will lose its ability to consider price and exercise

         13  judgement if the wood product is just too expensive.

         14    In other words, the City will have to purchase

         15  wood products from a vendor that meets the

         16  certification requirements of the bill, even where

         17  the price the vendor offers is significantly higher

         18  than that offered by a vendor whose wood products

         19  are not certified.  Not only is this questionable

         20  policy in economics, but there are some serious

         21  concerns that this may violate New York State

         22  General Municipal Law.  Specifically there are

         23  concerns that this may violate Section 103 of the

         24  General Municipal Law, the provision that governs

         25  competitive bidding and letting of contracts and
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          2  requires awards to be made to the lowest responsive

          3  and responsible bidder.

          4                 Intro. 784 is all encompassing in its

          5  application to the City's purchase of any and all

          6  products made out of wood, any wood.  This goes well

          7  beyond existing State statute which just governs

          8  tropical hardwoods, that is, Intro. 784 applies to

          9  not only tropical wood products, but to all wood

         10  products.  It also apparently applies to any

         11  contract that requires the use of a wood product.

         12  As a result, Intro. 784 would not only apply to

         13  contracts for the direct purchase of tropical wood

         14  products, but to contracts for the direct purchase

         15  of any wood product, as well as those thousands of

         16  contracts that only include the incidental use of

         17  any wood product.

         18                 Let me give you some examples of the

         19  bill's implications because it is so broadly worded.

         20    If the City purchases the service of a not- for-

         21  profit organization to provide after- school

         22  programs to students, then the desks, pencils and

         23  even the paper supplied by the organization and used

         24  by the students would be affected.  The Department

         25  for the Aging contracts to renovate the facilities
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          2  of a senior center, than everything from the

          3  scaffolding on the exterior of the building to the

          4  cabinets and the front door would be effected.  Even

          5  Council- funded initiatives for such projects as the

          6  enlargement of the art storage facility of the

          7  Metropolitan Museum of Art or the Randall's Island

          8  Sport Foundation's reconstruction of the

          9  southwestern shoreline would be effected.  It also

         10  means that every subcontractor and supplier

         11  throughout the entire supply chain that participates

         12  in a City contract would be bound by the

         13  requirements of this bill.  This is over reaching

         14  and potentially counterproductive.

         15                 Furthermore, the bill's chain- of-

         16  custody certification provision requires that the

         17  wood product be monitored from the forest through

         18  the entire manufacturing process, an expensive and

         19  time consuming process that may not be readily

         20  achievable, particularly by forest developing

         21  nations.  Assuming chain- of- custody certifies are

         22  available, and it is not clear that they are, many

         23  exporting countries and exporters, in particular,

         24  may find the certification fees is prohibitively

         25  expensive.
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          2                 It is unclear from the bill what is

          3  meant by the term responsibly managed forest.  The

          4  bill does not set forth any standards to determine

          5  what a responsibly managed forest is.  Such

          6  standards are critical to determine fairly and

          7  consistently whether a vendor can compete for City

          8  business.  By not establishing such standards in

          9  advance, we would be setting the stage for

         10  potentially arbitrary and compricious

         11  determinations.  This is a particular concern

         12  because under the proposed bill this determination

         13  is, with certain exceptions, an absolute

         14  qualification requirement, if it is not met a vendor

         15  cannot receive the contract award under any

         16  circumstances.

         17                 Aside from the additional cost

         18  associated with the certification requirements, the

         19  length of time that it would take to comply properly

         20  will likely cause significant delays.  Through Parks

         21  and other agencies efforts to comply with State

         22  Finance Law, Section 165, we have learned that

         23  allowed tropical hardwood must be ordered earlier

         24  because of its scarcity.  Even when ordered in

         25  advance, it is often not available in the quantity
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          2  and dimensions the City requires.

          3                 Throughout this Administration we

          4  have worked to eliminate unnecessary paperwork and

          5  procedures associated with the procurement process,

          6  in order to minimize bureaucratic burdens on both

          7  vendors and City agencies.  This bill will roll back

          8  this progress by creating a complex, bureaucratic

          9  superstructure for virtually every City contract.

         10  The requirements of Intro. 784 coupled with the

         11  City's other voluminous procurement requirements

         12  will further discourage vendors from doing business

         13  with the City. This inevitably shrinks competition,

         14  drives up prices, and drives down quality.  From the

         15  vendors perspective, there is less incentive to do

         16  business with the City when other jurisdictions in

         17  the private sector do not have such onerous

         18  requirements in place.

         19                 As written, this bill will have

         20  significant consequences, some of which may be

         21  unintended.  The principal focus ought to be to

         22  continue to curb the consumption of tropical

         23  hardwood products.  These efforts will be deluded by

         24  implementing a system that treats all wood products

         25  the same, whether they're at risk or not, and
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          2  notwithstanding the degree to which their use may

          3  adversely impact the environment.  This bill applies

          4  a cumbersome process to 100 percent of the City's

          5  wood supply, wood product supply to deal with an

          6  issue that actually should affect only a fraction of

          7  that supply.  Such an approach will result in highly

          8  unleveraged and insufficient use of City resources.

          9                 In summary, aside from its potential

         10  violation of the New York State General Municipal

         11  Law, the passage of this bill will likely increase

         12  costs, delay projects and burden the procurement

         13  system that is greatly in need of streamlining, not

         14  additional procedural requisites.  The City's

         15  current efforts to comply with State Finance Law,

         16  Section 165, have been an effective means of meeting

         17  the goals intended to be achieved by this bill.

         18  Agencies are already sensitive to the environmental

         19  concerns raised by this bill, and additional

         20  legislation is not needed to heighten their

         21  awareness or encourage them to continue to seek

         22  acceptable alternatives.  In fact, it may have the

         23  opposite effect by deluding and diverting already

         24  scarce resources.

         25                 Nevertheless, we're ready to work
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          2  with the Council to craft a workable and common

          3  sense solution.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  All right, thank

          6  you.  Just a couple of quick questions.  Do we know

          7  how much or approximately how much the City spends

          8  on wood products a year?

          9                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  No, we don't.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Is it possible to

         11  obtain that information?

         12                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  If you could, I

         13  guess, it would be helpful if you could clarify how

         14  deep and broad you would want us to define wood

         15  products?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Well, I guess

         17  when we specifically purchase the wood products?

         18                 MR. WEINSTEIN: Direct purchases by

         19  the City?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Is what?

         21                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  For example, direct

         22  purchases of wood by the City?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Right.

         24                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  That is something we

         25  could work on for you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Yes, because it

          3  would be interesting, I mean, to actually track and

          4  see exactly how much we're talking about.

          5                 Let me just ask a couple of quick

          6  questions, and I'm sure Council Members Miller has a

          7  few questions.  In construction projects, for

          8  instance, what, if any, assurances does the City

          9  request from contractors whom it does business with

         10  to ensure that the wood products are being used for

         11  a City, you know, are being used are not from an

         12  endangered forest?

         13                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  At this point the

         14  City has to comply with the State Finance Law, and

         15  to the best of our knowledge we are clearly

         16  complying with the requirements of that law, which

         17  set fairly stringent requirements particularly for

         18  construction as distinct from other types of wood

         19  purchases.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Do you know

         21  exactly what efforts we make?

         22                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  I could not, a cannot

         23  give you any specifics today, other than we're

         24  advised that we are in compliance.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  And do you have
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          2  any, since you think that, you testified that you

          3  feel the certification process would be unduly

          4  burdensome, do you have any idea of what additional

          5  costs the City might incur in meeting that?

          6                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Just some anecdotal

          7  information from the Parks Department to the extent

          8  that they have been utilizing that type of process

          9  for some of their wood purchases.  They have

         10  experienced, on average, a 25 to 30 percent

         11  increase, but those are anecdotal.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Yes, that sounds

         13  high.

         14                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  I don't know if it's

         15  high or low, but it's anecdotal, and I don't know if

         16  it is, you know, dispositive, you know, or

         17  indicative of what we might pay if we were to apply

         18  this across the board.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, do we know

         20  which agencies generally by the most wood products?

         21                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Off- hand I could not

         22  say for sure. I mean, again, it depends on how we

         23  what to define it, if we're defining direct

         24  purchases of wood, or if we're talking about

         25  incidental use of wood, and the latter would
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          2  probably affect all of the City agencies.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, I mean, it

          4  is kind of hard to, it seems to me that it would

          5  even be hard for you to figure out how much it would

          6  cost or where we get the wood, because it sounds

          7  like, I mean, how do we actually track it, do we

          8  actually track the amount of wood that we got

          9  anywhere or that we use?  Since we have to comply,

         10  since you're saying we already comply with the

         11  State, do we track it at all?

         12                 MR. WEINSTEIN: I don't know that, I

         13  mean, tracking in the sense of, you know, to ensure

         14  that the agencies are actually living up to the

         15  requirements of State Law?  I mean, the way, the

         16  first step in doing that is to incorporate by

         17  reference, you know, that statute, like we do all

         18  governing statutes in our contractual agreements.

         19                 You know, I could not, you know,

         20  don't know that there has been any particular audit,

         21  for example, to follow- up with compliance of that

         22  law.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Yes, I just want

         24  to try to finish up this thought, because it does

         25  seems like the Parks Department tracks things.  That
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          2  is why I'm trying to find out exactly if there is

          3  any acceptable method that we use, do the other

          4  agencies follow what the Parks Department does,

          5  because the Parks Department seems to be fairly good

          6  about, you know, about tracking where the wood comes

          7  from?

          8                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Well all of the

          9  agencies have virtually the same requirements with

         10  respect to tropical hardwood and hardwood products.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, I guess

         12  what I'm talking about is making an effort not to

         13  use these hardwoods.

         14                 All right, you can go ahead.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Are you aware

         16  that the New York State Finance Law specifically

         17  exempts a series of particular species of Rainforest

         18  hardwoods, without actually, in particularly, any,

         19  you know, there is not really, that we're aware of

         20  any particular environmental reason for it, it just

         21  exempts certain species of hardwoods from the law,

         22  are you aware of that?

         23                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Okay, because

         25  I see, and also, let me just first ask this
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          2  question, how much of a nightmare has it been

          3  complying with the State Law with regard to

          4  hardwoods purchasing?

          5                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  I don't know that it

          6  has been a, you know, I don't know if I would

          7  characterize in any way as a nightmare.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Right.  So it

          9  has not been so much of a problem?

         10                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Although the State

         11  Law is structured in a very, very different than the

         12  proposed City legislation.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Right.

         14                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  In terms of the, both

         15  the breath and depth of its applicability, you know,

         16  the bill before us right now is extraordinarily

         17  wide.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Well the

         19  State Law is pretty wide too, it is says that there

         20  is a huge number of woods that you cannot use, and

         21  then there are a large number of woods that you can

         22  use, right?

         23                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  All within, you know,

         24  within a specific sector of the wood supply that is

         25  tropical wood products, as opposed to every single
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          2  product and derivative of wood.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Right.

          4                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Every wood product,

          5  and, you know, there are a couple of other very,

          6  very significant distinctions between the State

          7  Legislation and the proposed City bill.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Yes.

          9                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  First and foremost is

         10  how price is considered.  The State bill provides

         11  for an exception for price, there is no such

         12  exception in the City bill, which is also the basic

         13  reason why the proposed City bill as presently

         14  structured may be violative of State Municipal Law,

         15  the General Municipal Law.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Well, let me,

         17  first of all, allay your concerns on some of your

         18  testimony.  I don't whether you, and I'm sure you

         19  did, in the proposed Law, Section C- 3, there is a

         20  specific exception for a contracting agency that

         21  says the requirements are Subsection C, which

         22  requires some of the purchase of recertified wood do

         23  not apply where the contracting agency finds that no

         24  person or entity doing business with the City is

         25  capable of providing acceptable wood products
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          2  sufficient to meet the particular contract

          3  requirements.  So you're certainly much more expert

          4  at this than I, how would, since that, to me, what

          5  that means is if you cannot get it, you do not have

          6  to buy it.  But you in your testimony state that,

          7  you know, for example your discussion about the

          8  difficulty, we have to order tropical hardwood

          9  earlier because of its scarcity and it is not

         10  available in the quantity and dimensions the City

         11  requires, how does that, if the contracting industry

         12  has certain specifications, and they cannot, you put

         13  out a bid, if nobody responds and says we have

         14  forest certified wood, than you can purchase non-

         15  forest certified wood, right?

         16                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  That is correct.  The

         17  point we're making is that if it is available, and

         18  that exception clause does not apply, than you

         19  cannot take price into account.  You can under the

         20  State Law, and that is a factor that is done, you

         21  know, like it is something that you consider every

         22  day in making any procurement decision.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Sure.

         24                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  And we would be

         25  prohibited from taking price into account as the
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          2  bill is now written, and that prohibition is what

          3  has led us to conclude that this bill may be

          4  inconsistent with General Municipal Law.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Okay, just as

          6  a matter of, you know, I mean, I actually, you know,

          7  I think it is quite clear actually that contracting

          8  agencies have the ability to define what a

          9  reasonable, what the specifics of their bid and what

         10  a responsible bidder is.  I mean, if you cannot

         11  choose what you mean by a responsible bidder, than

         12  you're in some trouble, so we may differ on that.

         13  And certainly we differ on the issue of the

         14  preemption matter where, you know, quite clearly 103

         15  sets out some, sets out the boundaries, but I think

         16  it is a real stretch to imagine that local municipal

         17  governments and others are not able to be more

         18  active in seeking the same goals as 103 purports to

         19  achieve.

         20                 Kathryn, do you have other questions?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  I think Council

         22  Member Moskowitz does.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Thank you,

         24  Madam Chair. I wanted to follow- up on some of the

         25  points that you made, and as I see it, they fall
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          2  into a couple of different categories.  The point

          3  about this Law may be in violation of State Law, I'm

          4  going to leave that to the legal experts.

          5                 But your second point seems to be

          6  that this legislation is all encompassing and that

          7  seems to you a bad thing, and you sort of buttress

          8  that argument by talking about it being an onerous

          9  requirement.  And I guess without wanting to sound

         10  too philosophical, it seems to me that is the point

         11  of it.  The point is to achieve a social goal, which

         12  is to maintain the Rainforest, we are imposing,

         13  self- imposing an onerous requirement, and we

         14  understand that that may effect price, but because

         15  we are trying to achieve a social goal, it is worth

         16  it to us.  So that argument does not ring very

         17  persuasive.  It seems to me, a more persuasive

         18  argument is having to do with the language of the

         19  Law, and I wanted to ask you to specify.

         20                 You claim that responsibly managed

         21  forest is an inadequately defined term, and I was

         22  wondering do you have specific language that you

         23  think would help clarify the term?

         24                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Our concern is not

         25  that it is insufficiently defined, it is not defined
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          2  at all in the Law.  And the implications, it's a

          3  very, very powerful term.  If someone is found to be

          4  responsible under that term, they're allowed to

          5  participate.  If someone is not found to be

          6  responsible, they cannot even compete.  And right

          7  now, as written, the bill does not define that term

          8  at all, other than to say that it is whatever it is.

          9    So whoever the third party organization is that

         10  will make that determination, in effect, will make

         11  that decision.  And it does not seem to be an

         12  appropriate way to approach such a powerful

         13  function, to leave it in the hands of a third party

         14  and not lay out, you know, at least, what the

         15  factors and criteria standards would be in making

         16  that determination of responsibility, in much the

         17  same that we do on the City level with respect to

         18  business integrity, for example.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  I think my

         20  colleague wants to jump in here.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Your point is

         22  exactly right that the bill does not provide that

         23  the City define responsibly managed forests.  The

         24  bill provides that a third party or third parties as

         25  designated by the Administration would choose, as
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          2  long as they follow certain types of criteria in

          3  evaluating, and I think actually the bill is pretty

          4  specific on that subject.  As you say it does not

          5  set out any criteria for making that decision, and

          6  that is not, in fact, true.  The bill sets out a

          7  series of criteria.  It says, adherence to the

          8  principals and criteria of the Forest Stewardship

          9  Council or the equivalent requirements of other

         10  similar organizations, which do X, you know,

         11  conducting annual on- the ground audits, contain

         12  separate chain- of- custody certification, and meet

         13  certain eligibility requirements, and so the idea

         14  is, I mean, certainly you're absolutely right that,

         15  we're not forestry experts and MOC is not forestry

         16  experts, and the purpose here is to use resources

         17  that are out there that exist, who do this stuff

         18  professionally and on a day- to- day and year- to-

         19  year and have the expertise in order to that.  So I

         20  think it would be sort of, I mean, you know, I think

         21  it would be sort of, to say that we are not specific

         22  in this legislation, not specific about what a

         23  responsibly managed forest is, because we want

         24  people who are truly experts to be doing precisely

         25  that kind of certification, sort of kind of misses
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          2  the boat, as far as I can see.

          3                 Do you understand what I'm saying

          4  here?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Yes, I

          6  mean, I guess I would be interested in if there is a

          7  lack of specificity from your point of view, you

          8  know, to give us some specifics, because there were

          9  criteria laid out, and you know, it does not always

         10  make sense to put too, too much specificity for the

         11  reasons that Council Member Miller mentioned that we

         12  are going to have experts making a determination.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  And we can

         14  note in your testimony as part of the reason that

         15  the Administration feels that you're making progress

         16  on this, is that you are using Forest Stewardship

         17  Council certified wood in 40 percent or whatever it

         18  is some percentage group.  So I'm not clear, if the

         19  Administration thinks that is a good thing, than

         20  that is a good thing and we agree with you.  Or if

         21  the Administration is nervous about it, then they're

         22  nervous about it, but I do not understand how you

         23  can say on the one hand we're proud of ourselves

         24  that we're doing this one thing, and then, we're

         25  upset at the notion that we would apply this
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          2  particular criteria in a broader sense?

          3                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  The thing that we're

          4  doing that you refer to is not something that is

          5  mandated by law.  This particular law, and let's go

          6  back to your other point though, the criteria that

          7  are laid out in the bill are much more procedural

          8  and relate to the sort of the structure that the

          9  City would have to set up, select these third party

         10  organizations.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  I'm sorry,

         12  could I ask you to speak a little more closely into

         13  mic?

         14                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  I'm

         16  somehow having a little trouble hearing you.

         17                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  The criteria that are

         18  laid out in the bill are much more procedural in

         19  orientation rather than substantive and they relate

         20  more to the process that the Administration would

         21  have to follow in selecting organizations who could

         22  be qualified, if you will, for one of the three

         23  certifications positions.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  I see, so

         25  you're saying the Administration is concerned that
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          2  this legislation gives the Administration too much,

          3   - -

          4                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  No, that is not what

          5  I was saying.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: - -  play, and

          7  you would like us to more specifically tie your

          8  hands on the subject?

          9                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  No, what I was saying

         10  is that the criteria that are laid out in the bill

         11  do not relate to the decision- making that, the

         12  decisions, the determinations that will be made by

         13  the third party organizations.  They relay to the

         14  process by which the Administration chooses - -

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Chooses the

         16  third party?

         17                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Exactly.  But

         18  necessarily - -

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  To accomplish

         20  the goals of the legislation.  The legislation says

         21  we would like third parties to certify responsibly

         22  managed forests.  We're going to get to choose who

         23  those third parties are, as long as those third

         24  parties adhere to certain types of principles and

         25  criteria with regard the management of forests and
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          2  the way they conduct those arts.

          3                 And you're saying that you think the

          4  legislation should be more specific about requiring

          5  the Administration to purchase fewer, to designate

          6  fewer of those third party certifiers by being more

          7  restrictive about what precisely we mean by, what

          8  the Legislature means by responsibly managed forests

          9  as supposed to what the Administration means by it.

         10                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  That the legislation,

         11  itself, should provide more guidance with respect to

         12  what those standards are. Right now they're not

         13  there at all.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  But don't you

         15  think it is better to allow those also up to the

         16  contracting agency, as well?  Once you have - -

         17                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  The concern is that

         18  you end up with a potential for unfairly applied and

         19  inconsistently applied standards.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  I understood,

         21  okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Do you have

         23  more questions.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Go ahead.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  I have one

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  more question. Just to return to your point earlier

          3  about the pricing issue.  My understanding, this

          4  could be wrong, my understanding is that the State

          5  Law is a ban.  So you're referring to the pricing

          6  situation with regard to the general bidding

          7  requirements and not the State Law regarding

          8  Rainforest harvest, because my understanding, maybe

          9  I have this wrong, that the State Law about the

         10  Rainforests is just simply a ban, right?

         11                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  No, it is not

         12  correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  It's not?

         14                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  No.  If you look at

         15  State Law, 165 and Section (b), little Roman vi, it

         16  says, and this is a listing of where the provisions

         17  would not apply.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Yes.

         19                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  It's a list of

         20  exceptions, it says, where inclusion or application

         21  of such provisions results in a substantial cost

         22  increase to the State, government agency, political

         23  subdivision, public corporation or public management

         24  corporation.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Okay.
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          2                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Which is a class of

          3  actions that allows us, right now, and along with

          4  all the other covered parties,- -

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  How do you

          6  define substantial?

          7                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  It's not defined in

          8  the law.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  So how do you

         10  define it?

         11                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  We have not defined

         12  it yet, but if we have, it's a flexibility that we

         13  would not have under the current local legislation,

         14  we would lose it, in fact.  And it does not seem to

         15  make good sense to us, and to go further, that is

         16  also the principal reason that this particular

         17  Intro. May be inconsistent with the General

         18  Municipal Law.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Okay.

         20                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Because of

         21  disregarding price.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Okay, thank

         23  you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Thank you for your

         24  testimony, let me thank you most of all, the

         25  provision of being willing to,  I just meant, I want
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          2  to conclude my point, I just want to thank you for

          3  your willingness to work with the Council.  And I

          4  certainly look forward to working with the Chair to

          5  work with you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, I don't

          7  think there are any other questions.  We have been

          8  joined by Council Member White and Council Member

          9  Quinn.  Any questions?

         10                 I have one last question.  When you

         11  were mentioning the ways that this could affect how

         12  we do contracting, why do you believe that it would

         13  applied to subcontracts?

         14                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Because the language

         15  in the bill seems to be very broad.  In particular

         16  there is a provision in the definition section where

         17  it defines what wood product is, and it says it

         18  means any wood products, wholesale or retail in any

         19  form, and then including, but not included, and

         20  limited to, and it gives examples.  Incorporated in

         21  a contract, all of our contracts all of the terms

         22  apply to all of the subcontractors and all of the

         23  suppliers.  It is very, very broad and in its sweep

         24  in terms of not only the traditional kinds of

         25  purchases that may be intended in terms of direct
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          2  purchases of wood by City agencies, but use of word

          3  permeates virtually everything the City purchases

          4  through those contracts.  And now we're talking

          5  about a base of something like $7 billion a year,

          6  which is why we gave the examples of the senior

          7  centers and the after- school programs, this desk

          8  and the desk that you're sitting at, I mean, it is

          9  just ambiguous.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, I just

         11  wanted to check that.  All right, if there are no

         12  more questions, thank you very much.

         13                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  You're welcome.

         14  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  And we look

         16  forward to working with you and coming up with

         17  something that is mutually agreeable and still does

         18  what it does.

         19                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, we're going

         21  to be taking testimony by panels, and we're going to

         22  be going back and forth. So the first, panel 1,

         23  Susan Holmes from the Sierra Club, Francine Stevens

         24  from the Rainforest Alliance, Ashok Gupta from the

         25  NRDC, Barbara Bramble from the National Wildlife
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          2  Federation, Lambert Gingrass from Legal Conservation

          3  Builders, and Peggy Shepard from West Harlem

          4  Environmental Action Coalition, better known as

          5  WHEAC.

          6                 Okay, while we're waiting, I just

          7  want to let everyone know that we are going to try

          8  to limit everyone to three minutes in testimony,

          9  because we have a significant amount of people here.

         10    Okay, and you probably know this, but if you have

         11  written testimony, please hand it to the Sergeant-

         12  At- Arms, and is everyone in place, are we missing

         13  someone?  Okay, I do not see Peggy, so.

         14                 All right, I'm going to ask all of

         15  you to raise your right hands, and do you swear to

         16  tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

         17  truth?

         18                 ALL:  I do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay.  As you

         20  each testify, please state your name and your group

         21  or your position and then proceed?  Go for it.

         22                 You have to make sure, if the light

         23  is off, the button is on.

         24                 MS. HOLMES:  Okay, got it.  Susan

         25  Holmes, Sierra Club, Senior Regional Representative.
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          2    I would like to, on behalf of my panel as well,

          3  thank all of you today for your leadership in

          4  bringing this important bill before the City

          5  Council.  I have also with me on my panel, I just

          6  want to make sure you know who these people are.

          7  This is Francine Peters, Stevens, excuse me, from

          8  the Rainforest Alliance; Barbara Bramble from the

          9  National Wildlife Federation; Ashok Gupta from the

         10  Natural Resources Defense Council, and we also have

         11  Norma Ramos from (in Spanish).

         12                 Again, thank you, Chairperson Freed

         13  and Council Members Miller, Moskowitz, Quinn, White

         14  for your leadership to protect forests both in the

         15  United States and around the world by shining a

         16  spotlight on this very important legislation before

         17  the City Council.  I am here today on behalf of the

         18  Sierra Club, which is the nations oldest and largest

         19  grassroots environmental organization.  And I'm here

         20  today, not only on behalf of 17,000 members of New

         21  York City, but also over the 40,000 in New York

         22  State and the 650,000 members around the country.

         23  This is a national priority for the Sierra Club,

         24  when we introduced the bill, our National Director

         25  came here, this is a very, very important day for us
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          2  here at the Sierra Club.

          3                 As you may recall, this bill had its

          4  roots in the tropical hardwood legislation that was

          5  introduced in 1997.  While the Sierra Club then

          6  supported that bill, we believe that this bill that

          7  we're discussing today, which protects forests not

          8  only in the tropics, but around the world, is a

          9  considerably stronger bill. And in fact this

         10  legislation has the support of over 45 local and

         11  national environmental community, religious, Native

         12  American and business organizations, ranging from

         13  some of the organizations you see here today, to

         14  Greenpeace, The Mohawk Council of the Akesasne, The

         15  Environmental Business Association of New York, et

         16  cetera.  And I would also like to point out today,

         17  something that we're very excited about, The New

         18  York Central Labor Council has also supported this

         19  legislation.  I will be submitting as well to the

         20  City Council members, and I have some testimony here

         21  from organizations that would have liked to have

         22  been here, could not, I also just submit this to

         23  you, testimony on behalf of the Audubon Society of

         24  New York, testimony on behalf of the Certified

         25  Forest Product Council, testimony on behalf of
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          2  SmartWood, and also of ForestWorld.  And we also

          3  have a sign on letter with over 30 celebrities from

          4  Pierce Brosnan and Rod Reiner to Martin Sheen, who

          5  have signed on in support of this very important

          6  legislation.  So you can see that this is receiving

          7  a lot of attention from coast to coast.

          8                 You have already summarized the

          9  legislation, I wanted to talk a little bit about

         10  some of the things that the Administration just

         11  pointed out, just very briefly.  They referenced the

         12  State Law, which restricts only certain tropical

         13  woods, we are still very concerned about the fact

         14  that New York is buying considerable amounts of wood

         15  that are not listed in the State Law, especially

         16  Greenhart and Ipe, which is used for the Brooklyn

         17  Bridge, the Coney Island Boardwalk, et cetera.

         18                 And we were very pleased to see that

         19  the Administration is willing to work on this bill.

         20  We, too, think that we might be able to work

         21  together to craft language that is workable on the

         22  breath of bill.  So I think I just want to mention

         23  that we're very excited about the Administration's

         24  seeming support on working on the bill.

         25                 One other point that I would like to
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          2  make regarding cost, we understand that the

          3  Comptroller's Office will be drafting a letter

          4  supporting the bill.  We think this can be done in a

          5  very reasonable, cost- effective way, and we're very

          6  gratified that the Comptroller's Office seems to

          7  think that as well.

          8                 Let me just speak, very quickly,

          9  about why this bill is so important at this time.

         10  As a leader in the Sierra Club for over 10 years, I

         11  have had the opportunity to travel to the boreal

         12  forests of Siberia, the rainforests of Southeast

         13  Asia, to the temperate rainforests of Canada and to

         14  many of the forests across the United States, and

         15  really bear witness to the scale and the effects of

         16  unsustainable industrial logging on some of our most

         17  fragile forests ecosystems.  Today, a staggering 78

         18  percent of the original planet's forests have been

         19  logged or degraded.  And our remaining intact

         20  forests are being destroyed, as Gifford said, a rate

         21  of over two acres per second.  In some places, we

         22  have very good laws, and yet, we lack the resources

         23  to enforce them.  In other places, in other

         24  countries, these laws are simply not, unfortunately,

         25  adequate to protect forests.  And even in the United
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          2  States, the Bush Administration has recently

          3  announced that it may open the door to weakening

          4  protections on America's last unroaded areas in our

          5  national forests.

          6                 So therefore, there is another way

          7  that we can begin to stem this forest destruction by

          8  using our consumer power.  As the top consumers of

          9  forest products Americans bear a special

         10  responsibility for this deforestation, and

         11  municipalities, in particular, can play a very, very

         12  special role.

         13                 By shifting to eco-certified wood and

         14  wood alternatives, we can help to take pressure off

         15  these forests and support sustainable forestry that

         16  protects the long- term health of the forests and

         17  the communities that depend on them.

         18                 That is why it is so important that

         19  New York City set a national example to pass Intro.

         20  784.  New York City would be the first major city to

         21  pass a comprehensive wood purchasing bill, and it

         22  would be joining with over 700 companies with a

         23  combined annual sales of $180 billion that have

         24  committed to moving FSC wood into the markets.

         25                 It would also be joining with New
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          2  York State, which has recently certified over

          3  700,000 acres of its state lands with the FSC,

          4  Forest Stewardship Council.  And I would like to

          5  quote Governor Pataki who said, "The Forest

          6  Stewardship Council's rigorous, independent

          7  management practices have demonstrated we are firmly

          8  committed to fulfilling our obligations to the

          9  environment, the economy, and to the citizens of New

         10  York."

         11                 I suspect that you all will hear

         12  testimony today asking City Council to support other

         13  certifications systems.  I would like to ask the

         14  City Council to bear in mind the following recent

         15  statement of the President of Home Depot of Canada,

         16  before the Canadian government.  "We have taken the

         17  position that we are supporting FSC certification."

         18  And when asked why, she responded, "We are truly a

         19  global company.  We need a global reference level.

         20  It is a business decision, from our knowledge, and I

         21  have had all the lumber merchants involved in this,

         22  the FSC is the highest certification standard out

         23  there."

         24                 If Home Depot can do it, New York

         25  City can too.  We are asking that New York City,
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          2  once again, set the pace for other municipalities

          3  and join the corporate leaders to adopt a

          4  comprehensive wood use plan that uses selective

          5  purchasing to protect our forests.  This is a policy

          6  that is good for the State, good for the City, good

          7  for labor and small businesses, and good for the

          8  environment.  We believe it is the way of the

          9  future.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you very

         12  much.  Next.

         13                 MS. BRAMBLE:  Thank you very much.

         14  My name is Barbara Bramble, and I am the Senior

         15  Advisor to the President of the National Wildlife

         16  Federation.  National Wildlife is America's largest

         17  member- based conservation group with over 4 million

         18  members and supporters and 46 state- affiliates.

         19                 I'm here today to offer our

         20  enthusiastic support for this bill, and that it

         21  would begin a selective wood purchasing program for

         22  the City of New York.  If passed, this bill would

         23  greatly complement the long- standing efforts of our

         24  organization and of the many groups represented by

         25  my colleagues here today, to nurture and promote
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          2  credible eco-labeling for trade in forest products.

          3                 NWF come to this discussion from two

          4  vantage points. One is our direct involvement in

          5  forest certification on the ground, as a provider of

          6  the FSC-accredited SmartWood certification service.

          7  By this summer, we will have added roughly 1.5

          8  million acres to the forest land base in the FSC

          9  system, and it includes over 180 different

         10  landowners and another 30 mills and manufacturers.

         11  The bulk of the acres that we have certified are in

         12  fact located in New York State and include The

         13  Department of Environmental Conservation's multiple

         14  use lands, which are 750,000 acres that Susan

         15  referred to, and it also includes Paul Smith's

         16  College and the Domtar Paper Company, hundreds of

         17  thousands, 110,000 acres at Domtar.

         18                 Second, while our forest staff

         19  experts have been working in the woods here in the

         20  northeast, our international program has strived to

         21  protect the use of eco-labeling programs in the

         22  various international trade forums, such as the

         23  World Trade Organization and the negotiations for a

         24  Free Trade Area of the Americas.  This is because we

         25  feel it is very important that the effects of trade
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          2  on people, local communities, and the environment,

          3  whether it is in the global wood market or other

          4  products, needs to be communicated to consumers so

          5  that they can make their own choices.  Eco-labeling

          6  through certification is among the best ways to do

          7  that, and it does it without restricting markets or

          8  the flow of investment capital.

          9                 Which brings us to this bill, 784.

         10  The passage of this legislation would not only

         11  complement and demonstrate New York's leadership in

         12  forest certification, it would also provide the sort

         13  of market stimulus, the so- called demand pull, that

         14  is needed at this time to help certified wood

         15  markets mature, so that sustainable use of our

         16  forests becomes the norm rather than a novelty.  And

         17  as long as it is clear in this bill that includes a

         18  preference for wood procured under the FSC system,

         19  which is widely recognized as the most mature and

         20  credible eco-labeling program for wood that is in

         21  place today, this bill is a special importance to

         22  us.

         23                 Several years ago in 1993, the White

         24  House through Executive Order #12873, attempted to

         25  put the federal government in a leadership role in
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          2  environmental procurement.  While this worked in

          3  some areas, such as the EPA Energy Star program for

          4  appliances, it has faltered in many others, such as

          5  wood products.  So in 1998, at our annual meeting

          6  NWF's grassroots, that is our 46-state affiliates

          7  proposed and adopted a national policy resolution

          8  calling, frankly, for the government to get going

          9  and stop dithering on this procurement initiative.

         10                 But it is apparent to us now that at

         11  least in the short run leadership on environmental

         12  procurement will fall to state and local government.

         13    New York City, through the vision of Speaker

         14  Vallone and Council Member Gifford, who have

         15  submitted bill 784, is poised to be such a leader.

         16                 Thank you very much for your time

         17  today.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, thank you.

         19  Next.

         20                 MS STEVENS:  Thank you so much for

         21  allowing me to speak in support of this bill.  I'm

         22  Francine Stevens from the Rainforest Alliance.

         23                 The Rainforest Alliance, an

         24  international non- profit organization works to

         25  protect endangered ecosystems and the people, plants
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          2  and wildlife that live within them by transforming

          3  land us, business practices, and consumer behavior.

          4  We realize this mission by designing and

          5  implementing environmentally and socially

          6  responsible management practices for natural

          7  resource base activities, such as logging, farming

          8  and tourism.  Our SmartWood program, responsible for

          9  the certification of 700,000 acres of New York State

         10  public forest lands, certifies forestry operations

         11  that meet the international environmental standards

         12  of the FSC.

         13                 Certification is a comprehensive

         14  conservation tool that brings about tangible,

         15  positive change, in the forests, in the corporation

         16  board rooms, and in the shopping choices that are

         17  available to consumers.  The proposed legislation

         18  makes the connection between our purchases as

         19  consumers in New York City and the impacts on

         20  communities who supply raw materials worldwide.

         21  Markets, who bring conservation, such as

         22  certification, offers products and services that

         23  give consumers a way to conserve the world's

         24  Rainforests.  If there is no environmental standard

         25  applied, the local communities may be encouraged to
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          2  destroy the resource for short- term gain.

          3                 We feel seeking third party

          4  certification is essential as company claims of good

          5  practices are not enough to satisfy increasingly

          6  educated and savvy green consumers.  In this way

          7  tapping into the green market can be done

          8  responsibly and sustainably.  Certification is

          9  essential because it ensures the management of

         10  forests and the harvesting of timbers in ways that

         11  offer environmental, social and economic benefits to

         12  local communities.  It creates market incentives for

         13  producers to adopt sustainable practices, and

         14  lastly, it brings consumers back into the loop

         15  enabling them to conserve forests and protect

         16  biodiversity.

         17                 Just a few words on the certification

         18  process.  The certification process through FSC and

         19  SmartWood, which is an accredited FSC certifier, the

         20  principles are developed through a participation and

         21  consensus.  The principles and criteria are

         22  developed through a transparent and negotiated

         23  consensus process that involves all of the

         24  stakeholders in forestry, scientists,

         25  conservationists, workers, community leaders,
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          2  government agencies, research institutions,

          3  consumers and of course the foresters, themselves.

          4  FSC certification also encourages all three aspects

          5  of what we call the interlocking circle of

          6  sustainability, human welfare, economic viability

          7  and conservation of biodiversity. Certification is a

          8  tool to promote progress in all three areas.

          9  Certification through the FSC is also, we have

         10  complete audits, we have qualified specialists who

         11  are conducting these on-field audits.

         12                 And lastly, to address a point that

         13  was brought up just a while ago, certification is an

         14  inclusive process, so any company or forestry

         15  operation who wishes to become certified can just

         16  call up the FSC and say, what do we have to do to

         17  change our practices accordingly and get certified?

         18                 In supporting this legislation, New

         19  York City is working to ensure environmental and

         20  labor standards and helping to solidify the belief

         21  that effective business can incorporate conservation

         22  measures, making the connection that all New Yorkers

         23  have a role to play in supporting sustainable

         24  communities worldwide is commendable, for this, we

         25  applaud New York City and wholeheartedly support
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          2  this legislation.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you.  Mr.

          5  Gupta.

          6                 MR. GUPTA:  Thank you very much.  It

          7  is a pleasure to be here.  Good afternoon.  Thank

          8  you, Council Member Miller for being such a strong

          9  supporter, and of course, Chairperson Freed and

         10  Council Members Quinn and White for being here.  We

         11  appreciate all of your hard work on this bill and

         12  welcome your support.

         13                 NRDC strongly supports this bill.  We

         14  have, as you know, 400,000 members nationally and my

         15  colleagues who work on first - -

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  I'm sorry, could

         17  you officially identify yourself, for the record?

         18                 MR. GUPTA:  Of course.  My name is

         19  Ashok Gupta and with NRDC in the New York Office,

         20  and I'm here to testify in favor of this bill, of

         21  course, and we think it is a very, very important

         22  bill and will allow New York City to show leadership

         23  again, as it has on many other issues to show that

         24  basically, we, through our demand, can change

         25  behavior and practices all over world.  And I think
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          2  it is very important to do that, use the demands and

          3  send a message.  I think voting with one's dollars

          4  is one of the best things we can do and leadership

          5  here is essential.

          6                 Using the FSC certification is also

          7  very, very important as was pointed out by my

          8  colleagues, because it is independent, it is third

          9  party certification, it is consistently applied, it

         10  is global, it involves stakeholders, and it is a

         11  performance based standard.  A lot of other

         12  standards are more based around process or

         13  management systems, but this is a very important

         14  thing to keep in mind in terms of the type of

         15  standard that FSC provides.  It's a lot of the

         16  things that you spelt out in your bill are necessary

         17  and essential if you're going to have a meaningful

         18  certification.  So you can make sure that what

         19  you're intending to do, is in effect being done and

         20  carried out.  It is important to do that.  And I

         21  think, again, you're sending a very important

         22  message to other localities, states to do the same

         23  thing in order to aggregate the impact of what

         24  you're doing here.  And the demand does create the

         25  supply and it is important in terms of lowering
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          2  costs over time to also, you know, make this the

          3  pattern that everybody else will follow.  So it is

          4  important to do this right this time around.

          5                 Again, I echo many of the comments of

          6  my colleagues and say that we appreciate your hard

          7  work, we look forward to working with you and

          8  answering any of your questions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you.  And

         10  the last person, if you could move up to the desk

         11  and then identify yourself?

         12                 MS. RAMOS:  Good afternoon.  My name

         13  is Norma Ramos, and I'm a founding member of (in

         14  Spanish).

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, try to stay

         16  closer to the mic.

         17                 MS. RAMOS:  Today I speak on behalf

         18  (in Spanish) in favor of Intro. 784.  (In Spanish),

         19  which translates into Latinos for Environmental

         20  Justice, basically, is an organization that works to

         21  raise this nation's awareness of the long- standing

         22  and continued impacts of environmental racism on

         23  Latino communities, both here and abroad.  We do

         24  this work with an understanding that to achieve

         25  environmental justice for our communities, ethical
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          2  and sustainable business practices are an essential

          3  component to that goal.

          4                 Sustainable business practices are

          5  not only a matter of environmental justice, they are

          6  a matter of urgent necessity, because we simply can

          7  no longer ignore the direct effects of how a given

          8  products production effects the environment and the

          9  people who are used in that production.  For

         10  example, illegal and unsustainable logging practices

         11  are proving to be especially devastating to

         12  indigenous people.  Approximately 55 percent of the

         13  world's forests are located in developing nations,

         14  and it is in these nations where forests are most

         15  threatened.

         16                 Between 1990 and 1995 there were

         17  approximately 65 million acres lost in developing

         18  nations.  One of the significant causes of this

         19  astounding loss is unsustainable and all too often

         20  illegal logging practices.  These logging practices

         21  threaten indigenous communities throughout the

         22  world.  They displace people from their land and

         23  disrupt century's old lifestyle that were self

         24  sustaining.  This is an especially cruel affect

         25  because it forces formerly self- supporting people
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          2  into an urban lifestyle with its western based, low

          3  wage labor consumer driven culture. Deforestation

          4  is, in fact, a form of genocide.  It is estimated

          5  that there were up to 6 million indigenous people

          6  living in the Brazilian Amazon before 1500.  As of

          7  the most recent count in the 1990's that population

          8  is now estimated to be about 250,000.

          9                 Now this is an unconscionable and

         10  irreplaceable dissemination, and it cannot be

         11  measured only in terms of the staggering loss of

         12  human life, but also in the destruction of the

         13  incredibly varied plant and animal life that can

         14  found in these forests and the intending loss of

         15  centuries of accumulated knowledge as to the

         16  medicinal value of these plants and animals.

         17                 And we have another example of the

         18  effects of unsustainable logging practices closer to

         19  home.  Amnesty International and the Sierra Club and

         20  a host of other organizations have been waging a

         21  campaign to free two Mexican environmental heroes,

         22  who acted at the cost of their personal freedom and

         23  well being to end excessive and probably illegal

         24  logging practices in the Sierra Madre Mountain

         25  range.  Of course, I'm referring to Redolpho Martiel
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          2  and Theodore Cabraer (phonetic).  These men acted to

          3  halt logging practices in, that in the past 8 years

          4  alone have caused an almost 40 percent loss of that

          5  forest in that region. These aggressively

          6  destructive logging practices have increased the

          7  total clear- cut area of this forest by more than

          8  400 percent.

          9                 Mr. Montiel and Mr. Cabraer were

         10  beaten and tortured into signing false confessions,

         11  which have led to their imprisonment since May of

         12  1999.  Amnesty International has declared them to be

         13  prisoners of conscience, and they're work and plight

         14  have received international recognition.  However,

         15  the struggle to free to them is far from over and

         16  the abusive logging practices that they stood up to

         17  at great personal cost is continuing.

         18                 Now if we buy forest products that

         19  are a result of these practices, then we become

         20  unwitting partners in this injustice.  Intro. 784

         21  makes New York City part of the solution, rather

         22  than a contributor and a beneficiary of this costly

         23  destruction.

         24                 The effectiveness of the FSC

         25  certification to protect the rights of indigenous
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          2  peoples and local communities has already been

          3  established.  We can point to three cases of

          4  certification in the Amazon Region of Brazil that

          5  illustrate positive changes between companies and

          6  local communities.  Three timber companies, Mill

          7  Medaria (phonetic), Gethal Amazonos (phonetic), and

          8  Mowana Elementos (phonetic), are all companies that

          9  own FSC certified forests in that area.  They have

         10  formed committees that work to resolve land tenure

         11  issues relating to local communities and indigenous

         12  peoples.  One has already recognized the land tenure

         13  rights of 40 families living within the area owned

         14  by the company as a condition of certification.

         15  Another is committed to postponing forest management

         16  activities in any area involving native land

         17  disputes, until those disputes have been resolved,

         18  and has already eliminated from its forest

         19  management approximately 4,000 acres that were

         20  claimed indigenous people.  And yet, another, has

         21  also established a permanent training program

         22  whereby locals can qualify for the more specialized

         23  positions in the company in addition to the logging

         24  and tree planting jobs that were already available.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  I'm sorry, just
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          2  ask you if you could wrap it up, because it was

          3  going on a little long?

          4                 MS. RAMOS:  All right, one more.

          5  Intro. 784 provides us with an opportunity to be

          6  less philosophical, less academic about the

          7  environment and human rights.  It affords us the

          8  opportunity to do something specific and concrete

          9  about logging practices that are wholly destructive

         10  to human beings, as well as plant and animal life.

         11                 Finally, there is another compelling

         12  reason to support Intro. 784.  As our current census

         13  shows, our City is becoming increasingly populated

         14  by people of color.  And many of us come from these

         15  nations that are targeted for these devastating and

         16  illegal logging practices of our countries of

         17  origin.  We, therefore, have a special

         18  responsibility to ensure that the purchasing power

         19  that is derived our tax dollars and carried out in

         20  our names does not work to reward environmentally

         21  reckless profiteering and further environmental

         22  racism.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you.  By

         24  the way, I do have a bill in about Montiel and

         25  Cabraer.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2                 And I just wanted to mention that we

          3  have been joined by Council Member William Perkins

          4  from Manhattan.

          5                 Okay.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  I just want a

          7  brief question that perhaps one of you could address

          8  it, if you just could explain to us why it is so

          9  important the chain-of-custody certification be part

         10  of an independent certifier?  Because I know that

         11  that is a principle problem with some of the

         12  alternative certifiers that are out there, they do

         13  not have chain-of-custody.  If you could just sort

         14  of, briefly, explain why it is so important? Briefly

         15  being key.

         16                 MS. RAMOS:  Very briefly,

         17  chain-of-custody is essential because it is

         18  basically a tool to ensure that the wood is tracked

         19  from forest to store and all the points in between.

         20  So every single step of the way we are ensuring

         21  through people or through logistics that it is, in

         22  fact, an FSC certified product.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Or otherwise,

         24  what then happens?

         25                 MS. HOLMES:  Or otherwise then we
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          2  could have a product calling it FSC certified, but

          3  it is not, in fact, certified wood.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER:  Okay, thanks.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, thank you

          6  very much.  We appreciate all your terrific input.

          7                 Our next panel will be headed by the

          8  International Wood Products Association, I guess it

          9  is Shea, Sheridan and Troise, and also the

         10  Delegation from the Indonesian Wood Panel

         11  Association. See how many people do we have.  Okay,

         12  we will take you first and then we will do the

         13  Indonesian Delegation.

         14                 If you would raise your right hands,

         15  please?  And you swear to tell the truth, the whole

         16  truth, and nothing but the truth?

         17                 ALL:  I do.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay.  As you,

         19  and I'm assuming that we have all your hand outs, as

         20  you start testifying, please state your name and

         21  position for the record?  I will also ask you to

         22  keep it as short of possible, because we have a lot

         23  of people waiting.  Okay, please, proceed.

         24                 MS. SHEA:  Good afternoon.  My name

         25  is Brigid Shea. I'm here on behalf of the
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          2  International Wood Products Association, an

          3  international trade organization representing

          4  overseas and domestic firms - -

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Get a little

          6  closer to the microphone or get it a little closer

          7  to you.

          8                 MS. SHEA: - - actively engaged in the

          9  international trade of wood and wood products from

         10  well- managed forests.

         11                 IWPA and its membership share the

         12  deep concern of New York City Council for the

         13  careful management and conservation of the world's

         14  tropical rainforests.  Our industry has a stake in

         15  helping to ensure a future for forests as well as a

         16  future for an ongoing and sustainable timber trade.

         17                 Our concern with this legislation is

         18  that it would result in a de factors bands on the

         19  use of all tropical wood products in City projects.

         20                 Tropical countries need every

         21  encouragement and help to protect their forests and

         22  grow more tress.  There are several international

         23  organizations dedicated to the sustainable usage of

         24  forests.  Two such organizations are the

         25  International Tropical Timber Organization and the
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          2  Tropical Forest Foundation.

          3                 The International Tropical Timber

          4  Organization provides scientific guidance and

          5  financial assistance toward achieving responsible

          6  forest management.  ITTO was founded under the

          7  auspices of the United Nations, its 56 producer in

          8  consumer relations account for 95 percent of the

          9  world trade in tropical timber and 75 percent of the

         10  world's tropical forests.

         11                 ITTO had recently evaluated its

         12  progress in promoting good forest management

         13  techniques in developing countries.  This evaluation

         14  found that significant progress has been made in

         15  policy and legislative reform in almost all producer

         16  countries in all three continents.

         17                 The independent consultants who

         18  conducted the evaluation based their analysis

         19  criteria on issues such as whether a country had

         20  established a permanent forest estate, on issues as

         21  whether or not there was land dedicated to

         22  conservation, and the degree of involvement by local

         23  communities in forest policy formation.

         24                 In addition to the work being done by

         25  ITTO, IWPA founded the Tropical Forest Foundation,
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          2  which is comprised of representatives from industry,

          3  the scientific and environmental communities.

          4                 The Foundation provides hand- on

          5  instruction on how to reduce, how to conduct logging

          6  with reduced impacts to the forests and all of the

          7  ecological area.  These practices save both trees

          8  and money thereby establishing a financial reward

          9  for good forest management.

         10                 In addition to these international

         11  organizations, Committee members should be aware

         12  that producer nations have made great strides in

         13  producing their forests.  For example, Indonesia has

         14  LEI, the Indonesian Eco-labeling Institute, which

         15  bases its certification requirements on the

         16  International Standards Organization, the

         17  International Tropical Timber Organization, and the

         18  Forest Stewardship Council.  Eventually LEI is

         19  expected to become an accreditor for certifiers.

         20  CERFLOR, the Certification of Origin of Forest Raw

         21  Materials, is developing a certification program in

         22  Brazil using Standards, again, from International

         23  Standards Organization, the International Tropical

         24  Timber Organization, and the Forest Stewardship

         25  Council.  The country of Ghana is developing forest
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          2  certification, which is well advanced and has

          3  involved representatives of all stakeholders.  Ghana

          4  is also working on a computerized system for log-

          5  tracking.  Committee members should also know that

          6  the Pan African Certification Initiative is making

          7  great progress.  This is a program in development

          8  led by the European Foundation for the Preservation

          9  of African- American forest Resources and the

         10  African Timber Organization.  The Pan African

         11  Certification Initiative is currently completing

         12  field testing of its criteria and indicators and it

         13  is also looking into putting in place the standards

         14  for legislative and statutory into the member

         15  organizations.

         16                 In spite of the great progress being

         17  made in developing countries, there are many

         18  challenges.  Certification is a lengthy, complicated

         19  and expensive process.  If developing countries

         20  cannot find markets for their wood products, they

         21  will not be able to afford putting into place the

         22  regulations, educational resources and practices

         23  necessary to eventually apply for certification.

         24                 Certifying tropical forests is

         25  equally challenging to the certifiers, as indicated
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          2  by the fact that most of the certified forests are

          3  in temperate and boreal regions.  Under the auspices

          4  of the Forest Stewardship Council, less than 4

          5  percent of the world's 500 million hectares of

          6  productive woodland have been certified.  This

          7  confined geographical area of certification effects

          8  the ability of tropical wood producing countries to

          9  access the New York City market and consequently

         10  creates the potential for discrimination of foreign

         11  producers.

         12                 The Committee also must consider that

         13  this legislation may constitute restraint of trade

         14  on the part of New York City.

         15                 A report by the United Nations' Food

         16  and Agriculture Organization observes, "Although

         17  many proponents argue that certification is not a

         18  trade restrictive practice, it seems to have many of

         19  the characteristics of one.  In fact, this is to a

         20  degree the very goal that the approach is trying to

         21  achieve to encourage consumers to discriminate in

         22  favor of certain products, and therefore, against

         23  others."

         24                 In our view, using the City

         25  procurement process to favor certain wood products
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          2  over others does nothing to promote sustainable

          3  forestry.  Such a policy would only serve to pick

          4  winners and losers, the latter being developing

          5  countries that are making great strides in improved

          6  forest management.  A decision not to accept wood

          7  products from these regions can lead to the opposite

          8  result of what is intended, an increase in

          9  deforestation because developing countries will

         10  clear the forests for subsistence agriculture if

         11  they cannot sell their timber and wood products.  To

         12  quote Dr. Patrick Moore, a founding member of

         13  Greenpeace, "If you want to  save the tropical

         14  rainforests, boycott tropical fruits and vegetables

         15  and buy tropical woods instead because then people

         16  will grow trees."

         17                 In closing, we caution Committee

         18  members that the lack of certification does not mean

         19  there is a lack of quality forest management.  We

         20  urge the Committee to continue to allow the

         21  procurement of tropical wood from reputable and

         22  knowledgeable sources.  A continuation of such a

         23  policy will contribute to the welfare of the world's

         24  forests, and we would like to work with the

         25  Committee to come up with some sustainability
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          2  language that would address your concerns.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you.  Next.

          5                 MS. TROISE:  I'm Audry Troise from

          6  William G. Moore and Son, and I'm one of the

          7  suppliers to the City and to the City contractors of

          8  their lumber products, not only domestic softwoods

          9  and hardwoods, but also tropical hardwoods, and we

         10  also supply the City with 100 percent recycled

         11  plastic products.

         12                 To answer two of your questions that

         13  were asked earlier, number one, the recycled plastic

         14  products if they are structural in nature and would

         15  be strong enough to go in places where you're

         16  presently using tropical hardwoods?  They are at

         17  least three times as much as, in price, as your

         18  tropical hardwoods would be.

         19                 In addition to that, I object to the

         20  Forest Stewardship Council setting up chain- of-

         21  custody.  I, at the present, do not have chain- of-

         22  custody, and the reason for that is they are giving

         23  chain- of- custody to many of the lumber yards who,

         24  some of which have been not listed by the City as

         25  being not responsible suppliers.  I can say that we
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          2  are one of the City's most responsible suppliers and

          3  have been since 1950.

          4                 We must open our books to the Forest

          5  Stewardship Council, if we want to have chain- of-

          6  custody.  I object to that. Through the years we

          7  have established a line of suppliers for the City

          8  that are reliable, responsible and supply a good

          9  product.  I do not want to give all that information

         10  to the Forest Stewardship Council.

         11                 The other thing is that I met this

         12  morning with a supplier, mill supplier from Guyana.

         13  Now the Rainforest Alliance has stated in their

         14  publication that Guyana is one of the countries who

         15  has practiced sustainable forestry from the

         16  beginning.  They do not clear-cut, they cut only

         17  those matured trees, they have very strong laws on

         18  their books to cut only the matured tress, so that

         19  they open the canopy for the smaller trees to grow,

         20  which will bring more trees into the forests.

         21                 The Forest Stewardship Council has

         22  been to Guyana, the government and the mill owners

         23  are considering having SmartWood or Forest

         24  Stewardship Council certification, but they are

         25  three to five years away from doing that.  Now that
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          2  means that in the next three to five years, if you

          3  enact this bill, they will not be able to ship any

          4  products to the City, and effectively it will put

          5  them out of business, and no one will ever get

          6  certified, because they will not be there to be

          7  certified.

          8                 So I think all of these things have

          9  to be taken into consideration.  You're getting

         10  very, very small quantities of forest certified

         11  lumber now, and what is happening is that people are

         12  coming to the City agencies, they are promising

         13  certified lumber, they cannot get it, there are very

         14  small quantities coming in.  And when they cannot

         15  get it, they are able to supply you with lumber that

         16  is not certified at a higher price because they

         17  already have the contract.  So in effect you're

         18  creating a monster in that respect, as well.

         19                 So I am not going to talk about the

         20  ecological, I have grandchildren, I want to see the

         21  world to have its forests, but so do the lumber

         22  people, so do all the other people.  And to ban it

         23  is not the way to go about it.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you.  Next.
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          2                 MR. SHERIDAN:  Thank you, Madam

          3  Chair.  I speak from the perspective, actually from

          4  two perspectives, first and foremost.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  I'm sorry, you

          6  have to identify yourself, for the record, please?

          7                 MR. SHERIDAN:  My name is Frank

          8  Sheridan, Afrasian Woods of Mineola, Long Island.  I

          9  live in Queens.  And I speak from two perspectives,

         10  first and foremost, I'm a born and bread New Yorker.

         11    My family has been part of this City for over 50,

         12  60 years, from Police Captains to tax assessors, and

         13  if some of you go back to the old Bronx, there is my

         14  Uncle Frank Mahoney and his brother Dan, so I know

         15  this City.

         16                 I'm concerned that this Council act

         17  in a morally and fiscally responsible manner.

         18  Basically, how much is this going to cost New York,

         19  and what is it going to accomplish?  The answer to

         20  the first, according to Council Member Miller, is

         21  you don't know, it can be 10 percent, it could be

         22  less, it could be more.  Ten percent of what, two

         23  million or seven billion, depending on the products

         24  as you heard before, that are put into the pile.

         25  What is underneath this carpeting is underlayment,
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          2  it is probably tropical flooring, which is used to

          3  give you an even level.  You did not know that, I

          4  know it.  The draw sides in the desks, probably

          5  tropical woods, you did not know that either.  The

          6  handles on the shovels are probably tropical woods,

          7  on the wheel barrels are probably tropical woods.

          8  It encompasses a broad range.

          9                 The second question, as to the second

         10  part of this question, I have to correct, Mr.

         11  Miller.  It will not stop clear cutting of the ipe

         12  and other tropical species simply because they are

         13  not clear-cut, they are selectively harvesting.

         14  Clear-cutting is a process you use mainly in

         15  softwood forest, where you take down whole areas.

         16  You do not do that when you have one tree out of 40

         17  that is an ipe tree.  But even if it did, the fact

         18  of mentioning that every day we lose an area the

         19  size of New York, this legislation will not stop

         20  that one bit, because you do not lose it to timber

         21  operations.  You lose it to coffee plantations, you

         22  lose it to fruit plantations from palm trees, you

         23  lose it to soy bean plantations, and that is a

         24  permanent conversion.  The timber operators do not

         25  do that.  It will not stop one bit of it, the
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          2  legislation will not stop it.

          3                 The timber operators are not going to

          4  destroy their resource forest base.  They go out of

          5  their way to have the timber reinstituted and grow

          6  on a continuous basis, so they do not have to travel

          7  that far to process it.

          8                 New York City has relied upon

          9  extremists viewpoints, much of it is unfounded.

         10  Yet, New York Council has refused to investigate

         11  these claims.  Two years ago, I offered to take any

         12  Council member to the Tropics to see the operations.

         13    I extend this invitation once more.  A UN

         14  Subagency, the International Tropical Timber

         15  Organization, which is government to government, 110

         16  nations is meeting Yawoundi (phonetic) Cameroon at

         17  the end of this month. I urge the Council to send

         18  someone and they will know what is going on.  If

         19  they cannot afford it, I will pay for it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Sorry, we cannot

         21  do that.

         22                 MR. SHERIDAN:  Well I just think you

         23  should, because it is a very - -

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Especially if

         25  you're paying for it.
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          2                 MR. SHERIDAN:  No, I won't pay for

          3  it.  I will challenge the environmentalists and let

          4  them pay half, see how much money you get.

          5                 This situation reminds me of a

          6  crowded theater or a crowded room, and someone

          7  shouts, fire, and there is no fire, or you cannot

          8  see a fire, but you don't have time to think about

          9  it, you just run and take off.  And what damage is

         10  done in that?

         11                 The City Council has the time to

         12  research this, please, do it.  Don't become one of

         13  those shouting fire, the opportunity is there, you

         14  can do it, I urge you to do it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  All right, thank

         16  you.  And the last person of this panel was supposed

         17  to be someone from the Indonesian Wood Panel

         18  Association, if one of you could speak for the

         19  group?  Yes, please.

         20                 MS. SHEA:  Could I also add that

         21  we're submitting testimony from the Ghana Forest

         22  Commission, The Malaysian Timber Council, and ATIBT,

         23  which represents the African Producer Nations.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Surely, just make

         25  sure we have copies of it.  Okay, gentlemen, if
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          2  whoever is going to speak, because we're hoping

          3  just, okay, if you would raise your right hand,

          4  please?  Do you swear to tell the truth, the whole

          5  truth, and nothing but the truth?

          6                 MR. GINAPUTRA:  Amen.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, if you

          8  could state your name for the record and the name of

          9  the other members panel, and then, please, proceed.

         10                 MR. GINAPUTRA:  My name is I Ketut

         11  Kaler Ginaputra, representing Indonesian Wood Panel

         12  Association.  We are here, four gentlemen,

         13  representing this Association.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay.

         15                 MR. GINAPUTRA:  So, first of all, I

         16  would like to express our sincere thanks for giving

         17  this opportunity to SUBMIT our testimony.  Because

         18  we are four of us, only represent or present one

         19  testimony, so I would like to request a longer time

         20  allotment to read this testimony?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, not too

         22  long, but please, proceed.

         23                 MR. GINAPUTRA:  Okay, thank you.  So

         24  now I read my testimony.

         25                 1.  Indonesia is aware that tropical
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          2  forests serve as the lung of the world and play

          3  vital role in safeguarding the quality of global

          4  environment; therefore, in short, we are all living

          5  in the same boat.

          6                 Furthermore, for Indonesia, forest

          7  resources are vital for the sustainability of our

          8  national development in eradicating the poverty and

          9  backwardness of the people.  Hence, we are fully

         10  committed and has taken gigantic strides to

         11  accomplish the sustainable management of our forest.

         12                 2.  Indonesia is bestowed with the

         13  largest tropical rainforests after Brazil and Zaire.

         14    It covers more than 70 percent of Indonesia land

         15  area amounting to about 140 million acres.  The

         16  112.3 million acres out of it, based on the forest

         17  function and the topographical condition, is set

         18  aside as permanent forests under jurisdiction and

         19  supervision of the MiniStry of Forestry and has been

         20  designated and set into three categories:

         21                 A)  Protection Forest:  More or less

         22  33.5 million acres.  Forest area which has specific

         23  physical characteristics with functions mainly to

         24  protect the watershed for water catchments and

         25  control and other kinds of environmental aspects.
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          2                 B)  The Conservation Forest:  Around

          3  20.5 million acres.  Forest area for conservation of

          4  wildlife, specific fauna and florAs and

          5  bio-diversity in the form of National Parks and

          6  Wildlife refuges.

          7                 Above mentioned two categories

          8  covering a total area of approximately 27 percent of

          9  Indonesia land mass is completely closed to logging

         10  activities and merely managed for conserving and

         11  protecting the ecological aspects of the forest

         12  functions.

         13                 C)  The Production Forest:  More or

         14  less 58.2 million acres.  Forest area for production

         15  of wood and non- wood products, in line with the

         16  social and economic aspects of forest function for

         17  the mankind.

         18                 The other 27.8 million acres of

         19  forest land is also under the jurisdiction and

         20  supervision of the Ministry of Forestry is allocated

         21  as conversion areas.

         22                 These areas which most parts grown

         23  with shrubs and low grass, low levels of

         24  bio-diversities and less productive from the point

         25  of view of the forest function.  These forests are
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          2  available for conversion into timber estates,

          3  plantation and other agricultural purposes to

          4  upgrade their economical function for the welfare

          5  and prosperity of the people.

          6                 This conversion forest has been

          7  designated for the purpose to protect the above

          8  mentioned permanent forest from through rising

          9  demand of land for the continuation of our national

         10  development.

         11                 3.  To support our national

         12  sustainable development, since 1967 Indonesia has

         13  been vigorously utilizing economic potentials of our

         14  Production Forest by implementing a sylviculture

         15  system named "Selective Harvesting and Enrichment

         16  Planting."  It means that only commercial tree

         17  species with diameter 50 cm and up are allowed to be

         18  harvested, while for steep topography areas the

         19  minimum diameter is 60 cm.

         20                 Besides the above mentioned Selective

         21  Harvesting and Enrichment Planting system, since

         22  1990 Indonesian Forestry Department has been

         23  intensively developing forest plantation called

         24   "Forest Estates or Industrial Timber Plantation."

         25  It takes place mainly in the conversion areas.
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          2                 Combining the above systems of

          3  sylviculture, which are internationally acknowledged

          4  as the proper system to sustainably manage the

          5  forest resources, Indonesia is on the right track to

          6  realize the firm commitment of the ITTO to moving a

          7  rapidly as possible towards achieving export of

          8  tropical timber and timber products from sustainably

          9  managed sources, as stated in the statement

         10  I(XXVIII) of ITTC held in Peru, 24-30 May 2000.

         11  Furthermore, the same ITTC meeting, has decided

         12  (Decision- 5 [XXVIII] "To develop guidelines to

         13  provide essential elements for a framework of

         14  adequate auditing system for sustainable Forest

         15  Management."  Even though it means that auditing for

         16  sustainable Forest Management certification is

         17  waiting up to finalization of the guidelines;

         18  however, Indonesia has undertaken the efforts to

         19  develop a certification system.

         20                 4.  Under such management system for

         21  our production forests, Indonesia develops forest

         22  industry, which plays prominent and strategic role

         23  in our national development to improve the living

         24  standard of our people.

         25                 Currently, Indonesia's forest
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          2  industry support more than 16 million people and is

          3  the country's single largest employer.  Also,

          4  forestry products today comprise almost 20 percent

          5  of Indonesia's total exports.

          6                 A ban or restriction on the use of

          7  tropical hardwood, on one hand, will decrease the

          8  market for our products and consequently reduce the

          9  needed funds to continue our appropriate actions to

         10  sustainably manage our valuable tropical forest

         11  resources, and on the other hand, it will stop our

         12  ongoing battle against poverty.  These will

         13  considerably prolong current economic crisis in

         14  Indonesia.

         15                 5.  In conclusion, it is very clear

         16  that preservation of tropical forest by using

         17  threat, ban, restriction or boycotts on the trade of

         18  tropical timber is counterproductive. To support

         19  this statement allow me to quote the excerpts from

         20  the world prominent conservationists and

         21  environmentalists:

         22                 First, from The Cranbrook Report- A

         23  Mission to Assess the Sustainable Utilization and

         24  Conservation of Tropical Forest and Their Genetic

         25  Resources in Serawak Malaysia.  He stated that, "The
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          2  ban cannot do what it claimed for it, i.e., save the

          3  world's tropical forests.  For one thing, logging is

          4  such a minor direct cost of tropical deforestation

          5  that even if all logging ceased, there would only be

          6  a slight reduction in the global rate of

          7  deforestation."

          8                 The second statement from Prince

          9  Bernhard of the Netherlands, President of WWF

         10  Netherelands.  "All measures - -

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Is that the last

         12  statement or? I'm sorry, go ahead.

         13                 MR. GINAPUTRA: The second, yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Yes.

         15                 MR. GINAPUTRA:  "All measures

         16  prohibiting the import of tropical hardwood are

         17  counterproductive and therefore do not solve the

         18  problem of tropical forests."

         19                 In view of forest function,

         20  therefore, the sustainable forest management whether

         21  of tropical, temperate and/or boreal does not

         22  recognize any form of discrimination.

         23                 6.  Based on what we have done in

         24  utilizing our forest wealth as previously explained,

         25  Indonesia should be recognized as already doing
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          2  protection to 60.7 percent of its forest land

          3  covering 56.5 percent of its total land area as our

          4  contribution to safeguard the quality of global

          5  environment.

          6                 To indicate our seriousness, on

          7  behalf of 16 million Indonesian people solely

          8  depending their livelihood on forestry sector, we

          9  come here today to solicit for the wise

         10  understanding of the Council of the Great City of

         11  New York, as part of the United States of America,

         12  well- known as a symbol of free trade and fair play.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you very

         15  much.  Thank you all, gentlemen.  Our next panel.

         16  Okay, that is it.  Okay, thank you.  Okay, our next

         17  panel is Hank Cauley from the Forest Stewardship

         18  Council, David Nahwegahbow, I hope that is right,

         19  Algonquins of Barriere Lake, Matthew Porterfield

         20  from the Harrison Institute, Georgetown University,

         21  Ira Rubenstein from the Environmental Business

         22  Association of New York, David Bronstein from

         23  Environmental Lumber Products, and Thomas

         24  Outerbridge from City Green.

         25                 And we are going to have to insist
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          2  that people try and shorten their remarks.

          3  Especially if we have written comments from you, if

          4  you could summarize?

          5                 Okay, before you start, everybody has

          6  to raise their right hand, do you swear to tell the

          7  truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

          8                 ALL:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  All right, thank

         10  you.  Go ahead, and as I said, state your name for

         11  the record.

         12                 MR. CAULEY:  Yes.  Good afternoon,

         13  Chairperson Freed and Council Members Miller,

         14  Moskowitz, White, Quinn and Perkins. My name is Hank

         15  Cauley.  I am the Executive Director of the FSC,

         16  Forest Stewardship Council here in the United

         17  States.  I would like to introduce the panel members

         18  with me, David Nahwegahbow is a First Nations person

         19  from Canada.  He is with the Algonquins of Barriere

         20  Lake.  To my left, Matthew Porterfield of the

         21  Harrison Institute with Georgetown University, Ira

         22  Rubenstein with the Environmental Business

         23  Association of New York, David Bronstein, the

         24  Environmental Lumber Products, and Thomas

         25  Outerbridge of City Green.
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          2                 What I would like to do, is quickly

          3  go through my statement and then also I have a

          4  couple of comments on what was said in the last

          5  panel.  The Forest Stewardship Council is an

          6  independent, international non- profit organization.

          7    It has members that are environmental groups,

          8  businesses, and social organizations.  The FSC,

          9  established in 1993 with input from environmental

         10  organizations as well as loggers, formed a list of

         11  environmentally sound logging practice.  These

         12  practices include harvesting timber at a sustainable

         13  rate indefinitely, maintaining high conservation

         14  value forests, old growth forests in some cases,

         15  maintaining bio-diversity, and being a good neighbor

         16  and employer. Organizations such as SmartWood, which

         17  is part of the Rainforest Alliance, or Scientific

         18  Certifications Systems, use the FSC standards to

         19  evaluate logging company practices.  If a company

         20  passes the assessment then they can label their

         21  products with the FSC brand.  Ultimately, FSC's work

         22  provides consumers with a guarantee that the timber

         23  products they purchased have come from forests that

         24  have been evaluated and certified as being

         25  responsibly managed according to the highest
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          2  standards available.

          3                 The FSC forest principles and

          4  criteria are designed to apply to tropical,

          5  temperate, and boreal forests as well as to

          6  plantations and partially replanted forests, and

          7  thus provide a broad prescription of applicable to a

          8  wide variety of forest types throughout the world.

          9  The principles and criteria are developed by a team

         10  of highly respected individuals, representing the

         11  environmental, economic and social chamber of the

         12  FSC.  These principles and criteria represent the

         13  framework from which regions develop a more detailed

         14  and localized set of standards for certification.

         15  Once regions have developed and approved regional

         16  standards, independent certifiers accredited by FSC,

         17  such as SmartWood or SCS, use those standards for

         18  certification assessments.  Therefore, FSC provides

         19  a tool in its principles and criteria from which

         20  regions develop local-specific standards for use by

         21  independent and third party FSC-accredited

         22  certifiers. Certifiers provide teams of

         23  professionals to assess a potential certified

         24  operation.  This assessment team examine the

         25  operation to determine to what extent it has
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          2  followed the FSC standards for the region and may

          3  pass or fail the operation accordingly.

          4                 On a worldwide basis, FSC now has

          5  over 40 offices and 40 different countries and has

          6  certified or has grown from 0 acres in 1995 to over

          7  50 million acres today.  Here in the United States

          8  there are over 8 million acres, including 700,000

          9  acres of FSC-certified New York State lands.  In

         10  addition to this, in terms of the chain-of-custody,

         11  there are over 1,200 chain-of-custody companies

         12  certified around the world, and 300 chain-of-custody

         13  companies here in the United States.

         14                 FSC's rapid growth is due to its

         15  ability to respect the needs of business while

         16  guaranteeing that the forest product that it comes

         17  from is managed to protect clean water, wildlife,

         18  habitat and recreation.  Companies accounting for at

         19  least 25 percent of total US wood fiber demand have

         20  committed in the last two years to implement

         21  environmentally- sound purchasing policies. These

         22  include exhibiting a preference for FSC certified

         23  forest products, and a commitment to avoid sourcing

         24  from certain forests variously described as

         25  endangered, threatened, old growth and high
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          2  conservation value forest.

          3                 The opportunity to protect and

          4  promote better management of vast amounts of forest

          5  while ensuring the vitality of economic interests is

          6  unprecedented and quite challenging.  Dozens of NGOs

          7  have become critical players in this regard,

          8  including the Natural Resources Defense Council,

          9  World Wildlife Fund, Sierra Club, the Wilderness

         10  Society, Rain Forest Action Network, Greenpeace, The

         11  National Wildlife Federation, and World Resources

         12  Institute.

         13                 I would like to make a couple of

         14  comments on a couple of things that were said and a

         15  couple of clarifications. And in regard to chain-

         16  of- custody, Council Member Gifford asked a question

         17  about what does it really provide, and it is really,

         18  as Francine mentioned, it's really that it provides

         19  reliability so that we can track a product from the

         20  forest floor to the retail floor.  One of the

         21  members of the last panel mentioned that the chain-

         22  of- custody requires a company to open its books,

         23  that is not the case.  You know, what we're looking

         24  for are systems within the company so that we can

         25  track the product and ensure the company has a
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          2  system to track a product through as it moves

          3  through.  I was struck by her comment that the

          4  operation in Guyana would take three to five years

          5  to basically clean up its act, and my first reaction

          6  was, wow, things must be pretty bad if it is going

          7  to take three to five years to clean up the act.

          8  But what better way to accelerate that process of

          9  change then to insist through the market that a

         10  company become certified.

         11                 Another comment that was made was

         12  that, you know, it's true that in many tropical

         13  environments there isn't the same level of clear-

         14  cutting there is here, but I have probably worked in

         15  25 or 30 different countries and I have seen a lot

         16  of clear cutting.  What happens quite often in many

         17  places is that instead of clear- cutting, there will

         18  be high- grading, that is, they will go in and take

         19  the best of, say, a particular species in an area.

         20  So it causes huge ecological imbalance.

         21                 And finally, in regard to the comment

         22  from Indonesian in terms of the forest code.  The

         23  forest code in many countries is quite good on

         24  paper, but in many of these countries the forest

         25  code is not enforced.  What has happened here in the
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          2  United States and around the world is the social

          3  contract between the timber companies and the

          4  consumers has been badly frayed, if not broken.

          5  Third party independent certification can rebuild

          6  that social contract.  This is exactly the message

          7  that was delivered to me by the State Forester of

          8  Pennsylvania, when they got their 2.1 million acres

          9  certified, he said, you know, Hank, you know, I

         10  don't care about, you know, getting more access to

         11  market, it is we're rebuilding our social contract

         12  with the consumers in Pennsylvania. You know, FSC

         13  has the most rigorous standards for certification

         14  and it is an existing global network of 40 national

         15  offices.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, thank you.

         18  I am going to ask, I'm sorry, I know everyone has

         19  been waiting a long time, but we do have your

         20  statements, and we will read them, so it isn't

         21  necessary to read through the entire statement.

         22  Okay, next.

         23                 MR. NAHWEGAHBOW:  Thank you.  My name

         24  is David Nahwegahbow, and I'm from Canada.  I'm a

         25  First Nations person. Also, I'm on the International
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          2  Board of FSC representing the Social Chamber North.

          3  And you have a copy of my statement in front you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Right.

          5                 MR. NAHWEGAHBOW:  And I'm just going

          6  to highlight several aspects of it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you.

          8                 MR. NAHWEGAHBOW:  My main interest in

          9  FSC, and of course, in your bill is in the social

         10  implications, because, of course, I represent the

         11  Social Chamber, and I'm also an indigenous person

         12  from Canada and I feel the impacts of, personally,

         13  directly and many of my clients who I act for, do.

         14                 The second page of presentation

         15  reviews briefly what I have called the principles or

         16  the foundational aspects of your bill, which I think

         17  are significant.  There is a reference to the fact

         18  that communities depend on healthy forests, I

         19  believe this is important.  It may be a simple

         20  proposition, but it is often forgotten by forestry

         21  companies who are preoccupied with profit, and often

         22  forgotten by urban people who are some distance from

         23  forestry impacts.  So I believe that is an important

         24  aspect coming from the social dimension, a very

         25  important aspect of the bill.
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          2                 The second component or the second

          3  important aspect that I like to refer to is the fact

          4  that the bill specifically refers to the impacts of

          5  past and destructive forestry operations on

          6  indigenous peoples.  You have heard something about

          7  the impacts on indigenous peoples before you today,

          8  already, and the context of tropical forests, but it

          9  is not limited to tropical forests, you have similar

         10  impacts even in Canada.

         11                 The third aspect that I believe is

         12  very significant, of course, is the reference to

         13  FSC.  Being on the FSC Board I regard FSC as being,

         14  basically, as I have heard here in other testimony,

         15  setting a high standard in forestry certification.

         16  And I believe FSC distinguishes itself as being, I

         17  believe, the only forestry certification system that

         18  deals with social issues and in the way it does.

         19                 I have addressed, under heading

         20  number 3, social dimensions of FSC certification.  I

         21  talk to them specifically in reference to the

         22  principles underlying your bill.  I want to

         23  emphasize that FSC, as I have indicated, is

         24  preoccupied with social issues, it's not just

         25  economic and environmental issues, but social
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          2  issues.  These are important because of the fact of

          3  human condition.  Unfortunately, because they are

          4  very difficult to document, very difficult to

          5  measure, social impacts are often the ones that are

          6  left by the wayside or left on the back burner.

          7                 FSC has taken a very aggressive

          8  stance, a very ambitious program on social issues,

          9  and I would like to indicate that the social

         10  dimensions are covered in some of the most important

         11  principles, which I consider, in the FSC principles

         12  and criteria.  Those are principles 2, 3, 4 and 5,

         13  and they are intended to safeguard the rights and

         14  interest of forest workers, indigenous peoples,

         15  community forests and small enterprise operators in

         16  the forest.

         17                 Lastly, I would like to address the

         18  issues of indigenous peoples in Canada.  As I

         19  indicated earlier, forestry operations continue to

         20  have devastating impacts on cultures and the

         21  traditional economies of indigenous peoples in

         22  Canada.  And this is due to the fact that laws in

         23  Canada, particularly forestry laws don't properly

         24  recognize and protect the rights of indigenous

         25  peoples.  Indigenous rights are often described in
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          2  very general terms in treaties and other documents,

          3  and in some instances, in the case of Aboriginal

          4  title, which covers most of British Columbia, the

          5  rights are not even actually prescribed or described

          6  in writing, and the reaction of governments is that

          7  you have to go to court to establish your rights.

          8  Unfortunately, indigenous peoples in Canada are

          9  probably the most disadvantaged and are unable to

         10  afford to go to court, and in fact, the Governor

         11  General in Canada has indicated that indigenous

         12  peoples in Canada live in Third World conditions

         13  compared to the rest of the other country, it's

         14  appalling.

         15                 This brings me to what I believe is a

         16  submission of the Canadian Consulate.  I believe

         17  they're not opposed to FSC certification and the

         18  specific reference to FSC in the bill. However, they

         19  want inclusion of other systems, specifically the

         20  CSA.

         21                 And I don't have time to undertake an

         22  exhaustive comparison between the FSC and CSA, but I

         23  will say that from an indigenous perspective that

         24  the CSA is inadequate.  Principle 3 of FSC

         25  principles and criteria requires recognition and
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          2  respect for the tenure of indigenous peoples and

          3  requires their informed consent to certification.

          4  On the other hand, the CSA makes it very clear that

          5  only "duly established" rights are recognized.  And

          6  this, of course, is an easy way to bypass the rights

          7  of indigenous peoples because the government takes a

          8  position that you have to go to court to establish

          9  your rights.  And, of course, this simply

         10  perpetuates the status quo of denial and non-

         11  recognition of indigenous rights and the devastating

         12  impacts that come with it.

         13                 In conclusion, I urge you to maintain

         14  within Bill 784, the principles I have referred to

         15  above, and furthermore, I urge you to enact the bill

         16  into law.

         17                 This will be a very significant step

         18  for your City, for FSC and the world.  Its effects

         19  will clearly reach beyond your City limits.  It will

         20  send a strong signal that society must aim high in

         21  establishing standards for certification even though

         22  it may be difficult.  It will also give reasons for

         23  optimism for forest dependent peoples and workers

         24  throughout the world that their concerns have not

         25  been forgotten by their urban brothers and sisters.
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          2                 In closing, I want to thank you,

          3  Madam Chair, and I want to thank you, Committee

          4  members and the City of New York for providing me

          5  the opportunity to make this presentation.  Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you.  Next.

          8                 MR. PORTERFIELD:  My name is Matt

          9  Porterfield.  I am a Senior Fellow and Adjunct

         10  Professor of Law at Georgetown's Law School's

         11  Harrison Institute for Public Law.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you, and

         13  you submitted six pages.

         14                 MR. PORTERFIELD:  Right.  I will keep

         15  my statement brief.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you,

         17  because we actually have to be out of this room

         18  soon, so I'm trying to rush people.  I know everyone

         19  has waited, but.

         20                 MR. PORTERFIELD:  I will give you the

         21  one minute version then.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Terrific.  We

         23  will read it.

         24                 MR. PORTERFIELD:  I have reviewed the

         25  local law, and it is my opinion that it is a
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          2  permissible exercise of the City's authority to

          3  determine what materials it will buy.  It should be

          4  a fairly, unremarkable conclusion.

          5                 Apparently, there has been some

          6  concerns that the law could be challenged on similar

          7  grounds that were used to challenger the

          8  Massachusetts Burma Law, both before the WTO and in

          9  the Federal Court.

         10                 Briefly, on the trade issue the

         11  relevant trade issues governing procurement, the

         12  relevant agreement is called, The Government

         13  Procurement Agreement, and it does not apply to any

         14  municipal procurement.  It applies to the 37 of the

         15  50 states, but to no procurement by any

         16  municipality.  So that is a non- issue.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay.

         18                 MR. PORTERFIELD:  The proposed law is

         19  distinct from the Massachusetts Burma Law in several

         20  ways that would not render it subject to a similar

         21  attack in the Federal Courts.  So as non

         22  discriminatory, it is not directed at trying to

         23  influence the policies of any particular government,

         24  and it is limited to only dictating the conditions

         25  of contracts with the City.  It does not go to any
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          2  conduct by businesses that is unrelated to their

          3  contracts with the City.  So it would not be subject

          4  to any challenge on similar grounds to those used by

          5  the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court in

          6  striking down the Massachusetts Burma Law.

          7                 In the interest of brevity, I will

          8  leave it at that, and I will be glad to answer any

          9  questions you have about any of those issues.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you very

         11  much.  Okay, anyone else?  Okay, and again, I'm

         12  going to ask people to be brief. Yes.

         13                 MR. BRONSTEIN:  Madam Chairperson and

         14  Council members, my name is David Bronstein from

         15  Environmental Lumber Products in Brooklyn, New York.

         16    I am here representing Trimex Structural Plastic

         17  Lumber and a small business in the City of New York.

         18                 I'm going to limit my remarks to the

         19  City of New York and the business community, and how

         20  I feel this bill is beneficial to us.  We distribute

         21  recycled plastic lumber, or what is referred to in

         22  the legislation is environmentally preferable

         23  building materials.  I have some of the product

         24  here, in case you might not be familiar with some of

         25  these items, but they are here, they are viable,
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          2  they're commercially viable and are being used, as

          3  was said before, in the City of New York by the

          4  Parks Department and other agencies.  You can see

          5  from these products that this is very fine material.

          6                 I'm going to limit remarks to three

          7  specific reasons that I think this bill is

          8  beneficial to New York City.

          9                 Number one, being the most obvious,

         10  is jobs.  This bill if the material is used and

         11  specified in the of City of New York will create

         12  jobs.  I have hired several people in my business,

         13  unskilled workers that have derived jobs from this

         14  because of the sale and distribution of our

         15  products, as well as the other effects of the

         16  business here in terms of services that would be

         17  utilized.

         18                 The second reason that this bill is

         19  very important is because of the environment.  We

         20  have been talking a lot about the environment.

         21  However, what is particular to our product or

         22  recycled plastic lumber is thus, plastic lumber as

         23  an alternative, it makes use of recycled materials.

         24  Materials that would normally go into landfill, old

         25  laundry detergent bottles, milk cartons, are now

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  made into a product that is even better than the

          3  product was originally designed for.  This product

          4  is also better than the products it is designed to

          5  replace.  These products are non- toxic, they are

          6  used the same way you build with lumber, and as the

          7  gentleman before said, not as strong as natural

          8  lumber, yes, to an extent that is true, that these

          9  products are not as strong, however, they still are

         10  structural and come close, and if originally

         11  designed to use this product, designs will suffice

         12  to the intentions of boardwalks as they are planned.

         13                 These products, as I said, are non-

         14  toxic and will help to contribute to the quality of

         15  the water around New York City.  As you know, the

         16  water quality in the City has gotten so much better

         17  that Marine boars are now eating all the piers in

         18  the rivers and have to be replaced.  Marine boars

         19  will not eat this, and this is a viable alternative

         20  to what is there now.

         21                 As well as with playground equipment

         22  where we all know about pressure treated lumber and

         23  the hazards there and the creosote, this is a clean

         24  product that has no down sides.

         25                 The last item that I will address my
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          2  remarks to, which has been discussed around here is

          3  the cost of products, such as these, and the impact

          4  that this bill will have on the City in terms of

          5  costs.  In using these products, such as recycled

          6  plastic lumber, this will actually help the City

          7  reduce its cost and reduce the cost to the City.

          8  Mainly, when you take the cost, and if everybody

          9  goes, the upfront costs of the products, yes, this

         10  is more expensive than lumber.  However, if

         11  amortized over the life of the product, this is much

         12  more cost- effective and will pay for itself.  Also,

         13  in construction the cost of the material is

         14  relatively insignificant to the cost of labor, for

         15  the installation, and nobody mentioned maintenance.

         16                 Environmentally preferable building

         17  materials, such as plastic lumber, require no

         18  maintenance, they require no staining, sealing.  You

         19  put them in once and this particular product comes

         20  with a 50- year limited warranty, which will outlast

         21  all pressure treated and creosote lumbers.

         22                 So I urge the Council when they are

         23  faced with questions about the costs involved and

         24  that this is much more money, over the duration of

         25  the product this will pay for itself, with 50 years
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          2  it will last longer than anything else.

          3                 So in closing, I would like to say

          4  that from a business standpoint, an economical

          5  standpoint to the City of New York, the creation of

          6  jobs, to protect the environment, and for the cost-

          7  effectiveness to the City of New York, this is a

          8  win/win/win bill for the City.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, thank you.

         11  And last person from this panel.

         12                 MR. OUTERBRIDGE:  Good afternoon.  My

         13  name is Thomas Outerbridge.  I'm the President of

         14  City Green, and I will also try to make these

         15  remarks very brief.

         16                 I'm here to testify in support of

         17  Intro. 784, but I do want to point out that I think

         18  in your rewrite of it you need to address the

         19  definition for recycled material.  The Intro. 784

         20  refers to a definition for recycled materials from a

         21  separate set of City law, and I think if you read

         22  that you will find that it does not really apply for

         23  synthetic lumber products.  Most synthetic lumber

         24  products are composite materials, which means they

         25  are made from about 50 percent plastic and 50
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          2  percent wood and 50 percent sawdust.  Right now

          3  sawdust is not part of the definition for recycling,

          4  and it is going to be further complicated by the

          5  fact that if the sawdust comes from wood that is not

          6  FSC certified, I'm not sure how the procurement

          7  agent deals with that issue.

          8                 Nevertheless, I do want to support

          9  it, and I support it, particularly from the

         10  perspective of the incentive they could provide to

         11  the development in production of alternative

         12  building products fabricated from locally produced

         13  waste materials, as the speaker before me mentioned.

         14                 My company, City Green, we have

         15  licensed the technology to make lumber products out

         16  of recycled glass.  New York City collects about

         17  100,000 tons a year of recycled glass.  It is the

         18  second largest material in the recyclable stream

         19  after paper, and there are very, very limited

         20  markets for this material at this point.  The City

         21  pays to have it disposed of.  The technology we have

         22  licensed we can incorporate up to 80 percent of low-

         23  grade mixed glass in the fabrication of a whole host

         24  of lumber products.

         25                 This is just a section of a Type C
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          2  bench board, which is used by the Department of

          3  Parks and Recreation, as well as the Housing

          4  Authority.  We have a number of these out installed

          5  out in Ozone Park.  And as mentioned by the previous

          6  speaker, there are a number of other manufacturers

          7  of structural and non- structural synthetic building

          8  materials from waste products.  A number of these

          9  are located in the Metropolitan area.

         10                 Just mentioning briefly, this Intro.

         11  784, I believe, dovetails with a number of other

         12  issues faced by other agencies. In the area, as I

         13  mentioned, the Department of Sanitation's Export

         14  Budget, or total budget is now a billion dollars a

         15  year.  And so, as part of, in that context, they

         16  have been looking at waste prevention, including

         17  they conducted a life span cost benefit analysis of

         18  recycled park bench board, this is the Department of

         19  Sanitation's own consultant.  And their conclusion

         20  was a net annual savings to the City of $2.81 per

         21  bench made with synthetic boards. And about 23

         22  percent of that is attributed to savings in avoided

         23  cost disposal, disposal costs and the other, the

         24  balance to reduce maintenance, and purchase price,

         25  again, over a life span basis.
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          2                 And also, as mentioned, the New York

          3  Harbor is in serious state of decay.  They're

          4  estimating about a billion dollars worth of repair

          5  and maintenance costs in the coming years.  The City

          6  has participated to some extent in exploring the use

          7  of synthetics in waterfront applications.  The State

          8  and Federal Government are also doing work in this

          9  area.

         10                 I will just leave it at, and thank

         11  you for the opportunity to testify.  I have a

         12  written comment here.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you.  You

         14  last two gentlemen, do you have New York City

         15  contracts?

         16                 MR. OUTERBRIDGE:  We do not.  We have

         17  been supplying boards on a trial basis through one

         18  of the City's own contractors.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay.

         20                 MR. BRONSTEIN:  Yes, and we have

         21  supplied to contractors doing work for the

         22  Department of Parks.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, thank you,

         24  and thank you very much for testifying.

         25                 Let me get the next panel.  Okay,
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          2  it's Suzanne Madden as the Director of State

          3  Government Affairs, The American Forest and Paper

          4  Association, and Brad Williams, Senior Manager,

          5  Sustainable Forest and Forest Policy, and Tom Tevlin

          6  from the Forest Alliance, Joel Neuheimer from Forest

          7  Products Association, Canada, and John Burrows from

          8  the Canadian Wood Council.

          9                 And again, if you have statements,

         10  make sure that the Sergeant- At- Arms gets them.

         11  And if everyone who is going to testify could raise

         12  their right hands, please?  And do you all swear to

         13  tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

         14  truth?

         15                 ALL:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Okay, great.  And

         17  again as you testify, please, state your name for

         18  the record, and we would appreciative if you could

         19  sort of sum up as much as possible. Thank you.

         20                 MS. MADDEN:  My name is Suzanne

         21  Madden.  I'm the Director of State Government

         22  Affairs for American Forest and Paper Association.

         23  AF&PA is a trade association for the majority of

         24  forestry and paper and wood products produced

         25  domestically.  We represent over 160 members here in
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          2  the US, who range in interest from small private

          3  land owners to family mills to major and large

          4  multi- product producers.  I'm here on behalf of

          5  those members to, one, express support for the goals

          6  of Intro. 784.  But also to express deep concern

          7  with the means by which you're trying to achieve

          8  these goals.

          9                 We are supporters of certification as

         10  in marketplace activity.  In fact, several years

         11  ago, we created certification program ourselves

         12  covering Sustainable Forestry Initiative or SFI. We

         13  have particular concerns because our SFI program is

         14  a condition of membership in AF&PA.  We have already

         15  kicked out over 15 members for not abiding by the

         16  SFI program, and as an association we really, we

         17  rely on our members money for livelihood really.  So

         18  for us to kick them out is pretty significant.

         19                 My colleague, Brad Williams, will

         20  talk a little bit more about this certification, the

         21  facts and figures on that certification program.

         22  But our main concerns with this bill are one, the

         23  specific mention of FSC only, it creates a de facto

         24  monopoly, which really goes counter to a US

         25  marketplace that emphasizes choice.  And we urge you
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          2  to embrace recognition of all the certification

          3  programs that are available globally that meet

          4  certain standards, such as SFI, Tree Farm, the

          5  Canadian and other international standards.

          6                 Logistically, we're afraid for your

          7  procurement agencies due to the lack of FSC-

          8  certified land, generally, but also in North

          9  America, in particular, that it will increase

         10  inefficiency, it will decrease timeliness and

         11  increase the cost for your procurement agencies here

         12  in New York City.

         13                 Our third concern was mentioned

         14  before by Council Member Miller, that in the

         15  legislation, the language in the legislation really

         16  creates a bias against wood and wood products by not

         17  including it in the definition of "environmentally

         18  preferable material."  Wood comes from sustainable

         19  and renewable resource, it soaks up carbon- dioxide.

         20    It takes less energy to produce a product made of

         21  wood than alternative materials, and in these times

         22  energy is certainly a crisis that we're all facing.

         23  And in the language it creates a bias against wood,

         24  despite all of these things.

         25                 We are committed to working with you
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          2  to come up with an effective procurement policy, but

          3  one that would include other certification programs,

          4  such as SFI, and that would also take out the

          5  language that creates a bias against wood and wood

          6  products. Demanding wood products helps us to

          7  maintain open forest lands that otherwise would be

          8  taken over by urban sprawl and agriculture.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED:  Thank you.  And

         11  as we said, we will be working on the bill.  Okay.

         12                 MR. WILLIAMS:  My name is Brad

         13  Williams.  I'm the Senior Manager of Sustainable

         14  Forestry and Forest Policy with the American Forest

         15  and Paper Association.  I'm a registered forester

         16  with a Master Degree in Forestry Resource

         17  Conservation.  For the last 10 years, or for the

         18  first 10 years of my career, actually, I worked in

         19  protected lands management.  For the last 10 years

         20  of my career, I have worked in Forestry, and

         21  particularly in the last five years, I have had the

         22  privilege to work with the SFI program with the

         23  American Forest and Paper Association.  My respect

         24  to this Commission for wrestling with this 800-

         25  pound gorilla called certification.
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          2                 My testimony, I will be brief as

          3  possible, but I would like to hit some highlights

          4  here.  First of all, the SFI was developed with

          5  input from professional foresters, conservationists

          6  and scientists, forest landowners, loggers, and

          7  academicians. AF&PA developed and adopted this

          8  sustainable forestry initiative back in 1994.  The

          9  SFI program, it's goal is to manage forests, to meet

         10  the needs of the present without comprising future

         11  generations own needs, by practicing a sustainable

         12  land stewardship ethic.

         13                 The program, which has third party

         14  certification as a major component, requires strict

         15  compliance with the number of stewardship

         16  principles.  These include conservation of soil,

         17  air, water quality, wildlife, fish habitat, bio-

         18  diversity conservation, and of course, aesthetics. A

         19  multi- state coded sustainable forestry board

         20  evaluates and monitors the SFI standard and the

         21  certification process.  The SFB, for short, is

         22  comprised of over 60 percent outside stakeholders,

         23  including environmental and conservation groups,

         24  such as The Foreign Conservation International and

         25  the Isaac Walton League.  Also composed of
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          2  professional and academic organizations, such as the

          3  Society for American Foresters, and also has a non-

          4  industrial private landowner on the board, as well

          5  as loggers' representation.

          6                 There are approximately 94 million

          7  acres enrolled in the SFI in North America, and of

          8  that about 80 million acres are going to completed

          9  certification by the end of the year or committed to

         10  third party certification.  The SFI program is the

         11  largest sustainable forestry certification program

         12  in the world.

         13                 Our program participants in SFI

         14  represent 85 percent of the domestic wood

         15  production, 50 percent of the solid wood production,

         16  85 percent of the structural panel production and 95

         17  percent of the industrial timberlands in the United

         18  States.  And, you know, State land alone over

         19  727,000 acres are in the SFI, this includes 14,000

         20  acres with the Conservation Farm.  Finch Pruyn has

         21  over 166,000 acres in it, Hancock Timber Resource

         22  Group has over 138,000 and Paul Smith's College has

         23  over 12,000 acres.

         24                 The FSC is a certification system

         25  that rewards selected individuals for commendable
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          2  forest products or forest management operations, and

          3  they should be commended for that. However, the SFI

          4  program is a rising tide, lifting the practices of

          5  sustainable forestry across North America by

          6  investing millions of dollars in education for

          7  foresters, loggers, landowners and the public to

          8  ensure commendable practices become the norm across

          9  North America on our forested landscapes today.

         10                 Through the Sustainable Forestry

         11  Program we have trained over 50,000 loggers in

         12  sustainable forestry practices, we have made more

         13  than 350,000 landowner contacts giving advice and

         14  giving them materials in sustainable forestry.  We

         15  have entered into, other member companies have

         16  entered, or participants in Sustainable Forestry

         17  Initiative have entered over 27 million acres into

         18  conservation, wildlife agreements.  We have also

         19  invested more than $317 million on research, on bio-

         20  diversity conservation, wildlife management, eco-

         21  system management and the environment, and we have

         22  reforested more than 8 million acres of land since

         23  1994.

         24                 The SFI program has often been

         25  accused by many, or by many environmental groups are
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          2  being tied to the industry.  That it is a program

          3  initiated by the industry and therefore it is like a

          4  fox guarding the hen house.  We vehemently refute

          5  that, basically, because it's not true, that all

          6  lands or that all lands are good through

          7  certification in the SFI program are third party

          8  certified.

          9                 And ironically this leads to another

         10  question.  The FSC is a program that certifies the

         11  certifiers that certify the land owners.  And that

         12  is not the case with the Sustainable Forestry

         13  Initiative.  The American National Standards

         14  Institute, which is recognized nationally and

         15  internationally has the standard setting, or the

         16  Institute for Certifying organizations that want to

         17  go through a process of setting their standards and

         18  then having their companies certified, they certify

         19  those certifiers, they are the independent.  And the

         20  AF&PA's SFI program goes through this process, so it

         21  is a standard that is totally independent when it

         22  comes to certification.

         23                 Finally, I would like to close this

         24  just by saying that you do a disservice to millions

         25  and millions of landowners in the US by simply
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          2  referring to one certification system in this

          3  document.  And, finally, that there is an

          4  opportunity, if you would like to review the

          5  similarities and difference between the SFI and

          6  other certification programs, actually the SFI and

          7  the FSC. Presently, there is an ongoing compared to

          8  analysis commissioned by Home Depot in which FSC and

          9  SFI are both participating, and in September there

         10  should be some results from that study that will be

         11  made public.  And I would urge this Committee to

         12  wait till September to see those results before you

         13  continue with this bill just naming one

         14  certification party.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Sure.

         17  Just for a point of reference, the bill doesn't, it

         18  names one agency, but does not prohibit the City

         19  from designating others.

         20                 Our next witnesses are John Burrows,

         21  Joel Neuheimer, and Tom Tevlin.  You can all come

         22  up.  Or you have all been sworn in?  I'm relieved.

         23  Just go ahead and identify yourselves for the record

         24  and have it?

         25                 MR. NEUHEIMER:  Can I speak first?
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          2  My name is Joel Neuheimer.  I'm with the Forest

          3  Products Association of Canada, and thank you very

          4  much for the invitation to appear before this

          5  distinguished Committee.  In principle, we support

          6  what you are to do here in this bill.

          7                 Our reason for coming is that we have

          8  recommendations that we feel you could use to make

          9  it even better. So we certainly hope that you will

         10  consider those, and we have three key issues that we

         11  have identified from our perspective and relation to

         12  this bill that we would like to address specifically

         13  today.

         14                 One is your use of terminology, two

         15  is your definition of Forest Certification systems,

         16  and three is your definition of environmentally

         17  preferable products.

         18                 More than 18.2 billion board feet of

         19  timber from Canada's forests was exported to the

         20  United States in 1999, and based on US import data

         21  this represents a 34 percent market share. Only 0.25

         22  percent of Canada's forests are harvested by the

         23  industry annually and according to the World's

         24  Resources Institute Data Tables for 2000- 2001, with

         25  82 million acres, Canada has the most protected
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          2  forests as a nation in the world.

          3                 Due to the fact that the public owns

          4  over 90 percent of Canada's forest lands, Canadian

          5  forest products companies must operate within a

          6  strict set of provincial regulations and national

          7  criteria and indicators.

          8                 By the year 2000, approximately 124

          9  million acres of Canadian forest land was protected

         10  for conservation by legislation, in addition to the

         11  forests protected by provincial policies and

         12  operational guidelines.  This is more than four

         13  times the size of New York State.

         14                 In order to avoid any unnecessary

         15  discrimination in the implementation of your

         16  proposed procurement policy, it's terminology should

         17  be consistent with already existing international

         18  and national agreements on sustainable forest

         19  management.  This is critical given that as recent a

         20  academic study, included as an attachment to our

         21  submission, indicates many existing forest

         22  definitions, such as endangered forest lack

         23  scientific validity, and the internationally agreed

         24  to language I'm referring to is that language which

         25  is coming out of the United Nations discussions on
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          2  forest, the current forum looking at this is known

          3  as the United Nations Forum on Forests.

          4                 The trend in the marketplace towards

          5  a preference for certified forest products is

          6  encouraging as it indicates a public awareness of

          7  forest stewardship issues.  What many groups seem to

          8  have forgotten is that the original and most

          9  important objective of certification is to improve

         10  forest management and certify that it is being done

         11  well based on sound science and through a third

         12  party independent audit.

         13                 To address these issues and to ensure

         14  that marketplace demands really do drive sustainable

         15  forest management practices, the industry has been

         16  active on a number of fronts, including the

         17  development of a framework to link various

         18  certification schemes around the world through a

         19  system of mutual recognition.  The intent of mutual

         20  recognition is to provide a critical mass of

         21  credibly certified wood products by recognizing that

         22  different certification systems can provide

         23  substantively equivalent standards of sustainable

         24  forest management.

         25                 As of today, over 109 million acres
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          2  of forest land across Canada has been certified,

          3  giving Canada the most certified area as a nation in

          4  the world.  And surveys indicate that Canadian

          5  companies expect to certify up to 227 million acres

          6  by the end of 2003.

          7                 There are currently four types of

          8  forest certification used in Canada.  They are:

          9                 The Canadian Standards Association;

         10                 Forest Stewardship Council;

         11                 ISO 14001, and;

         12                 The American- based Sustainable

         13  Forestry Initiative Program.

         14                 A summary of the latest forest

         15  certification results in Canada is included as an

         16  attachment to this submission.

         17                 And I will leave there, and I will

         18  turn it over to my colleague, Tom Tevlin.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Thank

         20  you.

         21                 MR. TEVLIN:  My name is Tom Tevlin,

         22  and I'm the President of the Forest Alliance of BC

         23  in Vancover, Canada.  As the proceedings go on this

         24  afternoon, I just exercise another paragraph or two,

         25  so I'm really down to the skin and bones here, and I
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          2  appreciate your patience.

          3                 I just want to say, first of all,

          4  that my organization are full members of the Forest

          5  Stewardship Council and the US Green Buildings

          6  Council and other groups, we have consulted a status

          7  as an NGO at the United Nations.  We're very engaged

          8  in sustainable forest management issues and in

          9  certification.

         10                 In our view, certainly, it's

         11  generally known that forest certification is

         12  relatively new, for example, just two years ago

         13  there were no certifications in my Province of

         14  British Columbia on the west coast of Canada.

         15  Today, virtually every major BC Forest company is

         16  certified to one or more of the available standards.

         17    There is also a growing trend that has been

         18  established toward producers applying for a range of

         19  systems depending on their markets and customers

         20  adopting wood procurement policies that give

         21  preference to a variety of rigorous, forest

         22  certification standards.  We call that inclusive

         23  procurement, where, as Joel, my colleague, has just

         24  mentioned, you mentioned Forest Stewardship Council,

         25  CSA, SFI, and ISO, the four main models, kind of an
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          2  alphabet soup sounding, but four very credible and

          3  rigorous standards.  We say, if you mention one in a

          4  procurement policy, you ought mention four,

          5  otherwise, merely say what you want to achieve by

          6  describing the model you're looking for,

          7  independent, credible, third party certification, if

          8  you like, a chain- of- custody in the model, you

          9  should say so.

         10                 Groups like the California League of

         11  Cities, home builders, home improvement retailers,

         12  and name brand Fortune 500 companies are finding

         13  that inclusive procurement policies ensure that both

         14  they're getting a quality product in required

         15  quantities and they're buying products throughout

         16  from well managed forests.

         17                 I want to give you one example of

         18  what happens when a procurement policy gets a little

         19  bit too restrictive, and the example is B&Q.  B&Q is

         20  a large UK- based Home Improvement Retailer, I liken

         21  it to the Home Depot of the UK.  The company has

         22  been a staunch supporter of the Forest Stewardship

         23  Council and for many years was a staunch supporter

         24  of Forest Stewardship Council only in their

         25  procurement policy.  They had in place, until
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          2  recently, an FSC only forest product, procurement

          3  policy, somewhat like the one brought before Council

          4  today. B&Q soon found that policy to be too

          5  restrictive, recently they have written, "This has

          6  resulted, this FSC only approach has resulted in a

          7  situation where we have not been able to buy

          8  otherwise competitive products from well managed

          9  forests, for the sole reason that they have the

         10  wrong label on a package."  For that reason B&Q

         11  revised its policy to be more inclusive and is

         12  currently spearheading an initiative toward

         13  cooperation, and I'm hoping, eventually toward

         14  mutual recognition of different systems.

         15                 Let me just close with a word on

         16  chain- of- custody, if I may?  In this new area of

         17  certified forest practices, emerging certification

         18  systems have their strengths and their weaknesses,

         19  because of the fact that this is a new discussion

         20  that we're involved in.  Forest Stewardship Council

         21  is well known for its chain- of- custody, its been

         22  slow to build an inventory of certified forest, I

         23  think primarily because it has yet to complete or we

         24  have all, I suppose, yet to have completed a

         25  regional FSC standard for my part of the world,
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          2  British Columbia and also for other areas. In other

          3  words, very strong chain- of- custody system, but

          4  really in terms of inventory on the ground they are

          5  not there yet.

          6                 CSA, perhaps, can be seen to be the

          7  converse.  They have an increasing inventory of

          8  certified forest products and similarly a regular

          9  set of forest principles, criteria and indicators,

         10  but they have yet to introduce a chain- of- custody

         11  system, they are going to do that this summer, and

         12  it is going to be a very rigorous, I'm told, equally

         13  rigorous system to that of the Forest Stewardship

         14  Council.

         15                 SFI, you have already heard about.

         16  They also have plans in connection with on product

         17  labeling.

         18                 And the key point, I would say, is

         19  that no one system at this stage should be discarded

         20  over any other, because of these various different

         21  component weaknesses or strengths.  Some companies

         22  have been successful even in picking forestry

         23  management from one certification system and chain-

         24  of- custody from another, combining them and then

         25  delivering that into the marketplace.  At one point
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          2  I think harmonization and mutual recognition are

          3  probably going to occur among these systems, but

          4  until that happens I would say that today is a time

          5  for encouraging all systems.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Thank

          7  you.  Finally, not finally, sorry.  Finally on this

          8  panel.

          9                 MR. BURROWS: Thank you.  My name is

         10  John Burrows, and I'm representing the Canadian Wood

         11  Council.

         12                 I hope you all recognize that all

         13  construction materials have an effect on the

         14  environment.   In addition, all materials have

         15  advantages and disadvantages, if not used properly,

         16  for example, wood decays, steel corrodes, and

         17  concrete spirals. Likewise, our materials have

         18  strengths and weaknesses environmentally, wood comes

         19  from a renewable resource, but requires harvesting,

         20  steel is easy to recycle, but requires an enormous

         21  amount of energy to manufacture.

         22                 Engineers, architects, builders,

         23  homeowners and Councils, like yourselves, are

         24  struggling to make sense of conflicting information

         25  about materials and their uses.  Life cycle
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          2  assessment is an emerging and logical method for

          3  comparing one material to another over the entire

          4  life cycle of a product or material.  It includes

          5  considering the environmental impact of products

          6  from the extraction stage, manufacturing stage,

          7  transportation to the site, use and the post- use

          8  disposal.

          9                 The background information that is

         10  included, includes a pamphlet that is called,

         11   "Comparing the Environmental Effects of Building

         12  Systems," it's based on life cycle assessment. The

         13  methodology used includes taking into account forest

         14  management practices, you may acquisition of

         15  materials as it does mining for steel and other such

         16  products.  ATHENA and BEES are two emerging North

         17  American systems for assessing one product versus

         18  another one.  BEES is developed under the National

         19  Institute for Science and Technology.  The brochure

         20  that I mentioned uses ATHENA to compare a small

         21  office building that was built using wood, steel and

         22  concrete.  Six key measures of the impacting

         23  environment were used to compare the materials.

         24  Wood had an advantage in all six areas, for example,

         25  in terms of energy used during the full life cycle,
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          2  concrete requires 1.7 times the energy of wood for

          3  this office building, and steel required 2.4 times

          4  the energy that wood did for this office building.

          5                 Life cycle assessment is a way of

          6  looking at products over their full range, products

          7  like plastic lumber that we heard about today and

          8  the switch that the City has made to stainless steel

          9  for some uses, may on the surface appear to be a

         10  good environmental decision to make, but life cycle

         11  assessment is a way of considering all the stages of

         12  a material to find out whether it is, in fact, the

         13  best material to be using environmentally.  In

         14  proper life cycle context, wood from well managed

         15  forest is a material that can be used in good

         16  conscience.

         17                 In summary for the three of us, we

         18  urge you to adopt terminology that has been agreed

         19  upon nationally and internationally.

         20                 Secondly, we urge you to recognize

         21  the full range of certification, but from

         22  independent third party verifiable options.

         23                 And lastly, in your determination of

         24  environmentally funded products, we urge you to

         25  adopt life cycle assessment as a logical methodology
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          2  for assessing this complex issue, and we urge you to

          3  apply the same level of scrutiny that you're

          4  applying for wood products to all of the materials

          5  that are used by the City of New York.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Thank

          8  you.  And I know you submitted to our Counsel

          9  suggestive language, and we will certainly be

         10  considering that.

         11                 Our next panel is Ned Daly, Tim

         12  Keating, Stephen Chenault, and Mike Roselle.

         13                 First, I have to swear you in.  So

         14  you have to raise your right hand, and do you

         15  promise that everything that you will testify will

         16  be the truth, and the whole truth, and nothing but

         17  the truth?

         18                 ALL:  I do.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  And then

         20  you need to identify yourselves for the record when

         21  you begin your remarks, because there are unseen

         22  minions who are transcribing this and they cannot

         23  see you.

         24                 MR. DALY:  My name is Edward Daly.

         25  I'm the Forest Policy Director with the Consumers'
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          2  Choice Council.  And the Council is a coalition of

          3  about 65 organizations all focused on consumer

          4  labeling certification and consumer information.  So

          5  a number of our member organizations have testified

          6  today, so I'm not even going to make any remarks,

          7  other than introducing my fellow panelists.  And

          8  just to say that the industry panels that came

          9  before us mentioned that SFI and some of the other

         10  industry standards are really starting to move up

         11  and trying to get closer to the FSC, and I think

         12  that is true.  And I think they should be applauded

         13  for the work they're doing, but they're not where

         14  they should be, they need to bring it up a little

         15  farther.  And I applaud the City of New York for

         16  holding the bar with the FSC and using that as that

         17  as the criteria for this bill.

         18                 So why don't we start with Tim

         19  Keating, who is the Director of Rainforest Relief,

         20  based here in New York City.

         21                 MR. KEATING:  Thank you, Council

         22  Member Miller. Couple of clarifications I would like

         23  to make on some of the comments that were made

         24  earlier.  One comment was that recycled plastic

         25  lumber is three times the cost of wood currently
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          2  being sold to the City, and that is actually not

          3  quite accurate.  William G. Moore is selling some

          4  recycled plastic lumber, railroad ties to New York

          5  City, polywood railroad ties, I believe go for about

          6  twice as much as the African Rainforest woods,

          7  actually not as the African Rainforest, as the

          8  domestic hardwoods, creosote domestic hardwoods. But

          9  African Rainforest woods currently being used by MTA

         10  for subway track ties are quite more than that,

         11  however, it is important to understand that recycled

         12  plastic lumber will last possibly five times longer

         13  than these other materials.  So over time you're

         14  going to save quite of lot, even though the upfront

         15  cost might be a little more, and that is just for

         16  railroad ties.  Recycled plastic decking is actually

         17  in line with tropical hardwoods, and that can be

         18  used for boardwalk construction, bench slats, et

         19  cetera.  So, you know, William G. Moore doesn't sell

         20  that currently though.

         21                 Also, the Indonesian Plywood

         22  Association, the Panel Association, I do hope that

         23  they have made progress since their former Head was

         24  put under house arrest for misuse of funds,

         25  misdirection of funds, et cetera, and is currently
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          2  under house arrest.  But it is also important to

          3  note that actually plywood is currently exempted

          4  from this legislation so it's really not applicable.

          5                 I wanted to just mention the crisis

          6  that we're in currently and some of the, I have cut

          7  out some of the paragraphs from my testimony, as

          8  well, but as it is currently estimated we're losing

          9  an estimated 380 species a day worldwide to

         10  extinction due to the loss of tropical forests.  Now

         11  it is important that we remember why we're here,

         12  over and over industry says that logging is not a

         13  key factor in the loss of tropical forests. UN Food

         14  and Agricultural Organization disagrees, however, in

         15  pointing out that 70 percent of tropical

         16  deforestation due to the clearing for agriculture is

         17  actually precipitated by logging and mining roads.

         18  So if you don't log the forest, the likelihood that

         19  the forest will be cleared is actually greatly

         20  reduced, not increase, as the industry would like us

         21  to believe.  In fact, World Resources Institute show

         22  that a logged over tropical forest is 8 times more

         23  likely to be completely deforested than one

         24  remaining unlogged.  So logging plays a very, very

         25  critical role.  In fact, in Southeast Asia logging
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          2  is the single greatest direct cause of the loss of

          3  tropical forests.

          4                 Also, a lot of people talked about

          5  well it's selective logging in the tropics, so why

          6  worry?  The reality is that this high grade logging,

          7  most of which is illegal, first of all, done

          8  illegally, up to 50 percent of the forest can be

          9  damaged in this high grading that is going on.

         10  There is very little enforcement, and as someone

         11  pointed out, the laws on the books are very often

         12  very good laws, however, there is almost no

         13  enforcement in these countries.  I myself have been

         14  to many countries where we have actually gone into

         15  the logging operations, measured the trees and seen

         16  that they were being cut illegally, even though the

         17  forest service of the country had stamped the trees

         18  approved for cutting. There is a lot of graph, there

         19  is a lot of payoff, and that is actually, in some

         20  cases, the norm.

         21                 In fact, in Brazil where we get the

         22  timber for the decking of eight and a half miles of

         23  boardwalks, slats of tens of thousands of benches,

         24  even the Brazilian Government has now admitted that

         25  80 percent of the logging in the Amazon, the
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          2  Brazilian Amazon is done illegally.  So you know,

          3  while the laws may be great on books for the

          4  regulated logging, if 80 to 90 percent of the source

          5  of the wood is done, is coming from illegal

          6  operations, it is kind of pointless to talk about

          7  the laws of the country.

          8                 I also wanted to just briefly point

          9  out that in New York City we order 20- foot long

         10  boards of four side clear for our boardwalks.  Our

         11  calculations showed that about four and a half board

         12  feet of an entire ipe tree will meet this

         13  requirement.  Four and a half board feet out of 100-

         14  foot tall ipe tree, which ipe trees only grow one or

         15  two trees per acre in the Brazilian Amazon. So the

         16  amount of acres that have to be logged in order to

         17  provide an order for a 40,000 or 100,000 board feet

         18  to New York City's boardwalks is vast.

         19                 So just to conclude, illegally

         20  logging is the norm in a lot of countries,

         21  Indonesia, in fact, the estimate is 70 percent of

         22  the logging is done illegally.  In Brazil, 80

         23  percent, whether it is Cameroon, Ghana, Guyana,

         24  Gabon or Philippines, you know, this is really the

         25  vast majority of the problem, and it is time that we
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          2  stopped putting our faith in corporations and

          3  exporting government.  We were told nine years ago

          4  to wait because the International Tropical Timber

          5  Organization had a program that by the year 2000,

          6  all of the wood traded by its member countries would

          7  be sustainable.  According to a report in 1989, less

          8  than one- eighth of 1 percent of timber logged in

          9  the tropics was done sustainably, that was an ITTO

         10  report.  Here we are, you know, beyond 2000 and the

         11  problem has just gotten worse, not better, not a

         12  single ITTO country is now trading in totally

         13  sustainable timber.

         14                 So, you know, when are we going to

         15  stop putting our faith in government, exporting

         16  government agencies, and now I think it is time,

         17  really to put our faith back in the consumer.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Thank

         20  you.

         21                 MR. DALY:  Next we have Stephen

         22  Chenault who is a volunteer with the Sierra Club.

         23                 MR. CHENAULT:  Thank you.  I really

         24  appreciate this opportunity to talk to the Contract

         25  Committee of the City Council. I have been working
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          2  on this issue for many, many years, and looking

          3  forward to seeing it passed into law.

          4                 This legislation really, will promote

          5  sustainable forestry and environmental protection.

          6  It will also protect indigenous peoples, local

          7  communities and forest workers.  Whereas

          8  unsustainable logging often violates ecological

          9  protection and human rights.

         10                 Unsustainable logging practices in

         11  most areas continue to endanger indigenous

         12  communities throughout the world. Indigenous people

         13  are often displaced from their land by unsustainable

         14  logging and subsequent development.

         15                 For example, forest dwelling people

         16  of Africa, such as the Mbuti and Aka, are losing

         17  their land and culture due to unsustainable logging.

         18    Because of deforestation and associated

         19  developments, many of these people are unable to

         20  continue their traditional way of life.  Often

         21  forced to live in sedentary settlements, inadequate

         22  nutrition and disease are common problems.

         23  Unsustainable logging is often carried out illegally

         24  in tropical countries, violating the rights of local

         25  communities.  In addition, although unsustainable
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          2  logging operations sometimes provide employment

          3  opportunities, these jobs tend to be low- paid,

          4  short term, and dangerous, while labor, health and

          5  safety standards are often weak or unenforced.

          6                 In Burma, forced labor for logging by

          7  the Burmese military is well documented.  The

          8  ecological destruction that typically accompanies

          9  unsustainable logging is particularly devastating to

         10  local communities and indigenous people who rely on

         11  the forest for their survival.  Unsustainable

         12  logging seriously increases soil erosion,

         13  compromising rivers and the viability of fish

         14  stocks, an important food source.

         15                 In Malaysia, a Sarawak Government

         16  study showed that in recently unsustainably logged

         17  areas, there is a threefold increase in serious

         18  malnutrition in native communities, while a study of

         19  nutrition among indigenous people in the Brazilian

         20  Amazon has revealed the highest rates of

         21  malnutrition in areas invaded by loggers.

         22  Unsustainable logging may also result in new

         23  inequalities, a migration to urban areas, and the

         24  undermining of customary laws, social support

         25  networks, and systems of land management.
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          2                 The FSC, the Forest Stewardship

          3  Council offers a solution to these problems through

          4  the promotion of sustainable forestry that protects

          5  ecological values and promotes human rights and

          6  sustainable economies.  The New York City

          7  government, by promoting the purchase of FSC-

          8  certified wood, will be assured that their wood

          9  purchasing is not supporting the egregious,

         10  ecological and human rights abuses cited above.  The

         11  FSC is the only certification system that

         12  incorporates extensive social criteria that will

         13  ensure these kind of protections.

         14                 I therefore, urge the New York City

         15  Council's Contracts Committee and the Council as a

         16  whole, to pass Intro. No. 784 so that citizens of

         17  New York can be sure that their government is

         18  supporting sustainable forestry and environmental

         19  protection, as well as the protection of the rights

         20  of forest communities, indigenous people, and forest

         21  workers.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Thank

         24  you.

         25                 MR. DALY:  Next we have Mike Roselle
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          2  with Greenpeace, and he has been working on forest

          3  issues for a number of years, both with Greenpeace

          4  and a bunch of small organizations out west.

          5                 MR. ROSELLE:  Thank you very much for

          6  this opportunity.  Greenpeace is an international

          7  environmental organization with over two and a half

          8  million members, over half of a million members here

          9  in the US, including about 20,000 in the New York

         10  Metropolitan area.  And I don't want to repeat a lot

         11  of stuff that has been said today, but we feel that

         12  this is an extremely important action that you're

         13  taking and we support it.

         14                 And the only other thing I would like

         15  to add to that is that, for our purposes, the FSC is

         16  the only certification process that really meet the

         17  requirements that we have for protecting endangered

         18  forests and having a sustainable forest industry.

         19                 So, the other ones I think may come

         20  along later, but like Tim said earlier in his

         21  testimony, that we just have not seen those

         22  standards improve very much.  And with FSC we think

         23  it is the only real hope of a true third party

         24  system working.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 MR. DALY:  Next we have Donna De

          3  Constanzo who is a volunteer with the Sierra Club.

          4                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Hi, I will be very

          5  brief.  I have been working for the past year on the

          6  Sierra Club Good Wood Volunteer Committee to gain

          7  support for this legislation, Intro. No. 784.  But

          8  I'm here, first and foremost, as a citizen of New

          9  York City.  I grew up here, attended school here,

         10  and I continue to make the City my home, it is very

         11  important to me that this legislation get passed.

         12                 As a member of the Sierra Club Good

         13  Wood Volunteer Committee one of the many activities

         14  I have taken part in over the past year is tabling

         15  in various City parks on the weekends, to try to

         16  obtain signatures of support for this legislation.

         17  During these tabling sessions, every person with

         18  whom I spoke, and that was with hundreds of people,

         19  was greatly surprised and gravely concerned about

         20  New York City's current purchase and use of wood

         21  from forests that are not sustainably managed.  As

         22  with myself, these New Yorkers were not only

         23  troubled by the environmental degradation caused by

         24  unsustainable forestry, but also by the detrimental

         25  consequences suffered by indigenous peoples and
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          2  forest communities as a result of unsound forest

          3  practices.

          4                 Now, I would just like to mention

          5  that one of our local universities recently passed a

          6  policy that similarly promotes sustainable forestry,

          7  as well as human labor rights.

          8                 On Earth Day of this year, three of

          9  New York University's schools, the Tisch School of

         10  the Arts; the Ehrenkranz School of Social Work, and

         11  the Wagner School of Public Service passed a policy

         12  that would require these schools to favor the

         13  purchase of FSC- certified wood over other wood

         14  products.

         15                 In my written testimony, I'm not

         16  going to go through it now, but I mention a few

         17  examples of the benefits of FSC certification on

         18  indigenous and local peoples, including a few

         19  examples of FSC certification of indigenous forest

         20  enterprises.

         21                 I would just like to end with saying

         22  that the New York City Council by passing Intro. No.

         23  784, and that is promoting the purpose of Forest

         24  Stewardship Council certified wood will ensure New

         25  York residents that there tax dollars do not aid in
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          2  the destruction of the world's forests and

          3  indigenous cultures, but rather help to protect

          4  them.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Thank

          7  you.  We have three more witnesses, Denis Beriere

          8  and Rita Ferris, and then Paul Berizzi.  I don't

          9  know, Paul is in favor, so you're against, why don't

         10  you two go, and Paul come right up and you're on

         11  next.

         12                 I have to swear you in.  Do you swear

         13  that everything you testify to will be the truth,

         14  the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         15                 ALL:  I do.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Great.

         17  Identify yourselves for the record, and have at it.

         18                 MS. FERRIS:  All right, Chairman,

         19  thank you for giving me the opportunity to testify.

         20  My name is Rita Ferris, and I'm the Director of

         21  Legislative and Regulatory Affairs for the

         22  Northeastern Retail Lumber Association.

         23                 I'm here to testify against the

         24  Introduction of 784 as currently written.  Our

         25  specific concerns with the proposal are as follows:
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          2                 The bill requires that all lumber

          3  being used in City projects be FSC certified or else

          4  seek environmentally preferable materials.  We have

          5  several independent lumber dealers, family owned

          6  businesses that have been conducting business with

          7  the City for years.  The bill will place a

          8  significant hardship on them in that they would be

          9  required to immediately change the sources for some,

         10  if not all, of the product that they sell.

         11                 An additional challenge to the

         12  dealers is that there is an extremely small

         13  percentage of FSC lumber available, three to five

         14  percent of the US production of lumber is FSC

         15  certified.

         16                 To top that off, the extra challenge

         17  is that of the FSC lumber available, currently the

         18  big boxes are getting a majority of that product and

         19  not the independent dealer.  So this really poses a

         20  competitive challenge for us as far as being able to

         21  compete fairly for the City contracts that are out

         22  there right now.

         23                 While lumber dealers are not

         24  scientists, schools in all of the waste to

         25  sustainably manage our resources, we are good minded
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          2  citizens who want to ensure that the materials we

          3  sell are, in fact, materials obtained from a

          4  sustainable forests.  And in an effort to do so we

          5  spent many hours on the issue of certification. In

          6  fact, we have met with all of the top

          7  representatives from the Forest Stewardship Council,

          8  the Sustainable Forest Initiative, the Canadian

          9  Standards Association and the International

         10  Standards Association, to learn about the components

         11  about their programs and the importance of them to

         12  our future.  We also have spent many hours meeting

         13  with the Chief Foresters of large and small

         14  producers, like Interfour, Sierra Specific,

         15  Warehouser, Hancock Lumber, and JD Urban to find out

         16  about what forest management processes were

         17  currently being implemented in terms of sustainable

         18  management and certification.  We also inquired

         19  about their long term goals.

         20                 As a result of all of the information

         21  gathered from our meetings we adopted a wood

         22  certification policy that endorses and encourages

         23  the sale and use of certified products, but we

         24  accepted a policy that recommends that each

         25  certification system includes scientifically based
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          2  standards, third party auditing, product label, and

          3  that it is based on credible procedures.  We came to

          4  this conclusion because we learned that

          5  certification is a relatively new process with a

          6  limited supply of product.

          7                 We believe that certification is a

          8  cutting- edge issue for our future and that it will

          9  grow along with supply over the years.  We embrace

         10  an inclusive policy because we strongly believe that

         11  monopolies stifle innovation, and that by embracing

         12  a policy that includes more than one certification

         13  system, each system will naturally compete and

         14  improve.  In the long run, we feel that this will

         15  provide the greatest benefit, not only to our

         16  retailers, but also to the environment.  And we have

         17  already seen this happen with the announcement that

         18  SFI is going to have a third party label, and today

         19  I heard for the first that CSA is going to have a

         20  chain- of- custody.

         21                 In closing, I would like to urge the

         22  Committee to allow our industry and other interested

         23  parties to sit down and discuss how we can advance a

         24  policy that meets our goals, your goals, of

         25  promoting the use of certified wood products.
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          2                 Thank you for taking the time to hear

          3  my testimony, and I will be happy to answer any

          4  questions you may have.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Thank

          6  you.  Professor Briere, we have your written

          7  remarks, we certainly will make the entire thing

          8  part of the record.  It's that, you know, if you

          9  could summarize for me, that would be great.

         10                 MR. BRIERE:  Mr. Chairman, members of

         11  Council, thank you for your patience, it's getting

         12  late.  I'm trying to get as short as possible, but

         13  there are some important points that I want to make.

         14

         15                 My name is Denis Briere.  I'm the

         16  Dean of the Faculty of Forestry and Geomatics at

         17  Laval University in Quebec City, in Canada.

         18                 Canada is internationally recognized

         19  for its forest science expertise which resides in

         20  universities and agencies like the Canadian Forest

         21  Service, which focuses on leading- edge forest

         22  science research, with over 400 scientists and five

         23  research centers across the country.

         24                 Because of the extent of the public

         25  ownership of our forests in Canada, sustainable
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          2  forest management across Canada is primarily defined

          3  and implemented through forest policies, laws and

          4  regulations.

          5                 Canadian companies are required to

          6  operate in this highly advanced sustainable forest

          7  management framework which comprises principles and

          8  practices, such as consideration of and planning of

          9  multiple use and value; and setting and annual

         10  allowable cut based on the sustainable growth rate

         11  of the forest, using SFM principles.

         12                 As of April 2001, more than 37

         13  percent of Canada's managed forests, or 110 million

         14  acres, were certified under one or more of the four

         15  certification systems available in Canada.  The

         16  systems are those of the Forest Stewardship Council,

         17  Canadian Standard Association, International

         18  Standards Organization, and the Sustainable Forestry

         19  Initiative.

         20                 About 75 percent of Canada's

         21  commercial/managed forest land is expected to be

         22  certified by the end of 2003.

         23                 Canadian governments and forest

         24  professionals and universities supports

         25  certification and so far as it promotes the
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          2  principles of sustainable forest management.

          3  However, there are a number of uncertainties and

          4  concerns associated with certification.

          5                 Because certification is a market-

          6  based tool to promote sustainable forest management,

          7  any approach to recognizing systems should either

          8  extend to several or be generic.  Recognition of

          9  certification systems should lay out clear, broad

         10  principles that promote adherence to internationally

         11  and nationally recognized and agreed- to principles

         12  and practices of sustainable forest management.

         13                 Each of the various certification

         14  systems reflects certain ecological, social,

         15  economic, and cultural conditions. Similarly or

         16  equivalency among systems, once established, could

         17  help avoid confusion in the marketplace and avoid

         18  monopolies.  If you create a monopoly in the

         19  certification systems, you defeat the purpose of an

         20  independent third party.

         21                 An approach limited to one

         22  certification system may unnecessarily risk New York

         23  City's procurement flexibility, restricting sources

         24  of supply and increasing procurement costs.

         25                 I note that the draft legislation
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          2  recognizes that some time will be needed to the

          3  market to provide sufficient certified wood, it

          4  provides for waiver of the requirement for certified

          5  wood products when the supplier is unable to provide

          6  sufficient product to meet the particular contract.

          7                 A less prescriptive approach would

          8  reduce the need for such a waiver, particularly

          9  given the absence of Forest Stewardship Council

         10  standards in many areas of North America and the

         11  lack of guidance in the proposed legislation

         12  regarding similar organizations to FSC.

         13                 The prescriptive approach currently

         14  before the New York City Council may also reduce

         15  economic incentives for good forest management,

         16  particularly in poorer countries, and may

         17  inadvertently promote less environmentally friendly

         18  substitutes for wood.

         19                 Environmentally preferable building

         20  materials should be defined by life cycle analysis.

         21  We cannot assume the substitution of non- wood

         22  products for wood products is environmentally

         23  preferable.  I encourage you to apply the same

         24  careful scrutiny to these substitutes as

         25  certification and other tools for sustainable forest
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          2  management brings to wood products.

          3                 For all these reasons, I suggest that

          4  it is important to retain flexibility and clarity in

          5  referencing certification systems while keeping in

          6  mind that they are not the only means to demonstrate

          7  sustainable forest management.

          8                 Canada and Canadians have been and

          9  continue to be committed to the sustainable

         10  management of their forests.  I can assure you that

         11  Canada is supportive of your efforts to advance the

         12  environmental objectives that we share.

         13                 In September 2003, Canada will host

         14  the XII World Forest Congress in Quebec City.  I

         15  won't reference like some people mentioned before

         16  that I will pay for your trip, but you're welcome to

         17  come to Quebec City for the World Congress in 2003

         18  where these major issues will be discussed

         19  internationally.

         20                 Thank you for taking the time and to

         21  consider these views.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 MR. BRIERE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman,

         25  I would just like to add something that I'm tabling
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          2  three documents that might be of help to you, the

          3  criteria and indicators of sustainable forests

          4  management in Canada, the National Forest Strategy

          5  1998 2003, and the State of Canada's Forest 1999-

          6  2000.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:

          8  Absolutely, those will go to be helpful to our

          9  Council in drafting this legislation.

         10                 Paul Berizzi, and if there are no

         11  other witnesses, I need to read some into the

         12  record.  I will do that at the very end.

         13                 Paul, do you have written statements

         14  for us?  Great.

         15                 MR. BERIZZI:  I have some show and

         16  tell items here. Almost.  Thank you, Councilman

         17  Gifford and Councilman Miller, you are now both.

         18  Similar to other speakers, I think one of the most

         19  essential missing elements in the legislation right

         20  now is specificity on a number of issues, and you

         21  have done a terrific job today of clarifying greatly

         22  what sustainably harvested products are.  I

         23  certainly agree with those speakers who have asked

         24  that a clear definition of environmental

         25  preferability be in there, and that it is one that
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          2  reflects the full life cycle of any product.

          3                 Pages two and three of my testimony

          4  are recommendations for some clarifications, my

          5  definition of environmentally preferable is based on

          6  President Clinton's Executive Order of 1998.  But

          7  the essence of my testimony is essentially that if

          8  you're going to get specific about wood, we would

          9  ask that the Council get specific about other

         10  products.           The way I, as a former City

         11  employee and having seen specifications, if you just

         12  told someone to go buy some paper, they could buy

         13  this or they could buy this, they're both paper.

         14  There is no way to be clear about what kind of

         15  paper, so you could get toilet paper or this is

         16  recycled content typing paper.

         17                 Now you have been very specific today

         18  about making a distinction between this piece of

         19  tropical wood, which was slashed and burned, and

         20  this piece of tropical which was sustainably

         21  harvested.  Same wood, but one is environmentally

         22  preferable, one isn't.

         23                 Unfortunately, the bill is

         24  unspecific.  For instance, some plastics are very

         25  bad environmentally, if you look at them full life
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          2  cycle, best example, polyvinyl chloride, some are

          3  rather benign, such as polyethylene.  You buy a

          4  polyethylene piece of recycled lumber, let's say,

          5  that is relatively good.  You buy PVC, you're

          6  shooting yourself in the foot.

          7                 There was talk about pressure treated

          8  lumber before. Pressure treated lumber is

          9  essentially just raw wood that has been sprayed with

         10  pesticides and then treated under pressure so that

         11  it soaks all the way through.  Now some pressure

         12  treated wood is unpreferable, undesirable

         13  environmentally, and in relative terms, this is

         14  water, by the way.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Yes,

         16  you're not spraying pesticides in here, are you

         17  Paul.

         18                 MR. BERIZZI:  Water.  Well, anyway

         19  you get the point.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Right,

         21  yes.

         22                 MR. BERIZZI: In relative terms

         23  environmentally preferable and unpreferable pressure

         24  treated wood.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Got you.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            153

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2                 MR. BERIZZI:  And finally, and this

          3  one is the spookiest one.  The term bio- based

          4  products is very broad.  This is meant to represent

          5  a piece of lumber that is made out of some beans.

          6  This is a piece of lumber that is made out of beans

          7  from genetically altered seeds, grown on a piece of

          8  land that used to be a forest that was converted to

          9  a farm field so that we could create the bio- mass

         10  to make it. What is more it is bound together with

         11  some very environmentally undesirable products,

         12  because bio- based products, as well as recycled

         13  plastic lumber are not 100 percent plastic and

         14  they're not 100 percent bio- mass.  So here again,

         15  I'm merely asking that the Council be more specific,

         16  because the term bio- based, if you look at the

         17  testimony that NRDC gave before the Senate in 1999,

         18  on this subject, raises the suspecter of a number of

         19  things that I think you would otherwise find

         20  objectionable.

         21                 And that is it.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MILLER:  Okay.

         23  Thank you very much.  Let me make a note that we

         24  have received testimony from the New York City

         25  Central Labor Council endorsing the legislation.
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          2  Submissions from the Malaysia Timber Council

          3  expressing concerns, the Timber Export Development

          4  Division of the Forestry Commission of Ghana also

          5  expressing concerns. Jean Jacques Landrot, Secretary

          6  General ATIBT; Alan Hevesi, basically in support.

          7  Well, we have the Celebrity Letter from Pierce

          8  Brosnan through Tommy Newman; Forest World

          9  expressing support and for an amendment; SmartWood;

         10  President of the Certified Forest Products Council

         11  endorsing the legislation; and Audobon New York

         12  expressing conditional support.

         13                 Okay, this concludes the hearing of

         14  the Contract Committee, we thank you all.

         15                 (The hearing adjourned at 4:50 p.m.)

         16                 (The following testimony was read

         17  into the record.)

         18

         19  Testimony of:

         20  Ted H. Jacobsen

         21  Secretary of the Council

         22  New York City Central Labor Council

         23

         24                 Dear Speaker Vallone:

         25                 On behalf of Council President Brian
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          2  McLaughlin and the more than 1.5 million members of

          3  our Council, I write in support of NYC Council

          4  Intro. 784, which would encourage the City of New

          5  York to purchase timber products that are produced

          6  responsibly and sustainably.

          7                 As a voice for tens of thousands of

          8  New York City working men and women, the Central

          9  Labor Council has a long history of supporting

         10  legislations that protects and improves the lives of

         11  working people.  Intro. 784 not only will ensure

         12  that New York City does not contribute to

         13  environmentally dangerous forestry practices, but

         14  also will see to it that City funds are not used to

         15  support dangerous and unfair labor practices in the

         16  logging industry.

         17                 Much like the Council's recent anti-

         18  sweatshop legislation, this bill seeks to use the

         19  City's procurement process and its power as a major

         20  consumer to address very real problems faced by

         21  working people.  The Principles and Criteria that

         22  the legislation proposes as part of the Forest

         23  Stewardship Council certification process include

         24  several significant labor protections, access to job

         25  opportunities for local communities.  We
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          2  wholeheartedly agree with the legislative intent

          3  demonstrated by this aspect of Intro. 784, and join

          4  you and the bill's co- sponsors in the belief that

          5  New York City, a responsibility to those individuals

          6  responsible for creating the products the City

          7  purchases.

          8                 I would like to conclude by sharing a

          9  few words from the International Federation of

         10  Builders and Woodworkers (IFBWW), which has taken

         11  the lead in educating labor unions worldwide about

         12  forest certification and the importance of

         13  sustainable harvesting for sustainable jobs.  The

         14  IFBWW said, "Forest certification is a tool that

         15  workers can use to improve working conditions and

         16  ensure the sustainable use of resources so that

         17  there are jobs into the future..."

         18                 Once again, we stress our Council's

         19  strong support for Intro. 784, and we are confident

         20  that this legislation will become an important tool

         21  in the ongoing fight to protect both our forests and

         22  working people throughout the world.

         23                 Sincerely and fraternally,

         24                 Ted H. Jacobsen

         25                 Secretary of the Council
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          2

          3  Testimony of:

          4  Aimi Lee Abdullah

          5  Deputy Director

          6  Public and Corporate Affairs

          7  Malaysian Timber Council

          8

          9                 Dear Honorable Councillors,

         10                 Once again we write in response to

         11  the public hearing on May 7,2001 to consider the

         12  adoption of legislation on the procurement

         13  requirement of certified tropical timber for use in

         14  New York City projects.  We once again urge you to

         15  consider our views.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 The sum of its parts is not equal to

         18  the whole.

         19                 We have always held the view that any

         20  approach to timber certification should not just

         21  concentrate on tropical timber, but should cover all

         22  types of timber including that from temperate and

         23  boreal zones, especially as 90 percent of the

         24  international timber trade comes from these

         25  countries, while only 10 percent is derived from
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          2  tropical timber countries.  As we have pointed out

          3  before, 66 percent of hardwood lumber imports by

          4  volume into the US originates from a temperate

          5  country.  Only about 30 percent comes from a

          6  combination of 18 tropical timber producing

          7  countries.  It would seem that the New York City

          8  Council's concern is misplaced, if its decision to

          9  impose restrictions on the use of tropical timber

         10  products is to ensure that forests continue to play

         11  a vital role in the global environment, in

         12  regulating the global climate and purifying the air.

         13    It is hard for us to see the logic in lumping all

         14  tropical timber countries together and imposing

         15  restrictions on them for this purpose when the

         16  biggest trade portion is left out.

         17                 The New York City Council has since

         18  the 1990's been trying to propose legislation to

         19  identify and single out tropical timber.  The idea

         20  that to preserve tropical forests you have to

         21  restrict use of tropical timber is a shop- worn one.

         22    There is a saying that charity begins at home.  We

         23  read about roadless wild areas in national forests

         24  in America not being protected from logging, mining

         25  and drilling.  About threats to the Eastern Forests
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          2  of the USA, the Southern Appalachians, about oil

          3  exploration in the Arctic National Wildlife Refuge.

          4  The US consumes her own domestically- produced

          5  timber products, apart from being an important

          6  exporter.  In fact, she is world number 2 in terms

          7  of value.  Please address the issue fairly and

          8  kindly reconsider your decision on the proposed

          9  legislation.

         10                 Malaysian Timber Council

         11                 4 May 2001

         12

         13  Testimony of:

         14  The Malaysian Timber Council

         15

         16                 The Malaysian Timber Council (MTC)

         17  has been informed that the New York City Council is

         18  again planning to pass legislation to ban the use of

         19  tropical timber unless it is certified by the Forest

         20  Stewardship Council or "similar organizations

         21  dedicated to improving forest management and

         22  conservation."

         23                 This is the third time that we have

         24  been alerted to such efforts by the New York City

         25  Council to ban the use of tropical timber in their
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          2  locality, unless it is certified.  As an

          3  organization representing the interests of the

          4  timber industry in Malaysia, we have serious

          5  reservations on the New York City Council decision

          6  to impose such restrictions on the use of tropical

          7  timber products.  We hereby submit our views on why

          8  the legislation should not be passed in the

          9  interests of the tropical timber trade and

         10  conservation of tropical forests and hope that it

         11  will be given your due attention.

         12                 Unequal applications.

         13                 From a reading of the introductory

         14  notes, we perceive that the proposed amendments to

         15  the Administrative Code of the City contracts are

         16  based on the City Councillors' concerns with the

         17  multi- functionality of forests and the role they

         18  play in the global environment.  The Council is also

         19  concerned that poorly managed logging operations

         20  degrade and destroy forests.  While we agree with

         21  the Council on this point, MTC is concerned with the

         22  premise that has brought about the restrictions to

         23  be applied solely to the tropical timber trade.

         24                 Products from temperate and boreal

         25  forests are far more important in the international
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          2  forest products trade than those from the tropical

          3  countries.  It has been estimated that only 11

          4  percent of logs and 12 percent of sawntimber

          5  produced from tropical forests is exported.  The

          6  balance of it is used domestically.  By putting

          7  restrictions against tropical timber, the New York

          8  City Council is adopting a discriminatory policy

          9  against tropical timber.  We find it disturbing that

         10  the assumption is made so arbitrarily that while

         11  forests in the temperate and boreal zones are

         12  considered 100 percent sustainable, tropical forests

         13  are considered 100 percent badly managed.  We fail

         14  to see how the proposed ban will protect non-

         15  tropical forests which are poorly managed, which

         16  are, you must agree, are also vital to the global

         17  environment.  We read in the news that at present

         18  there are 100 large forest fires burning in 1.65

         19  million acres in the US.  This year alone, 6.6

         20  million acres of forest and wildland have burned in

         21  13 Western US states.  One might be tempted to ask

         22  if the US itself is not looking into verification of

         23  good forest management as she is herself a consumer

         24  of her own domestically- produced timber products,

         25  apart from being an exporter.
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          2                 From an analysis of the US trade

          3  figures, we also find that about 66 percent of

          4  hardwood lumber imports by volume into the US

          5  originates from a temperate country.  Slightly less

          6  than 30 percent comes from a combination of 18

          7  tropical timber producing countries.

          8                 Bans and boycotts are unhelpful.

          9                 Malaysia and other tropical timber

         10  countries are making efforts at improved forestry

         11  practices.  Bans should not be used as a stick to

         12  beat us with to make us immediately conform.

         13  Certification is acknowledged as a means of

         14  informing consumers of the environmental pedigree of

         15  the timber products they are purchasing, but it is

         16  by no means a surefire and complete solution to

         17  tackle the problem of tropical deforestation.  In

         18  concert with concerned, constructive and pragmatic

         19  organizations and partners, time, money and manpower

         20  are being expended to strive to implement

         21  Sustainable Forest Management.  Forest harvesting

         22  options to reduce logging impact are being tested.

         23  Progressive and practical models are being

         24  developed.  Malaysia and other tropical countries

         25  are doing so with the help of the International
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          2  Tropical Timber Organization (ITTO), whose members

          3  consist of tropical producers and consumers from

          4  developed countries.  A set of standards, applicable

          5  to the tropical forestry world has been developed

          6  for the management of tropical forests.  The ITTO is

          7  an international organization whose work and

          8  activities in tropical forestry is recognized and

          9  endorsed by its member countries, including the USA.

         10                 The New York City Council should also

         11  give the same recognition to the ITTO and its

         12  producer member countries that have adopted the ITTO

         13  criteria and indicators in developing their forest

         14  management standards for certification.  Not all

         15  problems can be resolved immediately.  Changes have

         16  to be made to policies to conform to the adopted

         17  standards.

         18                 The proposed ban will unjustifiably

         19  and prematurely deprive countries which are in the

         20  process of adopting international standards in its

         21  forest management and striving to put in place

         22  mechanisms that can provide assurance to consumers

         23  of the green origin their timber products.  Non-

         24  certification does not automatically imply that the

         25  country concerned is badly managing its forests or
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          2  that it is not making the necessary efforts.  You

          3  must agree that what is ultimately important is in

          4  meeting the goals for sustainable forest management

          5  and the country's environmental needs, not only so

          6  that the timber products can enter a certain market.

          7                 Malaysian Timber Council

          8                 Kuala Lumpur

          9                 September 19, 2000

         10

         11  Testimony of:

         12  Alhassan Attah

         13  Manager

         14  The Forestry Commission of Ghana

         15

         16                 The Forestry Commission of Ghana has

         17  noted with concern the above- mentioned proposed

         18  procurement policy of New York City.

         19                 We are of the view that the policy as

         20  it stands would be discriminatory and will not

         21  support the development and management of tropical

         22  forests.

         23                 This discrimination against tropical

         24  timber will largely affect developing countries and

         25  will not be in the spirit of the World Trade
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          2  Organization (WTO) and the inter- governmental

          3  International Tropical Timber Organization (ITTO).

          4  Furthermore, we believe this is not in conformity

          5  with the American vision of non discrimination.

          6  Trade in tropical timber should be treated exactly

          7  the same as trade in any other timber used in the

          8  USA, whether from domestic sources or imported.

          9                 The imposition of restraints on

         10  tropical timber as proposed will not be helping

         11  developing countries, particularly African

         12  countries.  Forestry and timber exports account for

         13  substantial portions of the foreign exchange

         14  earnings and gross domestic product (GDP) in these

         15  countries.  Hence any action that limits benefits

         16  from the forests could only result in the

         17  replacement of forests for other uses.

         18                 Some positive assistance to achieve

         19  the desired goals of sustainable forest management

         20  would be more relevant.  In the case of Ghana, it

         21  has benefited from long- term inputs and cooperation

         22  with Britain and other aid providing sources to

         23  reinstate sustainable forest management in its

         24  legally constituted Forest Reserves.  It is now

         25  actively progressing similar goals in the forests
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          2  outside Reserves where ownership is in the hands of

          3  local communities which, as stakeholders, carry

          4  responsibilities for the forests' future and stand

          5  to benefit from the development of responsible

          6  approaches.

          7                 Ghana is well on the way to

          8  certification. Independent field assessment of its

          9  national standards have taken place.  There is

         10  however, no reason to cease purchase of its wood

         11  products, given that it is committed to progress.

         12                 We wish to suggest that the New York

         13  City Council consults fully with all parties, not

         14  just the environmental NGOs. A multi- stakeholder

         15  approach in the consultation process that includes

         16  the US Federal Department, ITTO, Food and

         17  Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

         18  (FAO), African Timber Organization (ATO), World

         19  Bank, et cetera, would be in our opinion, more

         20  productive.

         21                 We wish to draw the New York City

         22  Council's attention to the positive contributions of

         23  the US government to international decisions on

         24  tropical forests, in particular, decisions of the

         25  ITTO that relate to tropical forest management and
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          2  discriminatory practices against tropical timber.

          3                 We hope our statement would meet your

          4  kind consideration and be brought to the notice of

          5  other members of the Council.

          6                 Your sincerely,

          7                 Timber Export Development Division

          8                 (Forestry Commission of Ghana)

          9                 Alhassan Attah

         10                 Manager

         11

         12  Testimony of:

         13  Jean Jacques Landrot

         14  Secretary General ATIBT, Secretary General IFIA

         15

         16                 Your Honorables,

         17                 It has been brought to our attention,

         18  that the City of New York is preparing an amendment

         19  of the Administrative Code, which will practically

         20  ban the use of tropical timber for public works

         21  unless certified by the FSC or similar

         22  organizations.

         23                 Our office represents two

         24  organizations, on which you will find some

         25  documentation enclosed:
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          2                 ATIBT, the international technical

          3  tropical timber association (www.atibt.com) with 200

          4  direct members from 35 tropical timber producer and

          5  consumer countries, including national federations,

          6  research institutes, international and regional

          7  organizations like the FAO and the African Timber

          8  Organization, ATO, as well as forest and timber

          9  enterprises active in the production, trade and

         10  transformation of tropical timber.

         11                 IFIA, the Interafrican Forest

         12  Industries Association, which includes the private

         13  forest and timber sector in Africa (300 companies by

         14  means of the national syndicates of West- and

         15  Central African countries).

         16                 We would like to bring to your

         17  attention:

         18                 1.  That we share your concern for

         19  the preservation of tropical forests and fully agree

         20  that the international community must take measures

         21  to help with the sustainable management of tropical

         22  production forests and to conserve bio diversity in

         23  conservation forests.

         24                 2.  Using their forests as a

         25  renewable resource, is the autonomous right of every

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            169

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  sovereign country, contributing in average 6 percent

          3  to the GDP in West and Central African Countries.

          4  The main reason for the destruction of tropical

          5  forests is shifting cultivation and the

          6  transformation to agricultural uses, giving a higher

          7  return than forest products.  A forest, which has no

          8  economic value, is likely to be transformed!

          9                 3.  Neither boycott nor certification

         10  will save the tropical rain forests.  Certification

         11  can only be the reward of a sustainable forest

         12  management and thus help to open up lost,

         13  ecologically sensitive and confident markets.

         14  Striving for a sustainable forest management, our

         15  members therefore collaborate with the World Bank in

         16  the CEO Working Group 3 of President Wolfensohn to

         17  achieve practical improvements at the management

         18  level, with a Fund for the Global Environment, a

         19  regional World Bank/European Commission project and

         20  the WWF in the Congo Basin for the introduction of

         21  Reduced Impact Logging Methods, with the avant garde

         22  representatives of the private sector for

         23  establishing a common standard for forest concession

         24  management plans, with the IUCN to set up a

         25  Deontology Code to be signed by the concessionaires.
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          2    We are furthermore actively promoting a Pan

          3  African Forest Certification Scheme, PAFC, to be set

          4  up with the help of the European Commission, France

          5  and Germany and to be based onto the existing

          6  criteria and indicators established by the well

          7  known research center CIFOR with the African Timber

          8  Organization, ATO.

          9                 4.  FSC has certified up to now

         10  approximately 17 million acres of Forests and

         11  Plantations of which 80 percent are located in

         12  boreal and temperate regions, three- quarter of the

         13  other 20 percent are in Brazil and in Zambia.

         14  According to our information, there are no certified

         15  primary forests in the classic wood- producing

         16  countries of West and Central Africa.  Some

         17  countries do not recognize the FSC system and are

         18  setting up their national certification system, like

         19  Ghana, Malaysia and Indonesia. The private sector of

         20  Europe has meanwhile regrouped in the Pan European

         21  Forest Certification system and the PAFC model has

         22  been presented to achieve a mutual recognition with

         23  all the credible certification systems in the world.

         24                 5.  During the present transition

         25  phase, waiting for the PAFC to be operational, we
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          2  need help from the markets and consumers to actively

          3  promote tropical timber products.  The consequences

          4  of an indirect ban of these products will be the

          5  same as of the earlier boycott; the adoption of this

          6  legislation will prove to be a restraint of trade

          7  action against the enterprises represented by our

          8  association.  This will lead to lesser revenues for

          9  producer countries, in consequence less interest to

         10  establish better methods of forest management in

         11  areas where the forest revenue is often the only

         12  source of development and social care for the native

         13  population.  The trade flows will continue shifting

         14  to Asian markets who are ecologically non- sensitive

         15  but offering a large potential of demand.  In

         16  consequence, the cutting rate augments and your

         17  honorable effort of protection will be fully

         18  counterproductive!

         19                 We ask you, not to adopt such a

         20  legislation amendment, which would be morally

         21  unacceptable to developing countries and

         22  economically and strategically harmful to precisely

         23  those enterprises, who try hard to do better in the

         24  management of their forest concessions.

         25                 Sincerely,
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          2                 Jean Jacques Landrot

          3                 Secretary General ATIBT

          4                 Secretary General IFIA

          5

          6  Testimony of:

          7  Alan G. Hevesi

          8  Comptroller

          9  City Of New York

         10

         11                 Dear Kathryn:

         12                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         13  testify before the City Council Contract Committee

         14  on Intro. 784.  Unfortunately, prior commitments

         15  prevent me from testifying today.  However, I would

         16  like to register my support for the bill, and for

         17  the efforts of the Sierra Club to promote

         18  responsible wood purchasing. Congratulations to you

         19  for bringing this important issue to a hearing, and

         20  to Council Member Gifford Miller for sponsoring the

         21  bill, which I wholeheartedly endorse.

         22                 The world's natural resources and

         23  ecology are threatened by irresponsible forestry

         24  practices such as clear cutting of old growth

         25  forests.  When the City purchases wood for use in
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          2  its parks and buildings, it must act as a

          3  responsible purchaser and not contribute to such

          4  practices when this can be avoided.  I understand

          5  that the principles that the Forest Stewardship

          6  Council applies when certifying suppliers of wood

          7  products can help assure us that the wood was

          8  harvested responsibly and safely, using fair labor

          9  practices.  Further, wood that is certified

         10  according to these principles is becoming more

         11  widely available as demand increases.  While it is

         12  important that the City be able to buy wood suitable

         13  for its needs, I understand that the City's use of

         14  certified wood will, in turn, make it easier to

         15  obtain.

         16                 In addition, please consider

         17  including a provision requiring the City to

         18  investigate the purchase of certified wood products

         19  from our Catskill- Delaware watershed region.  The

         20  watershed has a significant forestry industry that

         21  has worked with the City to promote forestry

         22  practices that are safe for the City's water supply.

         23    This is the type of environmentally sustainable

         24  work the City should support for its watershed.  I

         25  look forward to working with you on this and other
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          2  issues in the near future.

          3                 Sincerely,

          4                 Alan G. Hevesi

          5

          6  Testimony of:

          7  Celebrity Letter of Support

          8

          9                 To Whom It May Concern:

         10                 We are writing in support of

         11  municipal, corporate and institutionalized wood

         12  procurement policies and ordinances to address

         13  concerns about forest destruction.  Specifically, we

         14  would like to support proposals such as those

         15  sponsored by Speaker Peter Vallone and Council

         16  Member A. Gifford Miller to eliminate purchases of

         17  wood products from old- growth forests and give

         18  preference to products from forests that are

         19  certified as environmentally well managed according

         20  to the rules of the Forest Stewardship Council

         21  (FSC).

         22                 The internationally- recognized FSC

         23  is the most credible, independent, and

         24  environmentally- oriented forestry certification

         25  system in existence today.  It is the only

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            175

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  certification system with support from the world's

          3  leading environmental groups.  It also has support

          4  from many progressive and prominent members of

          5  industry.  Over 500 organizations are either FSC

          6  members who joined to support the concept (e.g.,

          7  Natural Resources Defense Council, World Wildlife

          8  Fund, Greenpeace and Rainforest Action Network),

          9  companies that are certified to produce specific

         10  product lines (e.g., Smith and Hawken, Gibson

         11  Guitars), or responsible end- users that specify

         12  certified wood products whenever possible (e.g.,

         13  Gap, Habitat for Humanity).

         14                 We also wish to express our deep

         15  concern about the current efforts of some members of

         16  the forest products industry to undermine

         17  environmental wood procurement by advocating that

         18  forest products from questionable industry- backed

         19   "certification" schemes should qualify for

         20  environmental purchasing preferences.

         21                 Only FSC includes set performance-

         22  based standards with annual field audits for all

         23  operations, as well as chain- of custody tracking

         24  and product labeling to ensure that purchases

         25  originate from certified forests.  Nothing less than
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          2  the FSC or its true functional equivalent should be

          3  allowed to qualify for municipal, corporate, and

          4  institutionalized purchasing preferences for

          5  environmentally certified forest products.  Anything

          6  less would reward companies whose protocols may

          7  include large- scale clear cutting and other

          8  controversial practices.  This would reward status

          9  quo management, rather than create real incentives

         10  for forestry producers to improve environmental

         11  practices.

         12                 We thank you for your leadership in

         13  this matter,

         14                 Pierce Brosnan                Bonnie

         15  Raitt

         16                 Rob Reiner                    Russell

         17  Means

         18                 Jane Seymour                  Anthony

         19  Edwards

         20                 Jackson Browne                Ed

         21  Asner

         22                 Mattress Frewer               Kevin

         23  Bacon

         24                 Kyra Sedgwick                 Susan

         25  Sarandon
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          2                 Oliver Stone                  Woody

          3  Harrelson

          4                 Jodie Evans                   Deborah

          5  Ross

          6                 Hart Bochner                  Peter

          7  Coyote

          8                 Gail Zappa                    Henry

          9  Jaglom

         10                 Robbie Conal                  Ed

         11  Bagley, Jr.

         12                 Kenny Loggins                 Marshall

         13  Herskowitz

         14                 Ed Zwick                      Gabriel

         15  Byrne

         16                 Mayor Jerry Brown             Alfre

         17  Woodard

         18                 Rabbi Stevens Jacobs          Martin

         19  Sheen

         20                 Mary McDonnal                 Davis

         21  Zucker

         22                 Tommy Neuman

         23

         24  Testimony of:

         25  Terrence R. McKnight
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          2  Vice- President

          3  ForestWorld

          4

          5                 To The Members of the New York City

          6  Council:

          7                 This letter is offered as testimony

          8  in favor of Bill No. 784, the Selective Wood

          9  Procurement Legislation, before the Council as a

         10  proposed amendment to the City's Administrative

         11  Code. I know it may be hard to think of New York

         12  City's procurement policies as critical to the life

         13  and productive use of our forests. But, they can be

         14  and they should be.

         15                 Sustainable forestry means sound and

         16  reasonable forestry.  It does not involve roping off

         17  the forests and precluding their use.  Just the

         18  opposite, it means productive use of forest

         19  resources and, at the same time, the preservation of

         20  the beauty, bio- diversity, and the economy built

         21  around the forests and communities surrounding the

         22  forests.

         23                 Sustainable forest products work just

         24  like wood products harvested and handled in an

         25  unsustainable fashion.  But, unsustainable
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          2  harvesting and construction bring tragic damage in

          3  their wake.  One way to understand this is to

          4  imagine walking out onto the Sculptured Garden deck

          5  at the Metropolitan Museum, and looking down at

          6  Central Park and seeing that every tree and shrub

          7  had been cut down (the wood being used, perhaps, to

          8  make wooden pallets to unlad imported Beanie

          9  Babies).  Imagine being told not to worry-- that

         10  seedlings are being planted and the trees will come

         11  back eventually.  Watch as the erosion occurs and

         12  animals, left without homes or food, disappear.

         13  That is an illustrative vision of the old way, the

         14  way of unsustainable forestry practices. But we

         15  cannot afford these old ways any longer.

         16                 New York City starts with "New" for

         17  good reason.  It is a leader.  It should take the

         18  lead in this movement to change procurement policies

         19  to support the new, sustainable way of harvesting

         20  and using forest products.  When a City as large as

         21  yours does it, then others will follow.  The demand

         22  for sustainable wood will ripple across the forest

         23  products industry leading to a sea of change in

         24  forestry practices, for the benefit of citizens not

         25  just of the City, but of the national and the world.
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          2    Other governments, universities and colleges,

          3  corporations and organizations will follow suit.

          4  The effect of this change in your procurement alone

          5  will be significant to the market.  But, the effect

          6  of your new procurement policies as an example to

          7  others will be compelling.

          8                 Will this process work?   The answer

          9  is a resounding, Yes!  You have heard from diverse

         10  organizations such as the FSC, WWF, EDF, Rainforest

         11  Alliance, NRDF, SmartWood, Sierra Club, and many

         12  others, who have worked for many years to devise,

         13  support, and implement a system of principles or

         14  guidelines to define and promote sustainable

         15  forestry.  Major companies, governments,

         16  universities, and other organizations have changed

         17  their procurement policies in response to this

         18  movement, specifying that sustainable wood (FSC if

         19  available) be used for any of their building

         20  projects.  This is what you are considering now, as

         21  well. Will contractors for the City find the

         22  certified wood products they need?

         23                 Our company, ForestWorld, is a for-

         24  profit consulting company dedicated to certification

         25  and sustainability.  We host a Web sit at
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          2  ForestWorld.com.  We have assembled and maintain a

          3  database at our site, growing every day, which

          4  contains over 1,600 companies worldwide, both large

          5  and small, which provide FSC certified wood

          6  products.  We work directly and personally with

          7  companies becoming certified or already certified to

          8  assist them in finding and/or selling certified wood

          9  products, providing them consulting and education

         10  services.  We work with specifiers, like New York

         11  would be, to assist them in implementing a system

         12  and to assist their contractors in finding FSC-

         13  certified wood. We are making links between the

         14  growing supply of certified forests and certified

         15  forest products and the users and buyers of those

         16  products generally.  The companies in our database

         17  and those joining the ranks of FSC- certified

         18  companies will provide the sustainable wood products

         19  to meet the demand changes in procurement policies

         20  such as yours will create.

         21                 Why use FSC- certified products, as

         22  opposed to other products marketed as sustainable

         23  under other systems?  First and foremost, FSC has

         24  the most comprehensive, verifiable, enforceable,

         25  socially sensitive, and scientifically supported
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          2  certification system in the world.  It will work.

          3  Second, the FSC system is the most widely recognized

          4  system in the world and its logo stamp the most

          5  accepted.  Third, FSC has certifying organizations

          6  in place to handle projected significant growth in

          7  applications from companies wanting to become

          8  certified.  Fourth, FSC, because of its inclusive

          9  posture, will make it possible for all forest

         10  products companies to operate at the highest level

         11  of environmental concern and economic productivity.

         12                 The FSC certification scheme does not

         13  exclude any company operating in the forest products

         14  industry.   Nor is it impossible for any company to

         15  qualify for certification under the FSC system.

         16  But, it does require that companies do more than

         17  just say they will practice sustainable forestry.

         18  The companies must demonstrate that they are in fact

         19  practicing this method of operation, and demonstrate

         20  it to an independent third party auditor.  They must

         21  pass future audits, to show they continue to

         22  practice in this manner, in order to maintain their

         23  FSC certification.  There is no sense having a

         24  standard, if there is no accountability.  FSC lets

         25  everyone in; but everyone must qualify by actually
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          2  practicing sustainable forestry, actually helping

          3  regenerate and save our forest.

          4                 In adopting bills and regulations,

          5  such as to prevent injuries by fire in City

          6  buildings, or to preserve historical landmarks, it

          7  makes no real sense to choose the "least common

          8  denominator" among proposed alternatives.  It is the

          9  proposal that will achieve the result that is the

         10  appropriate choice.  Here that choice is FSC-

         11  certified products, if available. We will show you

         12  they are available.

         13                 New York can join, now be a leader in

         14  this effort. It is a bold and sincere undertaking

         15  which promises to change dramatically the way we use

         16  our forest resources.  We urge you to pass this

         17  bill.

         18                 Thank you for considering our

         19  testimony.

         20                 Very truly yours,

         21                 Terrance R. McKnight

         22                 Vice- President

         23                 ForestWorld

         24

         25  Testimony of:
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          2  Mark Comolli

          3  Division Manager (Canada- US)

          4  SmartWood

          5

          6                 To The Member of the New York City

          7  Council:

          8                 Please consider this letter as

          9  testimony about bill (Intro. 784):

         10                 SmartWood is a program of the

         11  Rainforest Alliance that certifies Lands and

         12  Companies underwent the FSC.  SmartWood has been

         13  involved in certification since 1989.  We were

         14  involved in the formation of the FSC and still

         15  believe it to be the most credible independent

         16  forest certification system in existence today.  In

         17  recent years more certification schemes have been

         18  developed around the world.  With few exceptions,

         19  none of the other schemes are truly 3rd party

         20  independent, nor do they have the endorsement of any

         21  major environmental groups.  That is not to say that

         22  some of the companies involved in other schemes are

         23  not managing sustainably, but there is no other real

         24  guarantee other than the FSC sample of approval at

         25  this time.
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          2                 I have attached B&Q's (large retailer

          3  based in the U.K. With 350 stores) Timber Buying

          4  Policy which addresses the issues you are now

          5  facing.  Approximately 85 percent of the wood

          6  products in their stores are FSC certified at this

          7  time.

          8                 I realize that with Home Depot and

          9  Loews in the U.S. Preferring FSC products and hence

         10  placing a great demand upon FSC certified supply,

         11  you may wonder about the availability of FSC wood.

         12  Right now SmartWood is engaged in certifying large

         13  producers in Canada and the U.S. That will provide

         14  major commodities of FSC wood products.  Even today

         15  there are many FSC products available.

         16                 I urge New York City to be a leader

         17  in sustainability and pass this bill.

         18                 Sincerely,

         19                 Mark Comolli

         20                 Division Manager (Canada- US)

         21

         22  Testimony of:

         23  David Ford

         24  President

         25  Certified Forest Products Council
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          2

          3                 Dear Speaker Vallone, Chairperson

          4  Feed, Council Member Miller, and members of the New

          5  York City Council:

          6                 The Certified Forest Products Council

          7  (CFPC) endorses the adoption of Resolution 784 and

          8  applauds your leadership for considering legislation

          9  that promotes the use of certified wood and

         10  environmentally appropriate products.

         11                 By declaring its preference for

         12  Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) or equivalent

         13  forest products, New York City will send a powerful

         14  market signal.  This signal will include a message

         15  from the citizens of New York City that they care

         16  about forests and want assurance that the wood being

         17  purchased and used by its government is truly coming

         18  from well- managed forests.  And your action will

         19  acknowledge and reward the bold steps taken by your

         20  State leadership in completing FSC certification on

         21  state- owned forest lands.  CFPC believes that FSC

         22  is the global leader in forest certification and

         23  that, today, no other certification scheme is its

         24  equivalent.

         25                 CFPC is a voluntary, non- profit,
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          2  business initiative committed to the long- term

          3  health of forest ecosystems globally; the well-

          4  being of workers and communities dependent upon

          5  them; and the financial success of businesses that

          6  adopt environmentally responsible practices.  Our

          7  membership includes businesses, NGOs and individuals

          8  in the U.S. And Canada.  Business members include

          9  forest landowners, leading manufacturers such as

         10  Anderson Windows and Columbia Forest Products,

         11  retail giants including The Home Depot and Loews and

         12  global corporate leaders such as Nike and Starbucks.

         13                 Our Council is a participant in the

         14  Global Forest and Trade Network (GFTN), an

         15  affiliation of over 700 leadership companies

         16  globally, who embrace using the marketplace as a

         17  means to achieve common goals, including vibrant

         18  forests, robust economies, and prosperous

         19  communities.  Collectively these businesses have

         20  embraced forest certification as an effective and

         21  powerful market based tool.  Credible, independent,

         22  third- party certification of forest management,

         23  coupled with audit systems which track wood from the

         24  forest, through manufacturing and distribution, to

         25  its end use (chain- of- custody), allows consumers
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          2  of all kinds, including New York City, to express

          3  their values through purchasing decisions.

          4                 CPFC and its members urge you to

          5  adopt Resolution 784.  We stand ready to assist you

          6  in implementing this important and innovative

          7  legislation.

          8                 Sincerely,

          9                 David Ford

         10                 President

         11

         12  Testimony of:

         13  Graham L. Cox

         14  Coordinator, Forest and Wetland Programs

         15  Audobon New York

         16

         17                 Speaker Vallone, Chairperson Freed,

         18  Council Members:

         19                 This testimony is to voice the

         20  conditional support of this office for the drafting

         21  local law referred to as Intro. 784, amending the

         22  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

         23  relation to City contracts involving the purchase of

         24  wood products and materials.  We support the

         25  proposal provided that it is amended with a friendly
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          2  amendment to include a category called "FSC

          3  certified wood products" in the definition of

          4   "environmentally preferable building materials."

          5                 We appreciate the work that Speaker

          6  Vallone and members of the City Council have put

          7  into this proposed legislation and would hope that

          8  similar measures will be taken in the near future by

          9  other government entities with significant

         10  purchasing power, following the great example being

         11  set by City Council. Audubon New York's forest

         12  program has consistently supported the creation of a

         13  strong consumer market for wood products that come

         14  from sustainably managed forests, with specific

         15  support for the FSC certification program, both

         16  globally, nationally and within New York State.

         17                 As you are aware, the State of New

         18  York has done much in the last two years to

         19  encourage management of its own forests under FSC

         20  standard.  The State Environmental Conservation

         21  Department's own 700,000- acre multiple use forest

         22  lands are now FSC- certified, and other industrial

         23  and institutionalized timber lands in the Adirondack

         24  Park have also gained FSC certification. Our job now

         25  is to encourage the consumer market to buy FSC
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          2  certified wood products, and this action by City

          3  Council is certainly a great example to us all.  We

          4  would encourage the City of New York to purchase New

          5  York's certified wood products whenever possible to

          6  support the actions of the state government and

          7  forest product and paper companies doing business in

          8  New York.

          9                 We would urge that you carefully

         10  examine testimony from representatives of the

         11  industrial forest landowners and paper products

         12  manufacturers who will try to persuade you that

         13  their own internal assurances about sustainable

         14  forest management match those from a third- party

         15  FSC certification program.  Though the industry's

         16  Sustainable Forestry Initiative (SFI) program is a

         17  major step in the right direction, it does not yet

         18  compare in its criteria, its standards or its rigor

         19  with the FSC program.

         20                 Indeed, one industrial forest

         21  products company in the Adirondack Park, the Finch-

         22  Pruyn Company, is using a "belt and suspenders"

         23  approach to this issue.  They reportedly are

         24  considering augmenting their SFI rating with an FSC

         25  certification, presumably so that they do not miss
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          2  out on the huge consumer market that will soon be

          3  demanding the third- party- FSC, certified products

          4  in Home Depot and other major outlets.

          5                 Graham L. Cox

          6                 Coordinator, Forest and Wetland

          7  Programs

          8

          9  Testimony of:

         10  Jane Sokolow

         11

         12                 My name is Jane Sokolow.  While I

         13  might represent several different organizations

         14  local, regional and national, in speaking against

         15  this bill, I am here as a New York City citizen.

         16                 On first appearance, Intro. 784 seems

         17  to be a laudable and environmentally sound bill.  It

         18  speaks to the importance of forests.  Forest

         19  Stewardship Council certified wood, and being

         20  responsible about policy that supports ecological

         21  forest practices.  In fact, I have heard the bill

         22  referred to as the good wood bill.

         23                 But, that is not what this bill is

         24  about.  What this bill mandates is that the City

         25  purchase what the writers of the bill consider
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          2  environmentally preferable building materials before

          3  purchasing wood products.  Those environmentally

          4  preferable building materials include:

          5                 (a)  reclaimed wood products

          6                 (b)  bio- based materials, or

          7                 (c)  recycled plastic and other

          8  recycled materials

          9                 With so much time, effort and words

         10  spent on defining and explaining certified wood

         11  products, why aren't these good wood products listed

         12  in the bill in the list of environmentally

         13  preferable materials?

         14                 I think the bill is badly worded and

         15  hides a hidden agenda, which is to prohibit the City

         16  from purchasing wood, specifically certified

         17  rainforest timber.

         18                 In fact, the City uses very little

         19  rainforest wood. The Parks Department uses it for

         20  park benches and boardwalks.  Why? Because it is

         21  economically the best product to use.

         22                 The cost of using either reclaimed

         23  wood products or recycled plastic and other

         24  materials would be at least twice the cost of using

         25  timber.  Recycled materials are not structurally as
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          2  sound or sturdy as wood and require twice the number

          3  of stringers or support beams in construction and

          4  therefore these materials are more expensive to use.

          5    To my knowledge there are few, if any bio based

          6  materials that are available on the market for sound

          7  construction purposes.

          8                 I urge you to send this bill back to

          9  the drawing board.  With a little effort and

         10  rewording this bill could make the City a leader in

         11  promoting strong and practical environmental

         12  practices and purchasing.  New York City could be a

         13  national leader by passing legislation to mandate

         14  purchase of only certified wood products.

         15                 Finally, I would like to say at least

         16  one of the NGO organizations endorsed this bill in

         17  the Spring of 2000 when the working of the bill

         18  included certified wood products as environmentally

         19  preferable building materials.  That organization

         20  has now withdrawn its endorsement of the bill due to

         21  the changes in the proposed language.  And, it

         22  appears that at least one other NGO and the leader

         23  of that organization are listed as having endorsed

         24  this bill, but has never seen the bill, was unaware

         25  that his name is listed in endorsement and does not
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          2  support the bill as it is worded.

          3

          4  Testimony Of:

          5  Brad Williams

          6  Senior Manager, Sustainable Forestry and Forest

          7  Policy

          8  The American Forest and Paper Association

          9

         10                 I would like to take this opportunity

         11  to describe what the U.S. Forest products industry

         12  is doing to commit itself to sustainable forestry.

         13                 Using professional foresters,

         14  conservationists and scientists, forest landowners,

         15  loggers and academicians, AF&PA developed and

         16  adopted the Sustainable Forestry Initiative Program

         17  (SFI) in 1994.  The SFI program's goal is to manage

         18  forest to meet the needs of the present without

         19  compromising future generations' own needs by

         20  practicing a sustainable land stewardship ethic.

         21                 The program requires strict

         22  compliance with a number of stewardship principles,

         23  including conservation of soil, air and water

         24  quality, wildlife, fish habitat and aesthetics.

         25                 An Independent External Review Panel

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            195

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  recommends changes to the program's standards, while

          3  a multi- stakeholder Sustainable Forestry Board

          4  (SFB) manages the SFI Standard and Verification

          5  Program.  The SFB is comprised of 60 percent outside

          6  stakeholders, such as environmental and conservation

          7  groups, professional and academic organizations,

          8  foundations, and non industrial landowners.

          9                 Ninety- four million acres are

         10  enrolled in North America and, of that, 80 million

         11  acres have completed or are committed to third party

         12  certification.  The SFI program is now the largest

         13  sustainable forestry and certification program in

         14  the world.

         15                 Program participants in the SFI

         16  represent over 85 of the domestic paper production,

         17  50 percent of the solid wood production, 85 percent

         18  of the structural panel production and 90 percent of

         19  the industrial timberland in the U.S.

         20                 In New York State alone over 727,000

         21  acres in the SFI Program, (*third party certified):

         22                 Finch Pruyn and Company- 166,000

         23  Acres*

         24                 International Paper- 274,000 Acres*

         25                 The Conservation Fund- 14,000 Acres
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          2                 Domtar Industries- 105,00 Acres

          3                 Fitzpatrick and Weller- 5,400 Acres

          4                 Hancock Timber Resource Group-

          5  138,700 Acres

          6                 Paul Smith College- 12,500 Acres

          7                 Litchfield Park Corp.- 12,000 Acres

          8                 Unlike FSC, the SFI program's goal is

          9  not to just reward those who are currently operating

         10  under commendable forestry management systems, but

         11  to work with landowners to elevate their current

         12  management and land systems to the highest levels of

         13  sustainable forestry.  We provide the tools and the

         14  encouragement that give them access to operating

         15  biologically diverse and sustainable forests.

         16                 The SFI program has been accused of

         17  being less than credible because it is tied to

         18  industry.  We vehemently refute that statement as

         19  all third party certifiers are completely

         20  independent of Af&PA.  We also run under the

         21  guidance of an External Review Panel compromised of

         22  60 percent outside stakeholders.  On the contrary,

         23  the FSC program internally owns and operates their

         24  certification program

         25                 In an effort to address the needs of
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          2  the forest products community, SFI is undertaking

          3  the development of an on product labeling system

          4  that will become widely recognized for

          5  environmentally conscious end- use consumers.  The

          6  label will be launched in fall of 2001.

          7  Participants must successfully complete an

          8  independent 3rd party certification and meet

          9  comprehensive label use requirements before applying

         10  for the right to use the label.

         11                 Despite everything that's been

         12  accomplished, there is still a public misconception

         13  that the forest products industry does not practice

         14  sustainable forestry.  AF&AP is working vigorously

         15  to correct that misperception through the SFI

         16  programs's daily and long- term commitment to the

         17  health and sustainability of our national's forests.

         18

         19  Testimony of:

         20  David Nahwegabhow

         21  Forest Stewardship Council

         22  International Board Member,

         23  Social Chamber North

         24

         25                 As a representative of the social
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          2  chamber on the FSC board, my main interest is in

          3  social issues and the foregoing reference in Bill

          4  784 speaks to this.  Within the FSC, the social

          5  implications of forestry are imperative.  This

          6  includes the rights and human conditions of workers,

          7  community and small scale forest users and

          8  indigenous peoples.

          9                 This brings me to the other second

         10  important aspect of the bill I want to mention.

         11  Section 1 makes specific reference to the situation

         12  of indigenous peoples and how the practice of

         13  deforestation continue to displace them and destroys

         14  their culture. As an indigenous person, I applaud

         15  you for making this a foundational purpose of the

         16  bill.  As the bill notes such impacts on indigenous

         17  peoples continue to this day, around the world, even

         18  in Canada.

         19                 Principle 3 of the Principles and

         20  Criteria of FSC in intended to address this aspect

         21  by ensuring recognition and respect for the rights

         22  and tenure of indigenous peoples.

         23                 The third foundational aspect of Bill

         24  784, which I believe is significant, is the specific

         25  reference to the principles of FSC. This, of course,
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          2  is then operationalized in article e.(2) (I), which

          3  makes adherence to the principles and criteria of

          4  FSC a requirement for eligibility to qualify as a

          5  certifier under the proposed regime.

          6                 The bill does not rule out

          7  eligibility based on other certification systems.

          8  In fact, it refers to FSC or the equivalent

          9  requirements of other similar organizations.  There

         10  are other certification systems out there, PEFC in

         11  Europe, SFI in the United States and CSA in Canada.

         12  But none of them are global like FSC, and none have

         13  standards that are as high or inclusive or as

         14  rigorous as FSC's.

         15                 Yet it is not an impossible standard.

         16    The proof is in the face that the State of New

         17  York has 700,000 acres of FSC certified forest.

         18  Indeed, there are millions of hectares of FSC

         19  certified forests around the world now.  It is not

         20  an impossible standard but it is difficult for

         21  companies and governments to achieve.  This is one

         22  of the reasons for the proliferation of other

         23  certification systems with lesser standards which

         24  are less rigorous.

         25                 Social Dimensions of FSC
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          2  Certification

          3                 In my comments respecting Section 1

          4  of the bill, I already highlighted FSC's

          5  preoccupation with social issues.  This is not to

          6  down play the environmental or economic aspects,

          7  these are equally important, the social aspects are

          8  always the most difficult to measure, monitor and

          9  address.  Therefore, they usually get lost in the

         10  shuffle, yet social impacts are severe.

         11                 FSC's preoccupation with social

         12  issues in certification distinguish it from the

         13  other certification systems which are out there.

         14  Social issues are given equal weight within FSC's

         15  three chamber structure.  And FSC's principles and

         16  criteria place special emphasis on social issues.

         17  Principles 2, 3, 4, and 5 are intended to safeguard

         18  the rights of indigenous peoples, workers and

         19  community and small scale forest users.  Independent

         20  certifiers must measure performance against these

         21  principles before an FSC certificate is issued.  And

         22  in the certification process, all stakeholders are

         23  to be consulted, including workers and indigenous

         24  peoples.

         25                 FSC is taking a proactive position on
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          2  social issues because we believe that forestry needs

          3  to be socially beneficial according to our mission

          4  statement.  The FSC has embarked on a social

          5  strategy to make certification accessible and the

          6  Principle and Criteria meaningful to indigenous

          7  peoples, community and small scale forest users and

          8  workers.  Last November we had a conference called

          9   "Certification for the People," dedicated solely to

         10  the social dimensions of certification.  We are now

         11  in the process of delivering a program of action to

         12  implement the recommendations emanating from that

         13  conference.

         14                 Indigenous Peoples in Canada.

         15                 As I indicated earlier, forestry

         16  operations continue to have devastating impacts on

         17  the cultures and traditional way of life of

         18  indigenous peoples in Canada.  This is due to the

         19  fact that laws in Canada, particularly forestry

         20  laws, do not provide adequate recognition and

         21  protection for the rights of indigenous peoples.

         22                 Indigenous rights are often described

         23  in very general terms in treaties.  Or where there

         24  are no treaties, where Aboriginal title is

         25  unsurrendered, as in the case for most of British
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          2  Columbia, the rights are totally unwritten.

          3  Indigenous peoples are required to go to court to

          4  establish their rights. Unfortunately, most do not

          5  have the money to engage in costly litigation.

          6                 This brings me to what I believe is

          7  the submission of the Canadian Consulate.  I

          8  understand that the Consulate is not opposing the

          9  specific reference to FSC in the bill, however, it

         10  is urging the inclusion of other certification

         11  systems too, specifically the CSA.

         12                 I do not have time to undertake an

         13  exhaustive comparison between FSC and CSA.  But I

         14  will say that from an indigenous perspective, that

         15  CSA is inadequate.  Principle 3 of FSC's principles

         16  and criteria requires recognition and respect for

         17  the tenure of indigenous peoples and requires their

         18  informed consent to certification.  On the other

         19  hand, CSA makes it very clear that only "duly

         20  established" rights are recognized.  Of course, this

         21  simply perpetuates the status quo of denial and non

         22  recognition of indigenous rights and the devastating

         23  impacts that come with it.

         24                 Conclusion.

         25                 In conclusion, I urge you to maintain
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          2  with Bill 784, the principles I have referred to

          3  above, and furthermore, I urge you to enact the bill

          4  into law.

          5                 This will be a very significant step

          6  for your City, FSC and the world.  Its effect will

          7  clearly reach beyond your City limits.  It will send

          8  a strong signal that society must aim high in

          9  establishing standards for certification even though

         10  it may be difficult.  It will also give reason for

         11  optimism for forest dependant peoples and workers

         12  throughout the world that their concerns have not

         13  been forgotten by their urban brothers and sisters.

         14                 In closing, I want to thank the

         15  Committee and the City of New York for providing me

         16  with the opportunity to make this presentation.

         17

         18  Testimony of:

         19  Matthew C. Porterfield

         20  Senior Fellow and Adjunct Professor of Law

         21  The Harrison Institute for Public Law

         22  Georgetown University Law Center

         23

         24                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         25  testify on this important proposal.  My name is
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          2  Matthew Porterfield.  I am a Senior Fellow at

          3  Georgetown Law School's Harrison Institute for

          4  Public Law.  One of my primary areas of study has

          5  been the relationship of state and local procurement

          6  laws to federal law and international trade rules.

          7                 I have been asked to give my opinion

          8  regarding whether Intro. 784 ("the proposed Local

          9  Law") could be subject to legal challenges similar

         10  to those raised against the "Massachusetts Burma

         11  Law," which was struck down last year by the United

         12  States Supreme Court.  The Massachusetts Law was

         13  challenged in the Federal Courts on three grounds:

         14  That it was preempted by federal sanctions on Burma,

         15  that it intruded on the federal foreign affairs

         16  power, and that it violated the "dormant" commerce

         17  clause.  The United States Court of Appeals for the

         18  First Circuit held against Massachusetts on all

         19  three grounds.  In addition to the federal

         20  litigation, the Massachusetts Law was also

         21  challenged by the European Union and Japan as a

         22  violation of the rules of the World Trade

         23  Organization, although that challenge was withdrawn

         24  after the law was struck down in the federal courts.

         25                 As discussed below, the proposed
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          2  Local Law is a nondiscriminatory exercise of the

          3  City's contracting authority that does not conflict

          4  with any federal statute.  Accordingly, it could not

          5  be successfully challenged based upon any of the

          6  legal doctrines asserted against the Massachusetts

          7  Burma Law.  In addition, the proposed Local Law, and

          8  municipal procurement policies in general, are not

          9  covered by the relevant international trade rules

         10  that apply to government procurement.  Before

         11  addressing these legal issues in more detail, it is

         12  important to note that the proposed Local Law is not

         13  a radical departure from established procurement

         14  practices.  Environmental procurement preferences

         15  are already widely used by state and local

         16  governments, including New York City.

         17                 1.  Numerous State and Local

         18  Governments Have Lawsuit Encouraging the Procurement

         19  of Environmentally Preferable Products.

         20                 Numerous municipalities and 48 states

         21  have at least one environmental procurement

         22  preference.  The New York City Code, for example,

         23  already contains provisions encouraging City

         24  agencies to purchase low- emission motor vehicles

         25  and recycled paper products.  See New York, N.Y.,
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          2  Admin., Code, Sections 6- 12, 6- 122. New York State

          3  Law also encourages the City and other

          4  municipalities to purchase various types of

          5  environmentally preferable materials.  State Finance

          6  Law, Section 165 generally prohibits both state

          7  agencies and municipalities from purchasing

          8  unsustainably harvested tropical timber.  See State

          9  Finance Law, Section 165 (2)(a) ("[e]xcept as

         10  hereinafter provided, the state and any governmental

         11  agency or political subdivision...shall not purchase

         12  or obtain for any purpose any tropical hardwoods").

         13  Similarly, General Municipal Law, Section 80- a

         14  requires municipalities to use procurement

         15  specifications that promote the use of "secondary

         16  materials" (including recycled materials) rather

         17  than virgin materials.

         18                 Many other governments have also

         19  adopted procurement preferences for products with

         20  recycled content, ranging from paper to street signs

         21  to playgrounds to park benches and fences, to

         22  ordinances creating a general preference for

         23  recycled materials. Other environmental procurement

         24  measures at the state and local level aim to reduce

         25  dependence on petroleum- based products.  These
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          2  include nine states with price preferences for

          3  soybean- based ink, five states with statutes

          4  requiring bio- based or clean alternative fuel for

          5  governmental motorized vehicles, and a variety of

          6  statutes and ordinances requiring energy efficiency

          7  to be taken into account in procurement decisions.

          8  At least two states (in addition to New York) and

          9  nine cities have passed laws that limit the purchase

         10  of wood from tropical rainforests, only buying

         11  tropical timber that is harvested using ecologically

         12  sound management practices.

         13                 There are also federal laws that

         14  encourage federal agencies to purchase various types

         15  of environmentally preferable products.  See, e.g.,

         16  Section 6002 of the Resources Conservation and

         17  Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C., Section 6962 (encouraging

         18  federal agencies to purchase products containing

         19  recycled materials); Executive Order 13101 (issued

         20  September 14, 1998) (encouraging the procurement of

         21  recycled, bio- based, and environmentally preferable

         22  products).

         23                 2.  The Proposed Local Law is Not

         24  Affected by the Supreme Court's Decision Holding

         25  that the Massachusetts Burma Law was Preempted by
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          2  Federal Sanctions on Burma.

          3                 The Massachusetts Burma Law awarded a

          4  10 percent bidding preference on state contracts to

          5  companies that did not do business in Burma.  The

          6  Massachusetts Burma Law was enacted to express the

          7  state's disapproval of Burma's military

          8  dictatorship. The Supreme Court held that the law

          9  was preempted by a federal statute that imposed

         10  sanctions on Burma.  See Crosby v. National Foreign

         11  Trade Council, 120 S. Ct. 2288 (2000).  The Court

         12  indicated that the Massachusetts Law was preempted

         13  because it presented "an obstacle to the

         14  accomplishment of Congress's full objectives under

         15  the federal Act."  120 S.Ct.at 2294.  The Court

         16  indicated that Massachusetts Law interfered with

         17  three of Congress' objectives in passing the law:

         18  Congress intended to give discretion to the

         19  President to control the imposition of sanctions on

         20  Burma, it intended to limit the scope of the

         21  sanctions, and it intended to encourage the

         22  President to develop a multilateral approach towards

         23  Burma. Id.

         24                 It can not plausibly be argued that

         25  the proposed Local Law is preempted by the Court's
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          2  decision in Crosby.  The proposed Local Law has

          3  nothing to do with sanctions against Burma. Instead,

          4  it merely encourages City agencies to purchase

          5  various types of environmentally preferable building

          6  materials and prohibits them, subjective to certain

          7  exceptions, from purchasing wood that does not come

          8  from responsibly managed forests.

          9                 There is nothing in any provision of

         10  federal law that indicates that Congress has

         11  intended to preempt states from purchasing

         12  environmentally friendly products.  Moreover, an

         13  Executive Order issued by President Clinton actually

         14  encourages state and local governments to

         15   "use...recycled products and environmentally

         16  preferable products and services."  See Executive

         17  Order 1310, Section 302 (a)(3) (issued September 14,

         18  1998). Accordingly, the proposed Local Law is not

         19  preempted by federal law.

         20                 A few other legal issues related to

         21  the Massachusetts Burma Law merit brief discussion.

         22  The United States Court of Appeals for the First

         23  Circuit struck down the Massachusetts Law on broader

         24  grounds than the Supreme Court, holding that in

         25  addition to being preempted, the law also violated
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          2  both the federal foreign affairs power and the

          3  dormant commerce clause.  See National Foreign Trade

          4  Council v. Natsios, 181 F.3d 38 (1st Circulation.

          5  1999).  The Natsios decision is not controlling in

          6  New York,  which is located in the Second Circuit.

          7  Nonetheless, as I discuss below, even if Natsios

          8  were controlling it would not affect the proposed

          9  Local Law.  In addition, I will briefly discuss why

         10  the proposed Local Law is not subject to challenge

         11  under international trade rules.

         12                 3.  The Proposed Local Law Does Not

         13  Interfere with the Federal Government's Foreign

         14  Affairs Power.

         15                 In concluding that the Massachusetts

         16  Law unconstitutionally intruded upon the federal

         17  governments foreign affairs power, the court of

         18  appeals stressed that the law was intended to affect

         19  the policies of a foreign government by encouraging

         20  prospective contract bidders to stop doing business

         21  in Burma.  See 181 F.3d at 53.   The Massachusetts

         22  Law applied to state contracts even when the

         23  contracts involved good or services that were

         24  completely unrelated the company's business in

         25  Burma. See 181 F.3d at 46.  The law therefore
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          2  constituted a secondary boycott that penalized

          3  companies in order to encourage them to server their

          4  economic relationship with Burma.  The ultimate

          5  target of the law was not the affected companies,

          6  but rather Burma's military government.

          7                 In contrast, the proposed Local Law

          8  is not directed at influencing the policies of any

          9  government.  Instead, it merely encourages City

         10  agencies to purchase various types of

         11  environmentally preferable building materials

         12  without regard to whether the materials are produced

         13  in any particular country.  The proposed Local Law

         14  thus has nothing to do with influencing the affairs

         15  of any foreign government.  Instead, it merely

         16  constitutes an exercise of the power that local

         17  governments have always enjoyed to specify what

         18  materials should be used on municipal contracts. As

         19  noted above, numerous other state and local

         20  governments have similar environmental procurement

         21  preferences.

         22                 4.  The Proposed Local Law is a Non-

         23  discriminatory Market Participation Measure and

         24  Therefore is Not Affected by the Dormant Commerce

         25  Clause.
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          2                 The Court of Appeals also held that

          3  the Massachusetts Burma Law violated the commerce

          4  clause of the Constitution.  Under the "dormant

          5  commerce clause" doctrine, state and local

          6  governments generally may not enact laws that

          7  facially discriminate against foreign commerce.

          8  Nondiscriminatory laws which only have an incidental

          9  effect on commerce, however, are permissible under

         10  the dormant commerce clause "unless the burden

         11  imposed on such commerce is clearly excessive in

         12  relation to the putative local benefits."  Pike v.

         13  Bruce Church, 397 U.Sl 137, 142 (1970), citing Huron

         14  Portland Cement Co. V. City of Detroit, 362 U.S.

         15  440, 443 (1960).

         16                 Unlike the Massachusetts Law, the

         17  proposed Local Law does not facially discriminate

         18  against commerce with any country. Although the bill

         19  will arguably have some "incidental effect" on

         20  commerce in that tithers will encourage the

         21  production of environmentally preferable building

         22  materials, any indirect impacts will not differ

         23  significantly in nature or degree from the effect

         24  that New York has on commerce whenever it specifies

         25  the materials to be used on City contracts.  In the
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          2  new global economy, any local measure could be said

          3  to have some incidental effect upon foreign

          4  commerce.  Laws with only incidental effects,

          5  however, do not violate the dormant commerce clause.

          6    Moreover, the local interest in exercising the

          7  authority to determine what materials will be used

          8  in local products would not only likely be found by

          9  a reviewing court to outweigh any incidental effect

         10  on commerce, it could very well render the proposed

         11  Local Law of entirely exempt from the restrictions

         12  imposed by the dormant commerce clause.

         13                 The Supreme Court has indicated that

         14  when state and local governments are merely

         15  dictating how they will spend money in the

         16  marketplace, they are generally not subject to the

         17  restrictions imposed on state and local regulatory

         18  measures under the dormant commerce clause.  The

         19  Court has noted that

         20                 [r]estraint in this areas

         21  is...counseled by considerations of state

         22  sovereignty, the role of each State`as guardian and

         23  trustee for its people'...and`the long recognized

         24  right of trader or manufacturer, engaged in an

         25  entirely private business, freely to exercise his
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          2  own independent discretion as to parties with whom

          3  he will deal...[S]tate proprietary activities may

          4  be, and often are, burdened with the same

          5  restrictions imposed on private market participants.

          6    Evenhandedness suggests that, when acting as

          7  proprietors, states should similarly share existing

          8  freedoms from federal constraints....

          9                 White v. Massage, 460 U.S. 204, 207

         10  n.3 (1983) (citations omitted).  Accordingly, under

         11  the "market participation doctrine" the City should

         12  enjoy the same freedom enjoyed by private parties to

         13  determine what types of building materials it will

         14  purchase.

         15                 The Supreme Court has thus far not

         16  explicitly held whether the market participant

         17  doctrine applies to state and local laws that affect

         18  foreign as well as interstate commerce.

         19                 The First Circuit in the Burma Law

         20  case expressed doubt that the doctrine applied in

         21  foreign commerce clause cases. [8] F.3d at 65- 66.

         22  The United State Court of Appeals for the Third

         23  Circuit, however, has held that the market

         24  participation exception applies even to lawsuit that

         25  facially discriminate against foreign commerce.  See
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          2  Trojan Technologies, Inc. V. Pennsylvania, 916 F.2d

          3  903, 912 (3d Cir. 1990) (upholding Pennsylvania Law

          4  requiring use of steel produced in the United State

          5  in public works projects). Both of those cases, it

          6  should be noted, dealt with laws that facially

          7  discriminated against foreign commerce.  Regardless

          8  of how the Supreme Court eventually resolves the

          9  issue of the applicability of the market

         10  participation doctrine to explicit discriminatory

         11  laws, it is extremely unlikely that a court would

         12  hold that a market participation measure, such as

         13  the proposed Local Law, that has, at most,

         14  incidental effects on foreign commerce somehow

         15  violates the dormant commerce clause.

         16                 5.  The Proposed Local Law in Not

         17  Covered by International Trade Rules.

         18                 In addition to the preemption and

         19  constitutional issues, it has also apparently been

         20  suggested that the proposed Local Law is somehow

         21  inconsistent with the obligations of the United

         22  States under international trade rules.  This

         23  contention is demonstrably false and merits only

         24  brief rebuttal.

         25                 The relevant rules of the World Trade
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          2  Organization ("WTO") covering government purchasing

          3  are contained in the Government Procurement

          4  Agreement ("GPA").  Parties to the GPA are bound

          5  only regarding those specific agencies at the

          6  national and subnational (i.e., state and local)

          7  levels that they have listed in appendices to the

          8  GPA.   The United States has agreed to bind certain

          9  federal agencies and thirty- seven of the fifty

         10  states.  See Government Procurement Agreement, Annex

         11  2 of Appendix 1, reprinted in H.R. Doctor. 103- 316,

         12  103d Cong., 2d Sess., vol. 1, at 330- 336 (1994).

         13  No local governments in the United States, however,

         14  are covered under the GPA.  Similarly, no state or

         15  local governments have been bound under the

         16  procurement chapter of the North American Free Trade

         17  Agreement (NAFTA).  See NAFTA, art.1001, art. 1024

         18  Section 3, and Annex 1001.1a- 3.

         19                 In conclusion, the proposed Local Law

         20  is a legitimate exercise of the City Council's

         21  authority to specify what products will be used on

         22  City contracts, and it could not be successfully

         23  challenged based upon any other statutory,

         24  constitutional, or international trade law issues

         25  that were raised against the Massachusetts Burma

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            217

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  Law.  I would be happy to address the relevant

          3  issues in more detail if you have any questions.

          4

          5  Testimony of:

          6  Thomas Outerbridge

          7  President

          8  City Green

          9

         10                 Honorable Members of the City

         11  Council:

         12                 Good afternoon, my name is Thomas

         13  Outerbridge.  I am President of City Green, Inc., a

         14  New York City- based company.  I am here to testify

         15  in support of Intro. 784.  However, I believe that

         16  the definition of "environmentally preferable

         17  building material" requires some changes:

         18                 1.  Wood products that are FSC

         19  certified should be included in the definition.

         20                 2.  The definition refers to NYC

         21  Title 55, Chapter 8, Section 3 for the definition of

         22  recycled materials.  However, this Section is

         23  limited to materials like glass, paper and rubber.

         24  Most synthetic lumber products are composites; if

         25  they are 100 percent plastic, they are composite of
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          2  several polymers.  Most composite lumber is

          3  manufactured from 50 percent plastic (HPDE and/or

          4  LDPE) and 50 percent sawdust.  Sawdust is not in the

          5  definitions in Section 3.  To further complicate

          6  matters, if the lumber is composed of 50 percent

          7  sawdust, and the wood from which the sawdust came

          8  was not FSC certified, what is the procurement agent

          9  to do?

         10                 I support Intro. 784 because I

         11  believe it accomplishes several important objectives

         12  and because it sends a valuable message to the world

         13  about New York City's priorities.

         14                 1.  Intro. 784 is an important step

         15  toward the establishment of sound forestry practices

         16  around the globe.

         17                 2.  Intro. 784 will provide an

         18  incentive for the development and use of synthetic

         19  alternatives to pressure- treated wood, which is

         20  both toxic and widely used.

         21                 3.  Intro. 784 provides incentive for

         22  the development and production of alternative

         23  building products fabricated from locally produced

         24  waste materials.

         25                 I want to focus on the last point.
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          2                 City Green is the licensee of a

          3  technology to make synthetic lumber products from

          4  recycled glass.

          5                 A)  The lumber can be up to 80

          6  percent low grade, mixed glass, with the balance

          7  high performance resins from virgin, recycled or

          8  bio- based sources.

          9                 B)  The NYC Department of Sanitation

         10  collet about 100,000 tons a year of recycled glass,

         11  the second largest fraction of the recyclable stream

         12  after paper.  Because the glass ends up as mixed

         13  cullet, it has very limited markets, i.e., it has a

         14  negative value. (Recycling costs are justified by

         15  the alternative cost of waste disposal.)

         16                 C)  The technology allows for the

         17  manufacture of structural building products, e.g.,

         18  NYC Park benches, boardwalks, RR ties.

         19                 There are more than 30 other

         20  manufacturers of synthetic lumber in the US,

         21  including several companies located in the greater

         22  Metropolitan area.  These companies produce lumber

         23  with varying levels of recycled content and varying

         24  mechanical properties.  Most are focused on the non-

         25  structural building materials.  At least two
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          2  companies, in addition to ours, have benches

          3  installed in NYC Parks.  Other companies manufacture

          4  railroad ties, sound barrier wall panels, sign

          5  posts, marine pilings, etc.

          6                 Intro. 784 dovetails with issues

          7  faced by a number of agencies.

          8                 The NYC Department of Sanitation's

          9  annual budget has grown to $1 billion dollars to

         10  accommodate waste export.  In response, the

         11  Department has been examining waste prevention

         12  options, including a life- span cost- benefit

         13  analysis of recycled plastic park bench boards.

         14  Their conclusion was a net annual savings to the

         15  City of $2.81 for each bench made with synthetic

         16  boards.  About 23 percent of the savings are

         17  attributed to reduced disposal costs due to the

         18  longer life of synthetics and the balance attributed

         19  to reduced capital and maintenance costs, again on a

         20  life- span basis.

         21                 The Department of Citywide

         22  Administrative Service (DCAS) is charged with

         23  promoting City procurement of recycled products.

         24  They have made some progress in the area of paper,

         25  motor oil and other materials.  Intro. 784 should
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          2  spur DCAS to add lumber products made from waste

          3  materials to its procurement effort.

          4                 The MTA is currently testing plastic

          5  railroad ties manufactured in New Jersey, and

          6  several manufacturers nationwide are working with

          7  both freight and commuter rail operators, offering a

          8  product that is more durable and less toxic than

          9  creosote treat oak, which is the current standard.

         10                 NY- NJ Harbor waterfront structure

         11  are in serious state of decay, with estimated repair

         12  and replacement cost at more than $1 billion over

         13  the next few years.  Happily, this is due to cleaner

         14  waters that can now support decomposing organisms.

         15  However, it presents a significant fiscal challenge.

         16    The City has already done some work with marine

         17  applications for recycled synthetics; the State and

         18  Federal Government are furthering this effort.

         19                 Intro. 784 is one piece of a complex

         20  puzzle that, if we can figure it out, will lead to a

         21  better local economy, fewer toxins in the

         22  environment, a more durable infrastructure, lower

         23  costs to the City and a better stance in the global

         24  arena in which the City operates.

         25                 Thank you for the opportunity to
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          2  testify.

          3

          4  Testimony of:

          5  Suzanne Madden

          6  Director, State Government Affairs

          7  The American Forest and Paper Association

          8

          9                 AF&PA is the national trade

         10  association of the forest, paper and wood products

         11  industry.  We represent over 160 member companies

         12  engaged in growing, harvesting and processing wood

         13  and wood fiber, manufacturing pulp, paper and

         14  paperboard products from both virgin and recycled

         15  fiber, and producing engineered and traditional wood

         16  products.

         17                 AF&PA members include manufacturers

         18  of over 80 percent of the paper, wood and forest

         19  products produced in the United States.  For

         20  interests as varied as those of small non industrial

         21  private landowners, large multi- product producers

         22  and family- run mills, AF&PA acts as the

         23  clearinghouse for statistical information, as the

         24  leading force in technical, regulatory and policy

         25  issues, and as the national voice for the forestry,
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          2  wood and paper industries.

          3                 As a whole, the industry employs some

          4  1.7 million people, with a $51 billion payroll.  We

          5  contribute $215 billion to the U.S. Economy through

          6  production of wood and paper products. America's

          7  forest products industry is also among the most

          8  competitive in the world with annual exports

          9  totaling over $23 billion.

         10                 Our industry employees over 52,000

         11  workers is New York with a payroll of $1.6 billion.

         12                 AF&PA applauds the goal of supporting

         13  improved forest management and conservation

         14  practices through procurement policies.  However, if

         15  enacted and implemented in its current form, the

         16  bill disregards and discourages the U.S. Forest

         17  products industry's dedication to sound,

         18  environmentally responsible forestry practices.

         19                 Using professional foresters,

         20  conservationists and scientists, forest landowners,

         21  loggers and academicians, AF&PA developed and

         22  adopted the Sustainable Forestry Initiative Program

         23  (SFI) in 1994.  The SFI program's goal is to manage

         24  forests to meet the needs of the present without

         25  compromising future generations' own needs by
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          2  practicing a sustainable land stewardship ethic.

          3                 SFI participation is a condition of

          4  membership in AF&PA and we have already kicked out

          5  over 15 members who have not done so.  For a group

          6  who depend on members for its livelihood, you can

          7  imagine how significant that is.

          8                 Over 50 other organizations have

          9  officially expressed support of the SFI program,

         10  including conservation and labor groups, public

         11  policy organizations, and state legislatures,

         12  including New York's.

         13                 AF&PA is supportive of certification

         14  as it is market- based, independent, and voluntary.

         15  We encourage you to amend Intro. 784 to reflect an

         16  inclusive, incentive- based approach toward

         17  encouraging certification.

         18                 We are concerned that the explicit

         19  reference to the FSC over all other certification

         20  standards creates a de factor monopoly for a single

         21  accrediting organization and that the language in

         22  the legislation makes provision only for FSC

         23  certification, as the bill requires a separate

         24  chain- of- custody model.

         25                 Providing a monopoly to FSC in this
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          2  legislation runs counter to a U.S. Market place that

          3  emphasizes choice.  We're appealing to you to

          4  embrace recognition of various sustainable forestry

          5  systems such as SFI, the American Tree Farm System,

          6  and the Canadian Standards Association (CSA), just

          7  to name a few, who provide ample evidence that they

          8  are committed to sustainable forestry and a

          9  responsible land stewardship ethic.

         10                 Logistically, due to the lack of FSC-

         11  certified land in general, and in particular North

         12  America, adoption of the bill in current form will

         13  unnecessarily restrict New York City's source of

         14  wood and wood products supply, greatly increasing

         15  costs, inefficiency, and waiting time for City

         16  agencies procuring such products.

         17                 The drafting legislation also

         18  distinguishes between wood products and similar

         19  products constructed of "environmentally preferable"

         20  building materials (i.e., reclaimed wood, bio- based

         21  materials or recycled plastic and other recycled

         22  materials).  The bill's preferable materials

         23  definitions create a bias against wood despite the

         24  fact that wood demonstrably has the advantage of

         25  being derived from a renewable and sustainable
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          2  resource, as well as from land supporting an

          3  ecologically diverse environment.

          4                 The definition of "bio- based

          5  materials" fails to include wood; therefore,

          6  mistakenly delegating all wood products to the same

          7  category as in organic and petroleum- based

          8  materials. Likewise, there is no certification

          9  required to demonstrate these materials were yielded

         10  in an environmentally- friendly manner.

         11                 The reclaimed wood definition

         12  requires previously used or discarded wood products

         13  to consist of wood that was independent third party

         14  certified.  Not only is the practical implementation

         15  of that requirement questionable, but it implies

         16  that all other previously used and/or discarded wood

         17  products will be rejected (i.e., wasted) rather than

         18  reused or recycled in New York City.  This does not

         19  appear to be the goal this legislation is trying to

         20  support.

         21                 We are committed to working with you

         22  to create an effective procurement policy that 1)

         23  recognizes the full range of credible forest

         24  certification options globally and 2) appropriately

         25  promotes the use of a material resource that
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          2  supports a biologically diverse environment, saves

          3  energy, soaks up carbon dioxide, and is both

          4  sustainable and renewable.

          5                 I thank you for your consideration of

          6  our views.

          7

          8  Testimony of:

          9  Ned Daly

         10  Forest Policy Director

         11  Consumer's Choice Council

         12

         13                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         14  testify before this Committee.

         15                 My name is Ned Daly and I am the

         16  Forest Policy Director with the Consumer's Choice

         17  Council.  The Council is a coalition of 65

         18  environmental, labor, human rights organizations and

         19  businesses concerned with developing consumer

         20  information and product certification and labeling.

         21  Council Clerk Cherry works on a number of

         22  commodities including organic food, shade- grown

         23  coffee, sustainably managed fish, child- labor free

         24  textiles and of course wood products.

         25                 I urge the City Council of New York
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          2  to support Bill #784 and help protect forests,

          3  workers and indigenous communities across the world.

          4                 For hundreds of years, in town

          5  meetings and hearings not that different from this

          6  one, local governments in the United States have

          7  played a critical role in developing some of the

          8  most important social advances for citizens in the

          9  U.S. And of the world.  It started in 1767 when the

         10  Boston Meeting and the Massachusetts Legislature

         11  supported a boycott of British goods, among them

         12  tea, and urged other colonial assemblies to join.

         13  More recently, local government  was the main

         14  catalyst in the campaign for prevailing wage

         15  standards, to end apartheid in South Africa, to

         16  require recycled content in paper and other products

         17  and a host of other necessary social developments.

         18  Once again local government is leading the charge,

         19  this time to protect forests, workers and indigenous

         20  communities.

         21                 Bill No. 784, like recent anti-

         22  sweatshop initiatives, uses markets, and the role

         23  large consumers play in them, to promote products

         24  and values that benefit our society. This selective

         25  purchasing legislation would allow New York City to
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          2  protect and promote forest conservation and good

          3  labor practices throughout the world.

          4                 Increasingly, regulations meant to

          5  protect jobs, health and the environment are viewed

          6  as "non- tariff barriers to trade."  Consumers are

          7  losing temperature filters that traditionally kept

          8  out the most egregiously produced products.  The

          9  consumer, institutionalized or individual, becomes

         10  more responsible and hence more culpable for

         11  consumption of unsustainable products. Through its

         12  procurement, New York City can either be part of the

         13  problem by continuing to buy unsustainable wood

         14  products, or part of the solution by ensuring

         15  environmental and labor standards are respected in

         16  the production of the timber products it procures.

         17                 The social and environmental problems

         18  associated with unsustainable timber harvesting are

         19  far- reaching and varied. Child and forced labor,

         20  illegal logging, abuse of indigenous land rights,

         21  ecosystem destruction, and unsafe working conditions

         22  are not uncommon in timber harvesting throughout the

         23  world.

         24                 Of course, many timber companies

         25  operate in a socially and environmentally
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          2  sustainable manner.  The difficulty for consumers

          3  has been how to distinguish the good from the bad.

          4  Consumers can now look for products certified as

          5  sustainably produced by the Forest Stewardship

          6  Council (FSC).  The FSC is a non- profit,

          7  independent, third- party certification body whose

          8  goal is to promote environmentally responsible,

          9  socially beneficial, and economically viable

         10  management of the World's forests, by establishing

         11  an international standard of recognized and

         12  respected Principles of Forest Stewardship.  The FSC

         13  is the most recognized standard for wood products

         14  worldwide, and is now being used by companies like

         15  Home Depot and Anderson Windows to green their

         16  supply chains.

         17                 The FSC is structure in a similar

         18  fashion to the International Labor Organization

         19  (ILO) in that it is based on a tripartite structure

         20  bringing together members of the forest products

         21  industry (the FSC's economic chamber), environmental

         22  concerns (environmental chamber) and indigenous and

         23  labor organizations (social chamber).  Also similar

         24  to the ILO, the FSC's Principles and Criteria should

         25  be used in conjunction with national and
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          2  international laws and regulations.  The FSC intends

          3  to complement, not supplant, other initiatives that

          4  support responsible forest management worldwide.

          5                 The guiding document of the FSC is

          6  its Principles and Criteria.  Principle #4:

          7  Community Relations and Worker's Rights is the

          8  section most relevant to labor issues.  It reads as

          9  follow:

         10                 Forest management operations shall

         11  maintain or enhance the long- term social and

         12  economic well- being of forest workers and local

         13  communities.

         14                 The communities within, or adjacent

         15  to, the forest management area should be given

         16  opportunities for employment, training and other

         17  services.

         18                 Forest management should meet or

         19  exceed all applicable laws and/or regulations

         20  covering health and safety of employees and their

         21  families.

         22                 The rights of workers to organize and

         23  voluntarily negotiate with their employers shall be

         24  guaranteed as outlined in Conventions 87 and 98 of

         25  the International Labor Organization (ILO).

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            232

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2                 Management planning and operations

          3  shall incorporate the results of evaluations of

          4  social impact.  Consultations shall be maintained

          5  with peoples and groups directly effected by the

          6  management operations.

          7                 Appropriate mechanisms shall be

          8  employed for resolving grievances and for providing

          9  fair compensation in the case of loss or damage

         10  affecting the legal or customary rights, property,

         11  resources or livelihoods of local peoples.  Measures

         12  shall be taken to avoid such loss or damage.

         13                 While Principle #4 deals specifically

         14  with workers' rights, many of the other principles

         15  support long- term sustainable jobs in the forestry

         16  sector.

         17                 The International Federation of

         18  Builders and Woodworkers (IFBWW) has taken the lead

         19  in educating labor unions about forest certification

         20  and the importance of sustainable harvesting for

         21  sustainable jobs.  Unions are actively involved in

         22  the governance of the FSC.  Gisbert Schlemmer of the

         23  German Union IG Metallic, sits on the FSC

         24  International's board of directors (treasurer).  The

         25  IFBWW, representing workers in many sectors of the
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          2  wood products industry, sees certification as a

          3  useful and important tool for its members.  In its

          4  words:

          5                  "Forest certification is a tool that

          6  workers can use to improve working conditions and

          7  ensure the sustainable use of resources so that

          8  there are jobs into the future...Although

          9  certification should never be seen as a substitute

         10  for collective agreements at the company level, it

         11  can provide broad enforceable protection for

         12  workers.  Once a company has committed to the

         13  standards provided in its certification certificate,

         14  failure to meet the commitments results in a

         15  penalty.  Workers can report violations and use the

         16  certification process to ensure these violations are

         17  corrected."

         18                 The wood products industry is truly

         19  global and sources wood products, form plywood to

         20  furniture, from a wide range of species, countries

         21  and labor sources.   These include Burmese teak,

         22  associated with child and slave labor, and Brazilian

         23  Mahogany, 90 percent of which, by most estimates, is

         24  logged illegally (the wood is often laundered

         25  through other countries to avoid endangered species
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          2  prosecution).  Presently, New York City and other

          3  consumers are promoting the worst practices in the

          4  industry by ignoring and thereby condoning the

          5  negative impacts on labor and the environment caused

          6  by unsustainably produced timber. Certification by

          7  the FSC allows consumers to use their buying power

          8  to promote better management of the world's forests

          9  and better working conditions for timber workers

         10  across the globe.

         11

         12  Testimony of:

         13  Tim Keating

         14  Director of Rainforest Relief, Brooklyn, NY

         15

         16                 Dear Council Member:

         17                 At the dawn of a new century we find

         18  that Earth is in the midst of the most recent of six

         19  great Mass Extinctions. This one is caused by human

         20  civilization.  Today we are causing species to

         21  become extinction even more rapidly than occurred

         22  when the dinosaurs and 95 percent of the rest of

         23  life on Earth went extinction after an asteroid

         24  struck our planted 65 million years ago.

         25                 The loss of tropical forests,
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          2  especially rainforests, is driving to extinction an

          3  estimate 380 species each and every day.

          4                 Some regions of tropical forests have

          5  existed in roughly their current state since then,

          6  that is, evolution has had its way in these places

          7  for 65 million years.

          8                 In the last millennium, civilization

          9  has eliminated 50 percent of tropical forests that

         10  existed 1,000 years ago.  But this is misleading, as

         11  50 percent of that destruction has occurred in the

         12  last 150 years, and 50 percent of that in the last

         13  25 alone.

         14                 According to numerous reports,

         15  including the recent Bad Harvest commissioned by the

         16  World Wildlife Fund, the single greatest cause of

         17  the loss of the world's forests is logging.

         18                 Depending on the region of the

         19  tropics, logging is either the greatest direct cause

         20  of forest loss, such as in Southeast Asia, or the

         21  greatest factor precipitating complete

         22  deforestation, such as in South and Central America.

         23    The United Nations Food and Agriculture

         24  Organization has estimated that 70 percent of

         25  tropical deforestation due to clearing for
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          2  agriculture is precipitated by the presence of roads

          3  built by loggers and miners.

          4                 Selective predatory logging, that is,

          5  loggers hunting down only high- value species, does

          6  a great deal of direct damage, but is not included

          7  in the UNFAO definition of deforestation.

          8                 But up to 50 percent of the trees can

          9  be damaged, eliminating up to half the forest

         10  canopy.  While this may not show up on satellite

         11  images as forest loss, it is highly destructive

         12  nonetheless.  Scientists ground- truthing satellite

         13  images found that numbers of tropical deforestation

         14  should be doubled in areas where selective logging

         15  and consequent burning is occurring.  That includes

         16  most of the world's tropical forests.

         17                 As far as New York City's use of

         18  tropical hardwoods, we estimate that the City is the

         19  largest end- user of these woods in North America.

         20  But worse than that, the high- quality and long

         21  lengths ordered for boardwalks and bridge decking

         22  multiply the damage 20- fold.

         23                 We have estimated that as little as

         24  four and a half board feet of an entire ipe tree

         25  will meet the Parks Department's specifications for
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          2  boardwalk planks.  Ordering 20- foot- long lengths

          3  of four- side, clear 2x4s, that is, no knots or

          4  defects on all four sides for the entire length of

          5  the 20- foot- long boards, means that only a tiny

          6  fraction of the 100- foot tall tree will meet that

          7  requirement.

          8                 And since ipe, like all the trees of

          9  the Brazilian Amazon, only occurs in densities of

         10  one or two trees per acre, up to half an acre is

         11  damaged to get at those few trees, and vast areas

         12  must be logged to meet the order.

         13                 In Brazil, the vast majority of

         14  logging, an estimated 80, 90 percent, is done

         15  illegally, outside the bounds of the Brazilian

         16  Environment Agency, IBAMA's ability to enforce, as

         17  reported by Greenpeace, Friends of the Earth, and

         18  even according to the Brazilian intelligence agency

         19  and IBAMA itself.

         20                 According to Friends of the Earth and

         21  even the Wood Exporters Association of Para, ipe is

         22  one of the species targeted by illegal loggers, due

         23  to its growing demand in the US and Europe for

         24  waterfront construction and decking.

         25                 In Indonesia, illegal logging is
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          2  estimated at 70 percent of the export by Friends of

          3  the Earth, Environmental Investigation Agency and

          4  even the Indonesian government.  Finally, after

          5  years of opposition from forest dwellers, local

          6  people, NGOs and even the World Bank, the government

          7  just banned the export of endangered ramin, from

          8  which most of our hardwood dowels and tool handles

          9  and a large percentage of imported picture frames

         10  are made. But the ramin will continue to flow out of

         11  the ports of Indonesia due to the lack of

         12  enforcement by the responsible agencies.

         13                 In Africa, from where MTA gets subway

         14  track ties, loggers pay locals to illegally hunt

         15  bushmeat including chimpanzees and gorillas, to feed

         16  logging crews, and provide transport of bushmeat to

         17  the cities on logging trucks.

         18                 Cameroon, Ghana, Guyana, Gabon,

         19  Malaysia, Philippines, the story is the same

         20  wherever there is tropical wood in high demand to be

         21  had, violence against and intimidation of forest-

         22  dwelling and local peoples, disregard of local and

         23  national laws, over harvest, destruction of

         24  peripheral areas, graft, bribery, bulldozing and

         25  illegal hunting of wildlife.
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          2                 Council members, forest stakeholders

          3  have endured enough.  Those of us working to protect

          4  the last of these dwindling treasures have been told

          5  to put our faith in the exporting countries'

          6  governments, but the forests have continued to

          7  disappear.  Today, illegal logging in the tropics

          8  outstrips legal logging.

          9                 For the last 10 years, we have been

         10  told to put our faith in corporations and their

         11  associations, such as the International Timber Trade

         12  Organization.  But illegal logging has only

         13  increased and the loss of forests had accelerated.

         14                 It is time to put our faith in

         15  someone else.

         16                 It is now, as it has always been, up

         17  to the buyers and users of forest products.

         18                 With help from independent experts

         19  such as the FSC and the threat of loss of markets

         20  generated by environmental groups such as

         21  Greenpeace, Friends of the Earth, Rainforest Action

         22  Network, Rainforest Relief and others, it's now up

         23  to us, the consumers.

         24                 We are not asking that you cut

         25  business ties with these countries or even that you
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          2  publicly admonish them, but simply that you stop the

          3  City's purchase of the products of these mostly

          4  illegal, entirely destructive and human- right-

          5  abusive activities.

          6                 Today, we ask that you vote to limit

          7  the use of tropical woods to only those that carry

          8  independent certification accredited by the Forest

          9  Stewardship Council or equivalent organization.

         10                 The forests and those who depend on

         11  them have waited long enough.

         12

         13  Testimony of:

         14  Donnatal De Costanzo

         15  Vice- Chairperson

         16  Sierra Club Good Wood Volunteer Committee

         17  Sierra Club

         18

         19                 As a citizen of New York City who

         20  grew up here, attended school here, and who

         21  continues to make this city my home, it side

         22  extremely important to me that the City Council pass

         23  Intro. No. 784.  In a city that may typically seem

         24  far removed from many of the efforts to protect

         25  wilderness areas, with the passage of this bill it
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          2  will be possible to help stem the loss of the

          3  world's forests from our own urban backyard.  As a

          4  member of the Sierra Club Good Wood Volunteer

          5  Committee, one of the many activities in which I

          6  have taken part over the past year is tabling in

          7  various City parks on weekends, in order to obtain

          8  signature of support for this legislation.  During

          9  these tabling sessions, every person with whom I

         10  spoke was greatly surprised and consequently gravely

         11  concerned about New York City's current purchase and

         12  use of wood from forests that are not sustainably

         13  managed.   As with myself, these New Yorkers were

         14  not only troubled by the environmental degradation

         15  caused by unsustainable forestry, but also by the

         16  detrimental consequences suffered by indigenous

         17  peoples and forest communities as a result of

         18  unsound forest practices.

         19                 The New York City Council, by passing

         20  Intro. No.   784 and thus promoting the purchase of

         21  Forest Stewardship Council certified wood, will

         22  assure New York City residents that their tax

         23  dollars do not aid in the destruction of the world's

         24  forests and indigenous cultures, but rather help to

         25  protect them.  In fact, one of our local
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          2  universities recently passed a policy that similarly

          3  promotes sustainable forestry, as well as human and

          4  labor rights. On Earth Day of this year, three of

          5  New York University's schools, the Tisch School of

          6  the Arts; the Ehrenkranz School of Social Work, and

          7  the Wagner School of Public Service passed a policy

          8  that would require these schools to favor the

          9  purchase of FSC- certified wood over other wood

         10  products.

         11                 The effectiveness of FSC

         12  certification to secure the rights of indigenous

         13  peoples and local communities has been demonstrated

         14  throughout the world.  Perhaps the most familiar

         15  example of the benefits of FSC certification for

         16  local peoples involves the Sami, the indigenous

         17  peoples of Northern Scandinavia. Approximately 3,000

         18  of the Sami people living in Sweden rely on reindeer

         19  herding as their livelihood.  The Swedish FSC

         20  standards actually incorporate principles that

         21  specifically address the traditional winter grazing

         22  rights of the Sami.  FSC certified forests in Sweden

         23  are required to consult with the Sami prior to

         24  making forestry plans; to provide access to lichens,

         25  food sources for the Sami's reindeer; and, to
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          2  consider and respect places identified as being of

          3  special cultural, ecological, economic or religious

          4  importance to the Sami people, such as migration

          5  paths and reindeer calving areas.

          6                 Indigenous peoples and local

          7  communities have also benefitted from obtaining FSC

          8  certification for their own forest enterprises.

          9  Such certifications have brought about a heightened

         10  awareness of tenure an user rights of local and

         11  indigenous peoples and have furthered the

         12  recognition of local people as competent managers of

         13  their forest resources.  FSC certification

         14  assessments have also helped these communities to

         15  increase their efficiency through the analysis of

         16  their administrative and management systems, as well

         17  as to obtain publicity and recognition for their

         18  forest management approaches.

         19                 The Pictou Landing First Nation was

         20  the first Native group to receive FSC certification

         21  in Canada.   The group currently year receives a

         22  multitude of benefits from their forest, including

         23  increased economic opportunities, such as employment

         24  and training, income from stumpage, and a source of

         25  materials for crafts.  Other indigenous groups that
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          2  have been certified include the Hoopa Valley Tribe

          3  in California, the Menominee National in Wisconsin,

          4  and the Chiquitano Indians of Bolivia, who own and

          5  manage the Lomerio Community Forest Management

          6  Project.  In Lomerio, FSC certification has helped

          7  to strengthen the social and institutionalized

          8  relations between the forest communities, their

          9  communal organization, and supporting agencies.

         10                 Please pass Intro. No. 784 and help

         11  make New York City a model for environmental

         12  stewardship and the protection of the rights of

         13  indigenous and local communities in our country and

         14  throughout the world.  Many people look to New York

         15  City as a leader in many areas.  It would further

         16  our City's great legacy if it were also known as a

         17  leader in environmental protection.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 Sincerely,

         20                 Donna De` Constanzo

         21                 Vice Chairperson, Sierra Club Good

         22  Wood Volunteer Committee.

         23

         24  Testimony of:

         25  Tensie Whelan
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          2  Executive Director

          3  Rainforest Alliance

          4                 The Rainforest Alliance, an

          5  international non- profit organization, works to

          6  protect endangered ecosystems (and the people,

          7  wildlife, and plants that live within them) by

          8  transforming land use, business practices, and

          9  consumer behavior.  We realize this mission by

         10  designing and implementing environmentally and

         11  socially responsible management practices for

         12  natural resource based activities such as logging,

         13  farming, and tourism.  Our SmartWood program,

         14  responsible for the certification of 700,000 acres

         15  of New York State Public Forest Lands, certifies

         16  forestry operations that meet the international

         17  environmental standards of the Forest Stewardship

         18  Council (FSC).

         19                 The Rainforest Alliance is writing

         20  this letter in support of the Selective Wood

         21  Procurement Legislation, Bill # 784. This bill will

         22  help to maintain long- term forest productivity,

         23  protect bio- diversity, and establish New York City

         24  as a national leader in instituting responsible

         25  business practices.
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          2                 While we support this legislation in

          3  general, we believe there are two changes that are

          4  necessary for our continued support:

          5                 1.  "Sustainably managed forest

          6  products," defined as FSC- certified wood products,

          7  needs to be included in the definition of

          8   "Environmentally preferable building material,"

          9  (proposed 6- 124.a.(6)).  This is essential if NYC

         10  is to maximize and encourage the procurement of FSC

         11  certified wood.

         12                 2.  The language of proposed 6-

         13  124.c. "No contracting agency shall purchase or

         14  enter into a contract that requires the use of a

         15  wood product unless a forest certifier represents by

         16  certification that the wood purchase originates from

         17  a responsibly managed forest" need to be further

         18  clarified and secured as binding language.

         19                 As an independent third party

         20  certification organization, we wish to express the

         21  importance of certification as a concrete solution

         22  to non- sustainable land use practices.  Third party

         23  certification is increasingly seen as the most

         24  credible way to communicate to the public that

         25  forests are being well manages and ensure that the
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          2  wood products we are purchasing have been grown and

          3  harvested sustainably.  Both of these changes would

          4  ensure the procurement of certified wood products

          5  when possible.

          6                 In supporting this legislation, New

          7  York City is working to ensure environmental and

          8  labor standards, and helping to solidify the belief

          9  that effective business can incorporate conservation

         10  measures.  Making the connection that all New

         11  Yorkers have a role to play in supporting

         12  sustainable communities worldwide is commendable.

         13  For this, we applaud New York City and support this

         14  legislation.

         15                 Sincerely,

         16                 Tensie Whelan

         17                 Executive Director, Rainforest

         18  Alliance

         19

         20  Testimony of:

         21  Lise Lachapelle

         22  President, CEO

         23  Foreskin Products Association of Canada

         24

         25  Tom Tevlin
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          2  President

          3  Forest Alliance of British Columbia

          4

          5  Catherine Lalonde

          6  President, CEO

          7  Canadian Wood Council

          8

          9                 On behalf of our members, we are

         10  writing in response to your plans to implement a

         11  policy to support ecological forestry practices in

         12  relation to New York City's future procurement of

         13  wood products.  While the implementation of these

         14  types of policies can contribute to environmental

         15  improvements that can make a valuable contribution

         16  to the achievement of sustainable development, if

         17  too narrowly defined, they can also have a

         18  discriminatory effect and limit choice in the

         19  marketplace  To ensure that this is not the case,

         20  such policies should be voluntary and be inclusive

         21  as opposed to exclusive to avoid unnecessary

         22  discrimination and the establishment of monopolies

         23  which could severely limit the City's access to

         24  products.

         25                 We applaud the New York City

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            249

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  Council's initiative to ensure that the wood

          3  products it purchases come from sustainably managed

          4  forests.  Canada is a forest nation, which is

          5  committed to the principles of sustainable forest

          6  management.  Canada is also an export nation,

          7  supplying 34 percent of the construction wood

          8  product requirements of the United States.  Due to

          9  the fact that the public owns over 90 percent of

         10  Canada's forest lands, Canadian forest products

         11  companies must operate within a strict set of

         12  provincial regulations in Canada having the most

         13  protected forests as a national in the world

         14  (source: World Resources Institute Data Tables 2000-

         15  2001).

         16                 After reviewing your proposed wood

         17  products procurement policy we have some

         18  recommendations to submit for addition.

         19                 1.  On the use of terminology to

         20  define ecological forestry practices, we recommend

         21  that you use only the principles and practices of

         22  sustainable forest management that have been agreed

         23  to internationally and nationally. During our

         24  testimony before Council, we will provide copies of

         25  a recent academic paper which indicates that many
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          2  existing forest definitions, such as "endangered

          3  forest," lack scientific validity.

          4                 2.  On the definition of forest

          5  certification systems, we recommend that you

          6  recognize the full range of options that are

          7  available for use globally.  Compiling a list of all

          8  the forest certification options currently available

          9  in an appendix to your legislation could do this.

         10  Many leading organization, both public and private

         11  are developing procurement policies that give

         12  preference to a wide range of forest certification

         13  standards so as to ensure both quality and the

         14  availability of product.  For purchasers of forest

         15  products, certification provides third party

         16  verification that such products are from sustainably

         17  managed forests.  There are currently four types of

         18  internationally recognized forest certification

         19  being used in Canada, including: The Canadian

         20  Standards Association (CSA); the Forest Stewardship

         21  Council; ISO 14001, and; the American based

         22  Sustainable Forestry Initiative programs.  As a

         23  result, Canada now has the largest amount of

         24  certified land of any country in the world.

         25                 3.  On the definition of
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          2  environmentally preferable products, we recommend

          3  that this consideration be made using life cycle

          4  based thinking, including the practice of life cycle

          5  assessment.  Life cycle assessment is a method used

          6  to compare the environmental effect of different

          7  building materials and considers those effect over

          8  the life of the material including extraction,

          9  manufacturing, construction, and recycling or

         10  disposal at the end of the useful life of the

         11  material.  This would ensure that the City's

         12  procurement policy would not exclude resource

         13  efficient engineered wood products that use small

         14  dimension or fast growing species.  We recommend

         15  that the City include a statement to give preference

         16  to engineered wood products such as finger- jointed

         17  lumber, I joist, and glued laminated lumber.  A

         18  global statement referencing engineered wood

         19  products would be preferable to attempting to list

         20  them as the technology and product development is

         21  expanding to provide more choices.

         22                 With the addition of the principles

         23  outlined above, we believe your proposed procurement

         24  policy for wood product will have the strength and

         25  flexibility necessary to make it a practical and
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          2  effective initiative.

          3                 Our organizations are prepared and

          4  welcome the opportunity to present additional

          5  information on this subject together before your

          6  Council in New York on May 7, 2001.  We would also

          7  like to invite some sustainable forest management

          8  practices.

          9                 We look forward to your response to

         10  this letter and are committed to helping you

         11  establish a procurement policy that is practical and

         12  effective.

         13                 Sincerely,

         14                 Lise Lachapelle     Tom Tevlin     Catherine

         15  Lalonde

         16                 President, CEO      President      President

         17  , CEO

         18                 Forest Products     Forest         Canadian

         19  Wood

         20                 Association of      Alliance       Council

         21                 Canada              of British

         22                                     Columbia

         23

         24  Testimony of:

         25  Stephen Chenault
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          2  Chairperson

          3  Sierra Club Good Wood Volunteer Committee

          4

          5                 Forests represent some of the most

          6  ecologically important and diverse ecosystems on the

          7  planet.  They are a major reservoir of bio-

          8  diversity, containing at least half of the earth's

          9  animal and plant species.  Forests play an essential

         10  role in local and global ecology, including climate

         11  regulation and stabilization. This important

         12  function is achieved through photosynthesis, which

         13  produces oxygen and store carbon dioxide in plant

         14  tissue, thus counterbalancing global warming.

         15  Forests also purify water, protect watersheds and

         16  supplies of drinking water, and provide flood

         17  control and drought prevention.  In addition,

         18  forests conserve topsoil, buffer storm impacts, and

         19  sustain fisheries. These ecosystems are also

         20  important as both the home and resource base for

         21  indigenous peoples and local communities, providing

         22  food, fibers, medicines, and other necessities for

         23  their continued survival, cultural integrity, and

         24  well- being.

         25                 Despite the ecological importance,
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          2  beauty, and immense value to humanity of forests,

          3  according to the World Resources Institute, the

          4  earth loses 33.8 million acres of tropical forest

          5  per year.  About half of the world's temperate and

          6  tropical rainforests have been lost.  In addition to

          7  leading to the loss of countless species of plants

          8  and animals, deforestation disrupts local and global

          9  ecological processes and destroys the way of life

         10  and cultures of traditional peoples, including

         11  centuries of accumulated knowledge of the medicinal

         12  value and other uses of rainforest species.

         13                 I would like to urge the New York

         14  City Council to promote sustainable forestry

         15  according to the guidelines set by the Forest

         16  Stewardship Council (FSC).  There guidelines protect

         17  ecological values of forests, as well as the rights

         18  of indigenous peoples, local communities and forest

         19  workers, whereas unsustainable logging often

         20  violates ecological protection and human rights.

         21                 Unsustainable logging practices in

         22  most areas continue to endanger indigenous

         23  communities throughout the world. Indigenous peoples

         24  are often displaced from their land by unsustainable

         25  logging and subsequent development.  For example,
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          2  forest dwelling people of Africa, such as the Mbuti

          3  and Aka, are losing their land and culture due to

          4  unsustainable logging. Because of deforestation and

          5  associated developments, many of these people are

          6  unable to continue their traditional way of life.

          7  Often forced to live in sedentary settlements,

          8  inadequate nutrition and disease are common

          9  problems.  Unsustainable logging is often carried

         10  out illegally in tropical countries, violating the

         11  rights of local communities.  In addition, although

         12  unsustainable logging operations sometimes provide

         13  employment opportunities, these jobs tend to be low-

         14  paid, short- term and dangerous, while labor,

         15  health, and safety standards are often weak or

         16  unenforced.  In Burma, forced, coerced, or slave

         17  labor for logging by the Burmese military is well

         18  documented.  The ecological destruction that

         19  typically accompanies unsustainable logging is

         20  particularly devastating to local communities and

         21  indigenous peoples who rely on the forests for their

         22  survival.  Unsustainable logging seriously increases

         23  soil erosion, compromising rivers and the viability

         24  of fish stocks, and important food source.  In

         25  Malaysia, a Sarawak Government study showed that in
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          2  recently unsustainably logged areas, there is a

          3  threefold increase in serious malnutrition in native

          4  communities, while a study of nutrition among

          5  indigenous peoples in the Brazilian Amazon has

          6  revealed the highest rates of malnutrition in areas

          7  invaded by loggers.  Unsustainable logging may also

          8  result in new inequalities, a migration to urban

          9  areas, and the undermining of customary laws, social

         10  support networks, and systems of land management.

         11                 The FSC offers a solution to these

         12  problems through the promotion of sustainable

         13  forestry that protects ecological values and

         14  promotes human rights and sustainable economies.

         15  The New York City government, by promoting the

         16  purchase of FSC certified wood, will be assured that

         17  their wood purchasing is not supporting the

         18  egregious ecological and human rights abuses cited

         19  above.  The FSC's Principles and Criteria affirm the

         20  principles of "the right to be free from ecological

         21  destruction," the demand that "public policy be

         22  based on mutual respect and justice for all

         23  peoples," and "the right to ethical, balanced and

         24  responsible uses of land and renewable resources in

         25  the interest of a sustainable planet for humans and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            257

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  other living things."  Among other things, these FSC

          3  Principles and Criteria: Specifically address the

          4  protection of tenure rights; require consultation

          5  with local and indigenous communities; provide for

          6  compensation for the application of indigenous

          7  peoples' traditional knowledge regarding the use of

          8  forest species or management systems in forest

          9  operations; recognize and protect sites of special

         10  cultural, ecological, economic or religious

         11  significance to indigenous peoples; ensure that the

         12  communities within, or adjacent to, the forest

         13  management area be given opportunities for

         14  employment, training, and other services; and,

         15  require that forest management meets or exceeds all

         16  applicable laws and/or regulations covering health

         17  and safety of employees and their families.  The FSC

         18  is the only certification system that incorporates

         19  these social criteria.

         20                 I urge the New York City Council's

         21  Contracts Committee and the Council as a whole to

         22  pass Intro. No. 784 so that citizens of New York can

         23  be sure that their government is supporting

         24  sustainable forestry, environmental protection, as

         25  well as the protection of the rights of forest
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          2  communities, indigenous people, and forest workers.

          3                 Thank you.

          4

          5  Testimony of:

          6  Denis Briere

          7  Dean, Faculty of Forestry and Geomatics

          8  Laval University, Quebec, Canada

          9

         10                 Today I am speaking as the Dean of

         11  Forestry and Geomatics at Laval University in Quebec

         12  City.  I am a professional forester with a wide

         13  range of experience, for example as a director of

         14  the Forest Engineering Research Institute of Canada,

         15  I was concerned with ensuring scientific rigueur and

         16  accurate reporting in forest matters.  As President

         17  and Chief Operating Officer of Kruger Forest

         18  Products, Inc., I am keenly aware of the highly

         19  regulated environment in which a Canadian forest

         20  company must operate.

         21                 I appreciate this opportunity to talk

         22  to you about Canadian forestry and sustainable

         23  forest management as you consider the proposed

         24  legislation for a wood products procurement policy.

         25                 It is important that such legislation
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          2  be founded on sound information and science,

          3  including information on a range of issues such as:

          4                 What are sustainably managed forests?

          5                 What is the status of sustainable

          6  forest management in Canada?

          7                 What are endangered forests?

          8                 Canada's forests dominated our

          9  landscape and are a defining feature of our history,

         10  culture, environment, and economy. Canadians have

         11  come to realize that human activity in the forest

         12  must be respectfully of the natural ecosystem.  In

         13  recent decades, this realization has led Canadians

         14  to formulate sustainable forest management (SFM)

         15  strategies and policies, to engage in leading- edge

         16  scientific research in support of SFM, and to adopt

         17  both regulatory and voluntary measures to better

         18  conserve and use our forests.

         19                 Canada is internationally recognized

         20  for its forest science expertise, resident in

         21  universities and in agencies like the Canadian

         22  Forest Service which focuses on leading- edge forest

         23  science research, with over 400 scientists and five

         24  research centers across the country.

         25                 My own institution, Laval University,
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          2  is one of the oldest and most important forestry

          3  schools in Canada, known across Canada and

          4  internationally for its expertise.

          5                 Ninety- four percent of forest land

          6  in Canada is publicly owned and regulated to protect

          7  the environment.

          8                 Canada has over 10 percent of the

          9  world's forests, about 1 billion acres, featuring

         10  very diverse/rich ecological conditions, so Canada

         11  is highly conscious of the need to manage forest

         12  resources responsibly.

         13                 About 80 percent of the harvested is

         14  from public lands.

         15                 Public ownership historically has had

         16  a vital role in the development of our forest

         17  policies.  In recent years, there has increasingly

         18  been a great deal of public participation in forest

         19  management decisions in Canada.

         20                 Because of the extent of public

         21  ownership of our forests, sustainable forest

         22  management (SFM) across Canada is primarily defined

         23  and implemented through forest policies, laws and

         24  regulations.

         25                 Canadian companies are required to
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          2  operate in this highly advanced sustainable forest

          3  management framework which comprises principles and

          4  practices such as:

          5                 Consideration of and planning for

          6  multiple uses and values; and,

          7                 Setting an annual allowable cut (AAC)

          8  based on the sustainable growth rate of the forest,

          9  using SFM principles.

         10                 The annual area harvested in Canada

         11  average 2.5 million acres.

         12                 Only 0.4 percent of commercial

         13  forests are harvested each year, some 75 to 80

         14  percent of the annual allowable cut.

         15                 All harvested areas are reforested or

         16  naturally regenerated, all water bodies are

         17  protected, and bio- diversity maintained.

         18                 Fifty percent of Canada's forests,

         19  more than 500 million acres, will, in all

         20  probability, never be harvested.

         21                 This sustainable forest management

         22  framework has been achieved through a broad set of

         23  policies, regulations and programs that have been

         24  developed and that are reviewed periodically through

         25  a comprehensive, open and transparent process.
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          2                 Sustainable forest management

          3  principles are entrenched in provincial legislation

          4  under the Canadian Constitution the provinces have

          5  responsibility for forest management. (To date, this

          6  responsibility has also been devolved by the federal

          7  government to two of the three territories.)

          8                 Foresters and industry follow strict

          9  codes of practice.

         10                 Canadians are into their fourth

         11  National Forest Strategy (1998- 2003), called

         12   "Sustainable Forests: A Canadian Commitment."  The

         13  strategy comprises nine strategic directions and

         14  their principles, which put forth 121 action

         15  commitments.

         16                 The second Canada Forest Accord has

         17  been signed by some 53 governments and non-

         18  government groups, including federal, provincial,

         19  and territorial governments, and industry, private

         20  woodlot, Municipal, Aboriginal, academic, model

         21  forest, and environmental non- governmental

         22  organization representatives. This cross-

         23  representation of the Canadian forest community is

         24  committed to working co- operatively to address the

         25  collective goal of sustainable forests nationwide.
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          2  (Information on the strategy, the accord and

          3  accomplishments across Canada can be found at the

          4  following Internet address http://nfsc. Forest.ca.)

          5                 The Canadian council of Forest

          6  Ministers' Criteria and Indicators framework of

          7  sustainable forest management helps define

          8  sustainability, focus activity and measure and

          9  report on sustainable forest management.

         10  (information on Criteria and Indicators can be found

         11  at http://www.ccfm.org).

         12                 In addition to these national

         13  processes for sustainable forest management, Canada

         14  participates in several international processes for

         15  sustainable forest management, such as the United

         16  Nations Conference on Environment and Development

         17  and its successor the Intergovernmental Forum on

         18  Forests, and the Montreal Process on Criteria and

         19  Indicators.  The Montreal Process involves 12

         20  countries including the United States.

         21                 In recent decades the Canadian forest

         22  community has sought to balance the multiple social,

         23  environmental and economic demands and concerns of

         24  the broad spectrum of forest users.  There continues

         25  to be a constant evolution of forest management
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          2  policies and practices toward our goal of

          3  incorporating recreational, social, cultural,

          4  wildlife and economic values into forest management

          5  planning and decision- making

          6                 I have described the highly regulated

          7  environment in which Canadian companies operate.

          8  They are also devoting a large effort to providing

          9  customers with additional information documenting

         10  their responsible forest stewardship, including

         11  certification in response to market demand.

         12                 As of April 2001, more than 37

         13  percent of Canada's managed forests, or 110 million

         14  acres, were certified under one or more of the four

         15  certification systems available in Canada.  The

         16  systems are those of the Forest Stewardship Council,

         17  Canadian Standards Association, International

         18  Standards Organization, and the Sustainable Forestry

         19  Initiative.

         20                 About 75 percent of Canada's

         21  commercial/managed forest land is expected to be

         22  certified by the end of 2003.

         23                 Canadian governments and forest

         24  professionals support certification insofar as it

         25  promotes the principles of sustainable forest
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          2  management.  However, there are a number of

          3  uncertainties and concerns associated with

          4  certification.

          5                 Because certification is a market-

          6  based tool to promote sustainable forest management,

          7  any approach to recognizing system should either

          8  extend to several or be generic.  Recognition of

          9  certification systems should lay out clear, broad

         10  principles that promote adherence to internationally

         11  and nationally recognized and agreed- to principles

         12  and practices of sustainable forest management.

         13                 Each of the various certification

         14  systems reflects certain ecological, social,

         15  economic, and cultural conditions. Similarity or

         16  equivalency among systems, once established, could

         17  help avoid confusion in the marketplace and avoid

         18  monopolies.

         19                 An approach limited to one

         20  certification system may unnecessarily risk New York

         21  City's procurement feasibility, restricting sources

         22  of supply and increasing procurement costs.

         23                 I note that the drafting legislation

         24  recognizes that some time will be needed for the

         25  market to provide sufficient certified wood; it
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          2  provides for waiver of the requirement for certified

          3  wood products when the supplier is unable to provide

          4  sufficient product to meet a particular contract.

          5                 A less prescriptive approach would

          6  reduce the need for such a waiver, particularly

          7  given the absence of Forest Stewardship Council

          8  (FSC) standards in many areas of North America and

          9  the lack of guidance in the proposed legislation

         10  regarding "similar organizations" to the FSC.

         11                 The prescriptive approach currently

         12  before the New York City Council may also reduce

         13  economic incentives for good forest management,

         14  particularly in poorer countries, and may

         15  inadvertently promote less environmentally friendly

         16  substitutes for wood.

         17                  "Environmentally preferable building

         18  materials" should be defined by life cycle analysis.

         19    We cannot assume the substitution of non- wood

         20  products for wood products is environmentally

         21  preferable.  I encourage you to apply the same

         22  careful scrutiny to these substitutes as

         23  certification and other tools for sustainable forest

         24  management bring to wood products.

         25                 I also note that there is also a lack
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          2  of clarity around some concepts associated with

          3  certification, such as "endangered forests," a term

          4  used in the proposed legislation. This is a concept

          5  which has no internationally accepted definition and

          6  is therefore difficult, if not impossible, to apply

          7  with any precision.

          8                 For all of these reasons, I suggest

          9  that it is important to retain flexibility and

         10  clarity in referencing certification systems while

         11  keeping in mind that they are not the only means to

         12  demonstrate sustainable forest management.

         13                 I hope I have provided you with

         14  useful information. I would be pleased to answer

         15  your questions and to provide additional

         16  information.

         17                 Canada and Canadians have been, and

         18  continue to be, committed to the sustainable

         19  management of their forests.  I can assure you that

         20  Canada is supportive of your efforts to advance the

         21  environmental objectives that we share.

         22                 In September 2003 Canada will host

         23  the XII World Forest Congress in Quebec City, the

         24  home of my academic institution Laval University.

         25  At the time the world will have an opportunity to
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          2  learn more about the commitment of Canadians to the

          3  sustainable management of their forest heritage.  I

          4  invite you to join us for that event and to witness

          5  first- hand our commitment to sustainability.

          6                 Thank you for taking the time to

          7  consider these views.

          8

          9  Testimony of:

         10  Paul Berizzi

         11  Executive Director

         12  Environmental Action Coalition

         13

         14                 Good afternoon, Chairwoman Freed and

         15  members of the Committee, my name is Paul Berizzi.

         16  I am Executive Director of Environmental Action

         17  Coalition, a 31- year- old not- for- profit

         18  education and advocacy organization.  Intro. 784 is

         19  a very positive step in the direction of enacting an

         20  environmentally responsible law with respect to

         21  municipal wood and wood substitute purchases. We

         22  particularly wish to commend Councilman A. Gifford

         23  Miller for shepherding this legislation for a number

         24  of years and the New York City Sierra Club for

         25  championing the measure.
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          2                 We believe it would be stronger if

          3  certain clarifications were included in the forms of

          4  amendments.  These are summarized here:

          5                 Clearly define "environmentally

          6  preferable" to assist those purchasing wood and wood

          7  substitutes in making informed and responsible

          8  choices.

          9                 Add third party certified wood to the

         10   "environmentally preferable" category.

         11                 Make a distinction between relatively

         12  benign recycled plastic and that which has been

         13  determined to be ecologically harmful.

         14                 Make a distinction between relatively

         15  benign bio mass that is generated from genetically

         16  altered plant material.

         17                 Make a distinction between relatively

         18  benign bio mass and that which is generated from

         19  natural land that has been converted to farm- field

         20  for the specific purpose of creating bio mass.

         21                 Make a distinction between relatively

         22  benign pressure- treated wood and that which has

         23  been determined to be ecologically harmful.

         24                 To these ends, we suggest language

         25  along the following lines, with a caveat.  We ask
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          2  that persons expert in the fields of plastics,

          3  toxics, and bio- based products technology review

          4  and amend such language to ensure that Intro. 784 in

          5  its final form will be, in fact, "environmentally

          6  preferable."

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 4:50 p.m.)

          9
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 7th day of May 2001.

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          PAT WTULICH

         25
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          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12
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         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              PAT WTULICH
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